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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwémdking statements within the meaning of the Pev8ecurities Litigation Reform Act
1995. All statements contained in this Annual Repor Form 10K other than statements of historical fact, inchgdstatements regarding our fut
results of operations and financial position, ousibess strategy and plans, and our objectivefufare operations, are forwatdeking statement
The words "believe," "may," "will," "estimate," "atinue," "anticipate," "intend," "expect,” and slami expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. We have based these forteanking statements largely on our current expetatiand projections about future events and ti
that we believe may affect our financial conditioesults of operations, business strategy, shari-gand longterm business operations and objecti
and financial needs. These forwdodking statements are subject to a number of risksertainties and assumptions, including thoseritged in Pa
I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in this Annual Report &orm 10K. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive aapidly changing environment. N
risks emerge from time to time. It is not possifdle our management to predict all risks, nor canassess the impact of all factors on our busine
the extent to which any factor, or combination a€tbrs, may cause actual results to differ matgriadbm those contained in any forwalabking
statements we may make. In light of these riskeettainties and assumptions, the future eventsrands discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10
K may not occur and actual results could differeniatly and adversely from those anticipated orliatpin the forward-looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to revise or publicliease the results of any revision to these forvaolting statements, except as required by
Given these risks and uncertainties, readers attooad not to place undue reliance on such ford@oling statements.

Unless expressly indicated or the context requitesrwise, the terms "Facebook," "company,” "wegs," and "our" in this document refer
Facebook, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and, wheropriate, its wholly owned subsidiaries. ThentéFacebook" may also refer to our prodt
regardless of the manner in which they are accessed




LIMITATIONS OF KEY METRICS

The numbers of our monthly active users (MAUs)|ydactive users (DAUSs), mobile MAUs, and averageeraie per user (ARPU) are calcule
using internal company data based on the actifityser accounts. While these numbers are basechahwe believe to be reasonable estimates ¢
user base for the applicable period of measurentieete are inherent challenges in measuring usageroproducts across large online and mc
populations around the world. For example, therg bmindividuals who maintain one or more Facebactounts in violation of our terms of serv
We estimate, for example, that "duplicate" accogatsaccount that a user maintains in additionisooh her principal account) may have represe
approximately 5.0% of our worldwide MAUs as of Detger 31, 2012. We also seek to identify "false"oacts, which we divide into two categor
(1) user-misclassified accounts, where users heeated personal profiles for a business, orgamizatr nonhuman entity such as a pet (such en
are permitted on Facebook using a Page ratherahsersonal profile under our terms of service); é)dundesirable accounts, which represent
profiles that we determine are intended to be deeghurposes that violate our terms of service hsas spamming. As of December 31, 2012
example, we estimate useiisclassified accounts may have represented appately 1.3% of our worldwide MAUs and undesirabte@unts ma
have represented approximately 0.9% of our worldWwtAUs. We believe the percentage of accountsatetuplicate or false is meaningfully lo\
in developed markets such as the United Stateustrélia and higher in developing markets sucmadsresia and Turkey. However, these estin
are based on an internal review of a limited sangplaccounts and we apply significant judgment iaking this determination, such as identify
names that appear to be fake or other behaviorhgars inauthentic to the reviewers. As suchgstimation of duplicate or false accounts may
accurately represent the actual number of suchusmtsoWe are continually seeking to improve outitghio identify duplicate or false accounts i
estimate the total number of such accounts, and sstimates may change due to improvements or elsangur methodology.

Some of our historical metrics through the secondrigr of 2012 have also been affected by apptication certain mobile devices t
automatically contact our servers for regular upslatith no user action involved, and this activign cause our system to count the user assc
with such a device as an active user on the ddy eoictact occurs. For example, we estimate thatthemn 5%of our estimated worldwide DAUs as
December 31, 2011 and 20ddsulted from this type of automatic mobile actiyiand that this type of activity had a substahtiamaller effect on ot
estimate of worldwide MAUs and mobile MAUs. The iagp of this automatic activity on our metrics vark®y geography because mobile usage \
in different regions of the world. In addition, odaita regarding the geographic location of oursugeestimated based on a number of factors, ss
the user's IP address and self-disclosed locafibese factors may not always accurately reflecudes’'s actual location. For example, a mobilér
user may appear to be accessing Facebook frono¢h#dn of the proxy server that the user conniectather than from the user's actual location.
methodologies used to measure user metrics maybalssusceptible to algorithm or other technicabrstr For example, in early June 201%ve
discovered an error in the algorithm we used torege the geographic location of our users thatca#fd our attribution of certain user locationstfe
period ended March 31, 2012Vhile this issue did not affect our overall wavide MAU number, it did affect our attribution obers to differer
geographic regions. We estimate that the numbbtAdfls as of March 31, 201fdr the United States & Canada region was overstasea result of tl
error by approximately 3%nd these overstatements were offset by understatsnn other regions. Our estimates for revenued®r location ar
revenue by user device are also affected by theers. We regularly review and may adjust our @sses for calculating these metrics to imp
their accuracy. In addition, our MAU and DAU estiemwill differ from estimates published by thirdrpes due to differences in methodology.
example, some third parties are not able to acelyrameasure mobile users or do not count mobilesuke certain user groups or at all in tl
analyses.

The numbers of MAUs, DAUs, and mobile MAUs discubkBethis Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well asFAR do not include users of
Instagram unless such users would otherwise quadifylAUs, DAUs, and mobile MAUSs, respectively, tthea activity that is shared back to
Facebook. In addition, our other user engagemetiasgsuch as friend connections, do not includgdgram unless otherwise specifically stated.




PART |
Item 1. Busines:

Overview
Our mission is to make the world more open and eoted.

Millions of people come to Facebook every day &ty stonnected with their friends and family, to diger what is going on in the world arot
them, and to share and express what matters totthéme people they care about.

Developers can use the Facebook Platform to bpidi@ations (apps) and websites that integrate Witbebook to reach our global networ
users and to build products that are more persmathind social.

Marketers can engage with more than one billiontimgractive users on Facebook or subsets of oursus&sed on information people h
chosen to share with us such as their age, locajemder, or interests. We offer marketers a unaqumebination of reach, relevance, social contexd
engagement to enhance the value of their ads.

We believe that we are at the forefront of enabfigter, easier, and richer communication betwesnple and that Facebook has becorr
integral part of many of our users' daily lives.

2012 Highlights

. We had 1.06 billion monthly active users (MAUWs) of December 31, 2012, an increase of 25% asa@upo 845 milliorMAUS as o
December 31, 2011.

. We had 618 million daily active users (DAUs) awerage in December 2012, an increase of 28% aparech to 483 milliorDAUS in
December 2011.

. We had 680 million MAUs who used Facebook mmipifoducts in December 2012, an increase of 57é6mpared to 432 millioMAUs
who used Facebook mobile products in December 2011.

. There were more than 150 billion friend connectiond=acebook as of December 31, 2

. On average more than 350 milliphotos per day were uploaded to Facebook in thehfa@uarter of 2012. Over 240 billion photos h
been shared on Facebook.

. As of December 31, 2012, there were more than SiibmPages with ten or more Lik
. In August 2012, we acquired Instagram, a plsttaring service with over 100 million registereéns:

. In 2012, we released a number of new FacebookfapiBhone, iPad, and Android devices. These releagere built to improve the spe
and quality of our mobile product offerings.

. In 2012, we introduced features that give marketers ways to reach people who use Facebook. Thekele ads in News Feed on L
desktop and mobile devices and Custom Audiencésatare that allows marketers to find their offlio@stomers among Facebook us
and Facebook Exchange (FBX), a real-time biddeexatiange.

How We Create Value for Users
Our top priority is to build useful and engagin@ghucts that enable you to:

. Connect and Share with Your Friend$Vith more than one billion MAUs worldwide, Facebaagers are increasingly able to find and
connected with their friends, family, and colleagioa Facebook.

. Discover and LearnWe believe that people come to Facebook to discandriearn more about what is going on in the warttlind then
particularly in the lives of their friends and fdynand with public figures and organizations thaerest them. Each person's experienc
Facebook is unigue based on the content sharedsbgr ther friends and connections. This contereissonalized for each user in
products such as News Feed and Timeline.

. Express YourselfWe enable people to share and publish their opiimieas, photos, and activities to audiences ngnigbm their close
friends to our one billion users, giving everyoneoice within the Facebook community. Through Faodds privacy and sharing settir
people can control what they share and with whaey 8hare it.

. Stay Connected EverywherPeople can access Facebook through our websitdlensites, smartphone apps, and feature phone pi®
Through apps and websites built by developers usiag-acebook Platform, people can interact with
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their Facebook friends while playing games, ligtgnio music, watching movies, reading news, anageging in other activities across
web and on mobile devices.

Our product development approach is centered ddibgithe most useful tools that enable peopledtanect, share, discover, and communi
with each other on mobile devices and computers.

Timeline. Timeline allows people to organize and display ¢lients and activities that matter most to thempkmg them to curate the
memories in a searchable personal narrative thatgignized chronologically. People choose whatrinfdion to share on their Timeli
such as their interests, photos, education, watohy, relationship status, and contact informateomd people can control with whom e
piece of content is shared on their Timeline.

News FeedThe Facebook News Feed is the core feature of sopsrhomepage and is a regularly updating ligtafes from friend:
Pages, and other entities to which the personnsexted on Facebook. It includes posts, photos)taymlates, group memberships,
updates, and other activities. Each person’'s Nexesl is personalized based on his or her interestsre sharing activity of his or t
friends. Stories in a user's News Feed are pizedtibased on several factors, including how maieynds have Liked or Commented ¢
certain piece of content, who posted the contertt,vehat type of content it is.

Photos and VideosFacebook is the most popular photo uploading sereit the web. People can upload an unlimited nurobéigh
resolution photos, create photo albums, and st with their friends or any audience they chodigers can also upload and sl
videos. People can set specific privacy settingsefch of their photo albums and videos, makingntivsible to everyone, or only
certain friends. In addition, in 2012, we acquitadtagram, a mobile phone-based phsitafing service, to enhance our photos prc
offerings and to enable users to increase the@l$enf mobile engagement and photo sharing.

MessagesOur messaging products include email, chat, andnessaging. The delivery of messages is optimiaethe device throug
which the person is accessing Facebook. We aire toéfastest and most reliable way for users monsonicate through:

- Email . Users can set up a free @facebook.com ad
- Chat.Users can send messages to their friends in aminstessage form

- Text Messaging Users can activate text messaging on Facebookyiay the texts they exchange with friends to teorporate
into their respective conversations along withitihe@ssage and chat history.

How We Create Value for Developers Through the Fatm®ok Platform

The Facebook Platform is a set of development tants application programming interfaces (APIs) taables developers to easily integ
with Facebook to create social apps and websitdg@reach our more than one billion users. MoenthO million apps and websites were integt
with Facebook as of December 31, 2012. We are &tuwm providing Platform developers with unique anynities to increase their grow
engagement, and monetization, while offering users ways to connect with their friends through d¢isitike games, music, fithess and video apps.

Facebook offers tools and APIs that enable devedojpeincrease growth, engagement and monetization.

Growth. We enable Platform developers to reach our global base and use our distribution channels likedNe@ed and App Center
increase traffic to their apps and websites.

EngagementWe enable Platform developers to create betterymtsdhat are personalized and social and that oée ways for our use
to engage with friends and share experiences aorobge devices and on the web.

Monetization. We provide an online payments infrastructure thetbées Platform developers to receive payments fmamusers in €
easy-touse, secure, and trusted environment. In 2012Ptaiform developers received more than $1.96 bilfram transactions enabl
by our Payments infrastructure.

Key elements of the Facebook Platform include:

Open Graph.Our underlying Platform is a set of APIs that depelrs can use to build apps and websites that eneselrs to share th
activities with friends on Facebook. As Open Grajmnected apps and websites become an importahtopdrow users expre
themselves, activities such as the books peopleeading, the movies people want to watch and tings they are listening to are m
prominently displayed throughout Facebook's Timeelimd News Feed. This enables developer apps dmltesto become a key par
the Facebook experience for users and can incogasgh




and engagement for developers.

Social Plugins.Social plugins, such as the Like button, are sofg@atures that developers can easily integrate thigir websites t
incorporating a few lines of HTML code. Social Rhgyenable developers to provide engaging and palized social experiences to tt
users.

PaymentsFacebook provides an online payments infrastruchateenables developers to receive payments fisersuhrough an efficie
and secure system. Our Payments infrastructurel@nabers on personal computers to purchase vistudigital goods from develops
and thirdparty websites by using debit and credit cards,PRBymobile phone payments, gift cards or otherhods. Currently
substantially all of our Payments revenue is frosers' purchases of virtual goods used in socialegaWe receive a fee of up to 3
when users make such purchases from our Platfouelajgers using our Payments infrastructukéobile applications integrated with ¢
Platform do not utilize our Payments infrastructure

How We Create Value for Marketers

We focus on providing value for all kinds of maret, including brand marketers, direct marketerglsand mediunsized businesses, ¢
developers by offering a unique combination of hgaielevance, social context, and engagement:

Reach.With over one billion MAUs, Facebook offers markstéhe ability to reach a vast consumer audi

Relevance. Marketers can target users on Facebook base@mpogtaphic factors such as age, location, gendecation, work histor
and specific interests that users have chosenaie shith us on Facebook. In addition, marketers otayose to match their own date
third-party data with ours, so they can find treistomers - or those who look like themirectly on Facebook. We believe that users
a better experience when ads are effectively &idl@nd, therefore, more relevant to them.

Social Context. We believe that the recommendations of friendsete powerful influence on consumer interest angtlpase decisior
We offer marketers the ability to include "sociaintext" with their marketing messages. Social cdnig information that highlights
friend's connections with a particular brand oribess.

EngagementWe believe that the shift to a more social web te®aew opportunities for businesses to engage inti¢éhested custome
Many of our ad products offer new and innovativeysvéor our marketers to interact with our userghsas ads that encourage commu
include polls, invite people to an event or helpragiscover and install mobile applications.

Any brand or business can have a presence on Facdlyocreating a Facebook Page. Through Pagesjweebgands the opportunity
form direct and ongoing relationships with theirsting and prospective customers, with the potémigurn them into valuable advoca
When a Facebook user "Likes" a Page, the Page dvaisethe opportunity to publish stories to the gesNews Feed on an ongoing b
We believe that this ongoing connection providesitesses with a significant advantage as compareadvertising on tradition
websites. In addition, businesses can use Pagdsvie awareness, traffic to theircemmerce websites or physical stores, sales
ultimately customer loyalty. We do not charge basses for their Pages, nor do we charge for thetires organic distribution of the
content. However, Page owners can use Facebookoagsich a larger audience or utilize our PromdRedts feature, which enak
businesses to pay a fixed fee to boost the digtobwf posts that they care about to people wheeHaiked" the Page, to gain m¢
prominent distribution.

Facebook offers products and tools that enable etark to leverage our unique combination of reeglryance, social context, and engager

Facebook AdsOur ads, including sponsored stories, offer busieeshe opportunity to direct a user to specifictent, a destination w
page or a Facebook Page if the user clicks ondh®ar ads provide our users with a consistentxgergence and enable marketer
deploy and adjust campaigns rapidly.

Currently, ads can appear in multiple locationsduding in the righthand side of most page types on personal compuatedsin the New
Feed on personal computers and mobile devices.wittissocial context allow marketers to highlighetinteractions of a user's friel
with a brand or product, such as Liking or Comnmantbn the marketer's Facebook Page. Ads with sooiatext respect users' privi
settings and may be shown only to the people Users already shared their activity with on Facebook

Facebook Ad SystemWhen marketers create an ad campaign on Facebuek specify the types of users they want to readed o
information that users chose to share. In additisarketers can use other products such as FBX and

7




Custom Audiences to more precisely target theirrdésaudience. Marketers indicate the maximum pitiey are willing to pay for the
ad, per click (CPC) or per thousand impressiondM{zRnd their maximum budget. Our system also stpmuaranteed delivery of a fix
number of ad impressions for a fixed price. Fac&lsoad serving technology dynamically determineslibst available ad to show e
person based on the combination of the persontpiarattributes and the real-time comparison of iiwts eligible ads.

Ad Analytics and Facebook InsightMarketers can use our analytics platform to tractt eptimize the performance of their campai
Facebook Ad Analytics enable marketers to gaingimtsi into which ads were displayed and clicked Tirese analytics help market
make modifications to their ad campaigns to maxamesults.

For marketers with Facebook Pages, Facebook Issfgbiides timely information about the performané¢heir Page and related po
The data include the number of users who Liked@ohmented on the Page and a metric, "People Taloayt This," which shows hc
many stories about the marketer's brand are beeajed and shared, among other aggregated andraizenlyengagement data.

Our Strategy

We are in the early stages of pursuing our misgiomake the world more open and connected. Weuselie have a significant opportunity
further enhance the value we deliver to users,ldpees, and marketers. Key elements of our stradegy

Expand Our Global User CommunityThere are more than 1.5 billion internet users ersgnal computers, and more than three b
mobile users worldwide according to GSMA Wirelesgelligence, and we aspire to someday connect fathese people. As

December 31, 2012, we had 1.06 billie#A\Us globally with approximately 84% accessing Hamek from outside the United States.
continue to focus on increasing the number of peaing Facebook across all geographies, inclucktegively lesspenetrated, larg
markets such as Brazil, India, Mexico and Japan.ift&nd to increase the size of our network by iowiig our marketing and us
acquisition efforts and enhancing our productduitiog mobile apps, in order to make Facebook nagressible, useful and engaging.

Build Great Social Products to Increase Engagemesmid Provide the Most Compelling User ExperiencWe prioritize produc
development investments that we believe will creatgaging interactions between our users, devedpped marketers. We continue
invest significantly in improving our core produasch as News Feed, Timeline, and Photos, devegjapmw products, and enabling r
Platform apps and website integrations. To protiemost compelling user experience, we continugei@lop products and technolog
focused on optimizing our social distribution chelsnto deliver the most useful content to each bgeanalyzing and organizing v
amounts of information in real time.

Make our Mobile Products Engaging and Easily Avallke. We are devoting substantial resources to developiogile products ar
experiences for a wide range of platforms, inclgdgmartphones and feature phones. In addition, ieewarking across the mok
industry with operators, hardware manufacturergraiing system providers, and developers to imprttree Facebook experience
mobile devices and make Facebook available to meople around the world. We had 680 millistAUs who used Facebook mok
products in December 2012. In August 2012, we aeduinstagram, Inc., which has built a mobile phbased photaharing service th
enables people to increase their levels of mohilgagement and sharing. We believe that mobile us&deacebook is critical to us
growth and engagement over the long term, and ditgly are prioritizing mobile product development.

Enable Developers to Build Great Social Productsitésthe Facebook Platforn. The success of Platform developers and the vilyrai
our Platform ecosystem are part of our strategyndoease user engagement. Social games have adlsgyreficant levels of adoption
people using Facebook, and we are also focusedodking with leading app developers in categorieshsas news, movies, books, fitn
and music. Engagement with our Platform developsgsp's and websites can create value for Faceboakultiple ways: our Platfor
supports our advertising business because appaabbok create engagement that enables us to slgyww Platform developers n
purchase advertising on Facebook to drive traffitheir apps and websites; Platform developerous®ayment infrastructure to facilit
transactions with users on personal computersfoPhatapps share content with Facebook that makepmducts more engaging; ¢
engagement with Platform apps and websites comésbio our understanding of people's interestspaeiérences, improving our ability
personalize content. We continue to invest in t@old APIs that enhance the ability of Platform diepers to deliver products that
more social and personalized and better engagdepenpg-acebook, on mobile devices and across the we

Improve Ad Products for Marketers and UselWe are investing to improve our ad products in pitdeattract more marketers to w:
with Facebook, to create more value for our market@nd to enhance their ability to make their atisiag more relevant for users. (
advertising strategy centers on the belief thapradiucts that are social, relevant, and wmtgrated with other content on Facebook
enhance the user experience while providing aadive return
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for marketers. We intend to invest in additionaddurcts for our marketers, such as ads in News Feeg®rsonal computers and mo
devices, while continuing to balance our monetiratbjectives with our commitment to optimizing theer experience. We will contir
to work to develop new tools such as Custom Audisrtbat help marketers to target their ads most#fkly and thereby increases tl
return on ad spend. We also continue to focus afydos and measurement tools to evaluate, dermadest@nd improve the effectiven
of ad campaigns on Facebook.

. Build a Scalable Infrastructure to Provide the Mo§&ompelling, Robust, and Reliable Product ExperienWe are investing in softwe
and hardware infrastructure that enables us toigeca unique, personalized experience to each oéisers around the world. We beli
the speed and reliability of our products are ingoaircompetitive advantages.

Building and Maintaining User Trust

Trust is a cornerstone of our business. We dedgigteficant resources to the goal of building usast through developing and implemen
programs designed to protect user privacy, proractafe environment, and assure the security of desix. The resources we dedicate to this
include engineers, analysts, lawyers, policy expemd operations specialists, as well as hardaradesoftware from leading vendors and solution
have designed and built.

. Privacy and Sharing.People come to Facebook to connect and share.cBngteuser privacy is an important part of our prd
development process. Our objective is to give uskaice over what they share and with whom theyeshiaThis effort is fundamental
our business and focuses on control, transparamcyaccountability.

- Control. We believe that by providing our users with clead a&asy-taise controls, we will continue to promote trustoiar
products. For example, when a user posts a statietelor uploads a photo to Facebook, odine-controls allow the user to sel
his or her audience at the same time that he ofisspablishing the post. In addition, we providéest data management tor
"Activity Log" is a unified tool that people caneu$o review and manage the content they have pastédhe actions they he
taken on Facebook. When using the Activity Log,sarucan view his or her activity with a particuégp, delete a specific pc
change who can see a photo, or remove an app chypladditionally, our "Download Your Informationtbol enables users
remove or store their personal information off atEbook.

- TransparencyOur Data Use Policy describes in plain languagedata use practices and how privacy works on FadelWe als
offer a number of tools and features that providersi with transparency about their information @cdbook. Our applicati
settings feature enables users to view each ofpps they have chosen to use, the information webgleeach app, and 1
audience with whom the user has chosen to sharertisr interactions with each app. We believe thit transparency enab
people to make more informed decisions about #aivities on Facebook.

- Accountability. We continue to build new procedural safeguardsaas gf our comprehensive privacy program. Theséude ¢
dedicated team of privacy professionals who arelired in new product and feature development frasigh through launc
ongoing review and monitoring of the way data isdiad by existing features and apps; and rigor@ia decurity practices. \
regularly work with online privacy and safety exgseand regulators around the world. In August 20th2, Federal Trac
Commission formally approved a 20-year agreemengrtioance our privacy program. We made a clear armdal longterm
commitment to giving users tools to control howytlshare on Facebook. We also have undergone twitsdwdthe Office of th
Irish Data Protection Commissioner. The audits cahensively reviewed our compliance with Irish datatection law, which
grounded in European data protection principlespAs of the audit process, we agreed to enhandeugadata protection a
privacy practices to ensure compliance with the dandt adherence to industry best practices.

. Safety.We design our products to include safety tools.s€h@ols are coupled with educational resourcespangherships with onlir
safety experts to offer protections for all usgratticularly teenagers. We take into account thiguen needs of teenagers who use
service and employ aggppropriate settings that restrict their visibilitymit the audience with whom they can share, hetp prever
unwanted contact from strangers.

Our abuse reporting infrastructure allows anyon&acebook to report inappropriate, offensive, orggaous content through "report” lir
found throughout our site. We have enhanced tlgserteng system to include "Social Reporting," whigives users the option to reg
content to us, to report content to a trusted &fjeor to block the person who posted the conteti whe easy-taise tool. Our Safe
Advisory Board, comprised of five leading onlindetg organizations from around the world, advise®no product design and helps u
create comprehensive safety resources for everyititeuses our service. These resources are locatedrimultimedia Family Safe
Center on our website, which also offers speciédrination for parents, educators, teenagers, anchbees of the law enforceme
community. Additionally, we work with law enforcemteto help promote the safety of our users as reduy law.
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Security. We invest in technology, processes, and peopleaasgb our commitment to safeguarding our user®rimation. We use
variety of techniques to protect the data that reeemtrusted with, and we rely on multiple layefs@work segregation using firewalls
protect against attacks or unauthorized accessal¥éeemploy proprietary technologies to protectusers. For example, if we suspect
a user's account may have been compromised, weusgag process that we refer to as "social autteiatic' to validate that the pers
accessing the account is the actual account holther process of social authentication may inclusléng the person accessing the acc
to identify photos of the account holder's frien@air security team actively scans for security eudbilities using commercial toc
penetration tests, code security reviews, andnateand external audits. We also have a netwodeofjraphically distributed singtenan
data centers, and we take measures to proteatftiveniation stored in these data centers.

Competition

Our business is characterized by innovation, rap@nge, and disruptive technologies. We face fsigmit competition in every aspect of
business, including from companies that providdstéo facilitate the sharing of information, thatable marketers to display personalized advert
and that provide development platforms for appicatdevelopers. We compete with the following:

Companies that offer fufeatured products that replicate the range of comoations and related capabilities we provide. seheffering
include, for example, Google+, which Google haggnated with certain of its products, includingrseaand Android, as well as otF
largely regional, social networks that have strpogitions in particular countries, such as MixiJapan and vKontakte and Odnoklass
in Russia.

Companies that develop applications, particylarbbile applications, that replicate discrete ¢dljizes we provide, such as phostaring
messaging, and micro-blogging.

Companies that provide web- and moltikssed information and entertainment products andces that are designed to engage u

Companies that offer platforms for game develspe reach broad audiences with fregetay games including Apple's iOS and Goo
Android mobile platforms.

Traditional and online businesses that provide méali marketers to reach their audiences and/oeldpvools and systems for manag
and optimizing advertising campaigns.

We compete to attract, engage, and retain usemsttrizct and retain marketers, to attract and medavelopers to build compelling apps
websites that integrate with Facebook, and to @ttaad retain highly talented individuals, espégialoftware engineers, designers, and prc

managers.

As we introduce new products, as our existing pctglevolve, or as other companies introduce newlymis and services, we may beci
subject to additional competition.

Technology

We have assembled a team of highly skilled engiead computer scientists whose expertise spansaa lbange of technical areas. We n
significant investments in product and feature tlgwment, data management and personalization témiies, largescale systems and scale
infrastructure, mobile technologies, and advergsachnologies, including:

Product and Feature DevelopmerWe aim to improve our existing products continugushd to develop new products for our us
developers, and marketers. Our product developptéldsophy is centered on continuous innovatioorgating products that are socia
design, which means that our products are desigmpléce people and their social interactions atcitre of the product experience.

Data Management and Personalization TechnologiTo provide each user with a personalized Facebapkréence, we must proct
and analyze a vast and growing amount of conteareshby our users, developers, and marketers afateuhe most relevant conten
real time. As such, we invest extensively in depilg technologies and analytics in areas includiogtent optimization and delive
graph query, media storage and serving, large-sizdlemanagement, and software performance.

Large-Scale Systems and Scalable Infrastructu@ur products are built on a shared computing itfuature. We use a combination
off-theshelf and custom software running on clusters ofmmodity computers to amass substantial computingalutty. Oul
infrastructure has enabled the storage and prowess$ilarge datasets and facilitated the deploymémiur products on a global scale.
our user base grows, and the level of engagemestaaring from our
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users continues to increase, our computing neaufce to expand. We aim to provide our produgtsdis and reliably to all users arou
the world, including in countries where we do ngpect significant shorterm monetization. As the number of internatiorsgns increas:
we are investing in extending our infrastructurdéocloser to our users wherever they are in thddw@/e are currently building our fil
major custom international datacenter presencelied, Sweden, which is expected to be operationtie first half of 2013.

. Mobile TechnologiesIn order to providing a higlyuality experience on a wide variety of mobile degi and operating systems, we in
in developing novel technigques and technologiekiding: custom graphics rendering, operating systastomizations, development to
systems for customizing the user experience basedvariety of factors, and systems for monitottimg behavior of the applications in
field.

. Advertising TechnologiesWe invest extensively in advertising technologyatap of serving billions of ad impressions every ddile
maximizing the relevance of each impression tocteteusers based upon the information that users blaosen to share. Our sys
manages our entire set of ads, the selected awdieaad the marketers' bids to determine whichtads$how each person and hov
display them for every page on Facebook. We usadaanced click prediction system that weighs maajtime updated features us
automated learning techniques. Our technology pmates the estimated clitkrough rate with both the marketer's bid and a
relevancy signal to select the optimal ads to show.

Our research and development expenses were $lioh hi$s388 million and $144 milliom 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. For infoiom
about our research and development expenses, sedl,Rtem 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysf Financial Condition and Results
Operations - Results of Operations - Research amdldpment” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Sales and Operations

The majority of our marketers use our ssfvice ad platform to establish accounts anduoda and manage their advertising campaigns
work directly with advertisers, through traditioredvertising agencies and with an ecosystem of@genhat have a specialized focus on Face
advertising. We also have a global sales forceithfifcused on attracting and retaining marketeds @oviding support to them throughout the st
of the advertising campaign cycle from pre-purchdegsion making to real-time optimizations to posmpaign analytics. We currently operate r
than 30 sales offices around the globe.

We have operations teams to provide support forugers, developers, and marketers in five regioeaters located in Menlo Park, Califor
Austin, Texas; Dublin, Ireland; Hyderabad, IndiagdeSingapore. We also invest in and rely on seffsice tools to provide direct customer suppc
our users, developers, and marketers.

Marketing

To date, the Facebook user community has growtiywinath users inviting their friends to connectttvithem, supported by internal efforts
stimulate user awareness and interest. In addit®have invested and will continue to invest in ke#éing our services to build our brand and usee
around the world. We leverage the utility of ouogucts and our social distribution channels asmast effective marketing tools. In addition,
undertake various user acquisition efforts and lexuhost events and conferences to engage withldpers and marketers.

Intellectual Property

To establish and protect our proprietary rights,relg on a combination of patents, patent applicetj trademarks, copyrights, trade sec
including know-how, license agreements, confiddityigorocedures, nowlisclosure agreements with third parties, emplajiselosure and inventic
assignment agreements, and other contractual rightsddition, to further protect our proprietaights, from time to time we have purchased pa
and patent applications from third parties. We dblelieve that our proprietary technology is defgsn on any single patent or copyright or grouy
related patents or copyrights. We believe the damaif our patents is adequate relative to the ebgoklives of our products.

Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of U.S. federal aneé,statd foreign laws and regulations that affectganies conducting business on the Inte
many of which are still evolving and being testadcourts, and could be interpreted in ways thatccdarm our business. These may involve
privacy, rights of publicity, data protection, cent, intellectual property, distribution, electrorgontracts and other communications, compet
protection of minors, consumer protection, taxatgord online payment services. In particular, we subject to federal, state, and foreign |
regarding privacy and protection of user data. igoreata protection, privacy, and other laws arglilgions are often more restrictive than thosté
United States. U.S. federal and state and foreigis land regulations are constantly evolving andbeasubject to significant change. In addition
application and interpretation of these laws argliegions are often uncertain, particularly in thew and rapidlyevolving industry in which w
operate. There
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are also a number of legislative proposals pendafgre the U.S. Congress, various state legisldtodies, and foreign governments concerning
protection which could affect us. For example, @isien to the 1995 European Union Data Protectiore@ive is currently being considered
legislative bodies that may include more stringggrational requirements for data processors gmifisiant penalties for non-compliance.

In August 2012, the FTC approved a settlement ageeé with us to resolve an investigation into vasigractices, that, among other thii
requires us to establish and refine certain prastigith respect to treatment of user data and gyigettings and also requires we completariyiua
independent privacy assessments. Violation of iexjsir future regulatory orders or consent decoeesd subject us to substantial monetary fines
other penalties that could negatively affect onaficial condition and results of operations.

Various laws and regulations in the United Statas$ @broad, such as the Bank Secrecy Act, the Doddk Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, al
the Credit CARD Act, impose certain antieney laundering requirements on companies thdiraacial institutions or that provide financiaiogluct:
and services. Under these laws and regulatiinancial institutions are broadly defined to inddu money services businesses such as n
transmitters, check cashers, and sellers or isafestored value. Requirements imposed on finariogtitutions under these laws include custc
identification and verification programs, recordergion policies and procedures, and transactiporting. To increase flexibility in how our use
Payments may evolve and to mitigate regulatory tacey, we have applied through subsidiaries fentain money transmitter licenses in the Ur
States and similar licenses in certain foreign taesy which will generally require us to show cdiapce with many domestic and foreign I
relating to money transmission, gift cards and othrepaid access instruments, electronic fundssteas, anti-money laundering, counterroris
financing, gambling, banking and lending, and im@ord export restrictions.

Employees
As of December 31, 2012, we had 4,619 employees.
Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in July 2004. Wmngleted our initial public offering in May 2012 &our Class A common stock is lis
on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the syrif®l" Our principal executive offices are locaitdl601 Willow Road, Menlo Park, Califori
94025, and our telephone number is (650) 308-7300.

Facebook, the Facebook logo, FB, the Like Buttoatdgram and our other registered or common ladeimarks, service marks, or trade na
appearing in this Annual Report on Form HGre the property of Facebook, Inc. or its affésm Other trademarks, service marks, or trade s
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K aeeptoperty of their respective owners.

Information about Segment and Geographic Revenue

Information about segment and geographic revensetigorth in Notes 1 and 14 of our Notes to Cadstéd Financial Statements include
Part 11, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Suppleary Data" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

Our website address is www.facebook.com. Our AnRegort on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form@,0Zurrent Reports on Formig-
and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sexti@fa) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Ad984, as amended (Exchange Act), are filed
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SB@)are subject to the informational requirementthefExchange Act and file or furnish repc
proxy statements, and other information with theCSBuch reports and other information filed by @empany with the SEC are available fre:
charge on our website at investor.fb.com when segorts are available on the SEC's website. Weousénvestor.fb.comwebsite as a means
disclosing material nopublic information and for complying with our dissure obligations under Regulation FD. Accordingtyestors shou
monitor such portions ghvestor.fb.com in addition to following press releases, SEQ\§j and public conference calls and webcasts.

The public may read and copy any materials filedFagebook with the SEC at the SEC's Public Referé&mom at 100 F Street, NE, Rc
1580, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtaforimation on the operation of the Public RefereRo®em by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that acositeeports, proxy and information statements atigroinformation regarding issuers that
electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

The contents of the websites referred to abovenaténcorporated into this filing. Further, our eefnces to the URLs for these website:
intended to be inactive textual references only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Certain factors may have a material adverse efbecour business, financial condition and result®pérations. You should consider carefully thes
and uncertainties described below, in addition tieeo information contained in this Annual Reporteorm 10K, including our consolidated financ
statements and related notes. The risks and urinégs described below are not the only ones we.fAdditional risks and uncertainties that we
unaware of, or that we currently believe are notenial, may also become important factors that adely affect our business. If any of the follov
risks actually occurs, our business, financial ctiod, results of operations, and future prospeatsild be materially and adversely affected. In
event, the trading price of our Class A commonistmild decline, and you could lose part or aliyofir investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If we fail to retain existing users or add new useror if our users decrease their level of engagemeith Facebook, our revenue, financial resul
and business may be significantly harmed.

The size of our user base and our users' levehgdgement are critical to our success. We had Hildén monthly active users (MAUs) as
December 31, 2012 Our financial performance has been and will corgito be significantly determined by our succesadding, retaining, ai
engaging active users. We anticipate that our aaiser growth rate will decline over time as thee 9f our active user base increases, and i
achieve higher market penetration rates. To thergxdur active user growth rate slows, our busipes®rmance will become increasingly depen
on our ability to increase levels of user engagd¢raad monetization. If people do not perceive aadpcts to be useful, reliable, and trustworthy
may not be able to attract or retain users or atiser maintain or increase the frequency and duratiotheir engagement. A number of other s¢
networking companies that achieved early populahifve since seen their active user bases or lefelsngagement decline, in some ci
precipitously. There is no guarantee that we will experience a similar erosion of our active usese or engagement levels. Our user engag
patterns have changed over time and can be diffiouheasure, particularly as users engage inerglgsivia mobile devices and as we introduce
and different services. Any decrease in user rislengrowth, or engagement could render Facebaosk d¢tractive to developers and marketers, v
may have a material and adverse impact on our teydyusiness, financial condition, and resultsperations. Any number of factors could potent
negatively affect user retention, growth, and eegagnt, including if:

. users increasingly engage with other products tiviaes;
. we fail to introduce new and improved productsfeve introduce new products or services that atdavmrably receiver
. users feel that their Facebook experience is dghad as a result of the decisions we make withergp the frequency, prominence,

size of ads that we display;

. we are unable to continue to develop products fobife devices that users find engaging, that woitk & variety of mobile operatil
systems and networks, and that achieve a high tévabkrket acceptance;

. there are changes in user sentiment about thetyjwaliusefulness of our products or concerns reélébeprivacy and sharing, safe
security, or other factors;

. we are unable to manage and prioritize informatmensure users are presented with content thateégesting, useful, and relevan
them;

. users adopt new technologies where Facebook mayenfeiatured or otherwise availal

. there are adverse changes in our products thanhanelated by legislation, regulatory authoritiesjitigation, including settlements

consent decrees;

. technical or other problems prevent us from deingour products in a rapid and reliable mannestberwise affect the user experiel
such as any failure to prevent spam or similar exatyt

. we adopt policies or procedures related to areal as sharing or user data that are perceived imelyaby our users or the gene
public;

. we fail to provide adequate customer service tosskevelopers, or markete

. we, our Platform developers, or other companiesumindustry are the subject of adverse media teforother negative publicity;

. our current or future products, such as the FadeBtatform, reduce user activity on Facebook by imgikt easier fc
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our users to interact and share on third-party wehs
If we are unable to maintain and increase our base and user engagement, our revenue and finaesidls may be adversely affected.

We generate a substantial majority of our revenuerh advertising. The loss of marketers, or reduction spending by marketers with Facebo
could seriously harm our business.

The substantial majority of our revenue is curregenerated from third parties advertising on Fao&bFor 2012, 2011, and 2010, adverti
accounted for 84% , 85% and 95% , respectivelypwfrevenue. As is common in the industry, our reeks do not have lorigrm advertisin
commitments with us. Many of our marketers spenlg¢ arrelatively small portion of their overall adtising budget with us. In addition, marke!
may view some of our products as experimental aqlayven. Marketers will not continue to do businegth us, or they will reduce the prices they
willing to pay to advertise with us, if we do natliver ads in an effective manner, or if they do believe that their investment in advertising witd
will generate a competitive return relative to otldternatives. Our advertising revenue could beeeskly affected by a number of other fac
including:

. decreases in user engagement, including time spelRacebool

. increased user access to and engagement with Fdct#bough our mobile products or other new devioethe future, where our abili
to monetize is less proven than it is from use ersgnal computers;

. product changes or inventory management decisi@say make that reduce the size, frequency, divelprominence of ads display
on Facebook;

. our inability to increase advertiser demand, wtitflects pricing

. our inability to increase the quality of ads shawmsers, particularly on mobile devic

. the accuracy of our analytics and measurementisnithat demonstrate the value of our ads, oability to further improve such too
. decisions by marketers to use our free productd) as Facebook Pages, instead of advertising cegbBak

. loss of advertising market share to our competitaduding if such competitors offer more inte@@iproducts

. adverse legal developments relating to advertisimgduding legislative and regulatory developmeams developments in litigatic
. adverse media reports or other negative publioiplving us, our Platform developers, or other camips in our industr

. our inability to create new products that sustaiimorease the value of our a

. the degree to which users opt out of social

. the degree to which users cease or reduce the mohtimes they click on our ac

. changes in the way online advertising is pri

. the impact of new technologies that could blocklmscure the display of our ads;

. the impact of macroeconomic conditions and conaiim the advertising industry in gene

The occurrence of any of these or other factorddcmsult in a reduction in demand for our ads,alhihay reduce the prices we receive for
ads, or cause marketers to stop advertising wittagether, either of which would negatively atfear revenue and financial results.
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Growth in the use of Facebook through our mobileqatucts as a substitute for use on personal compsiteray negatively affect our revenue ¢
financial results.

We had 680 million mobile MAUs in December 2012. W&/hmost of our mobile users also access Faceboaugh personal computers,
anticipate that the rate of growth in mobile usagk exceed the growth in usage through personahmaters for the foreseeable future and tha
usage through personal computers may decline dincento decline in certain markets, in part dueotw focus on developing mobile product:
encourage mobile usage of Facebook. For exampléngdthe fourth quarter of 2012, the number of yaikttive users (DAUs) using persc
computers declined modestly compared to the thirartgr of 2012, including declines in key markatstsas the United States, while mobile D/
continued to increase. While we began showing mdsérs' mobile News Feeds in early 2012, we havergted only a small portion of our reve
from the use of Facebook mobile products to dateddition, we do not currently offer our Paymanfsastructure to applications on mobile devi
If users increasingly access Facebook mobile ptsdag a substitute for access through personal ui@rs and if we are unable to continue to ¢
mobile revenues, or if we incur excessive expeirs#ss effort, our financial performance and ailio grow revenue would be negatively affected.

Facebook user growth and engagement on mobile devidepend upon effective operation with mobile @tigrg systems, networks, and stande
that we do not control.

There is no guarantee that popular mobile devidgédscentinue to feature Facebook, or that mobileide users will continue to use Faceb
rather than competing products. We are dependetiteinteroperability of Facebook with popular melmperating systems that we do not cor
such as Android and iOS, and any changes in siathrag that degrade our products' functionalityiee greferential treatment to competitive prod
could adversely affect Facebook usage on mobile&edsvAdditionally, in order to deliver high quglitnobile products, it is important that our prod
work well with a range of mobile technologies, gyss, networks, and standards that we do not conWel may not be successful in develoj
relationships with key participants in the mobiteustry or in developing products that operateatiffely with these technologies, systems, netw
or standards. In the event that it is more diffidat our users to access and use Facebook onnttmdaile devices, or if our users choose not to s
use Facebook on their mobile devices or use mabideucts that do not offer access to Facebook,usar growth and user engagement coul
harmed.

Our business is highly competitive. Competition peats an ongoing threat to the success of our besi

We face significant competition in every aspectoofr business, including from companies that providels to facilitate the sharing
information, companies that enable marketers tplayspersonalized advertising and companies thatige development platforms for applicati
developers. We compete with companies that offiérféatured products that replicate the range of comications and related capabilities we prov
These offerings include, for example, Google+, WhBoogle has integrated with certain of its produictcluding search and Android, as well as o
largely regional, social networks that have strpogitions in particular countries, such as MixiJapan and vKontakte and Odnoklassniki in Ru
We also complete with companies that develop agfitins, particularly mobile applications, that feple discrete capabilities we provide, suc
photo-sharing, messaging, and micro-blogging, amdpanies that provide web- and moliesed information and entertainment products andcss
that are designed to engage users and capturesgiere online and on mobile devices. In addition,fage competition from traditional and onl
businesses that provide media for marketers tohrelaeir audiences and/afevelop tools and systems for managing and optiizdvertisin
campaigns.

Some of our current and potential competitors mayetsignificantly greater resources or better cditipe positions in certain product segme
geographic regions or user demographics than wé&ltkese factors may allow our competitors to responde effectively than us to new or emer
technologies and changes in market conditions. @lieve that some of our users, particularly ournger users, are aware of and actively engs
with other products and services similar to, oraasubstitute for, Facebook. For example, we belitna¢ some of our users have reduced
engagement with Facebook in favor of increased ggmgant with other products and services such asdrem. In the event that our users increas
engage with other products and services, we magrexe a decline in user engagement and our assawalld be harmed.

Our competitors may develop products, featureseovices that are similar to ours or that achieneatgr acceptance, may undertake more far
reaching and successful product development effartsharketing campaigns, or may adopt more aggregsiicing policies. In addition, Platfo
partners may use information shared by our usecsighh the Facebook Platform in order to develoglpets or features that compete with us. Ce
competitors, including Google, could use strongl@minant positions in one or more markets to gaimetitive advantage against us in areas v
we operate including: by integrating competing aboetworking platforms or features into produtisyt control such as search engines, web brov
or mobile device operating systems; by making aitions; or by making access to Facebook morecdiffi As a result, our competitors may acq
and engage users at the expense of the growttgagement of our user base, which may negativecaéfur business and financial results.
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We believe that our ability to compete effectivdgpends upon many factors both within and beyomaoutrol, including:

. the popularity, usefulness, ease of use, perforsyaarad reliability of our products compared to competitors

. the size and composition of our user b

. the engagement of our users with our prod

. the timing and market acceptance of products, @inlydevelopments and enhancements to our or eupettors' product

. our ability to monetize our products, including alnility to successfully monetize mobile us:

. the frequency, size, and relative prominence oftedisplayed by us or our competit

. customer service and support effc

. marketing and selling effor

. our ability to establish and maintain developer&riest in building on the Facebook Platfc

. changes mandated by legislation, regulatory auibsrior litigation, including settlements and cemisdecrees, some of which may ha

disproportionate effect on us;

. acquisitions or consolidation within our industwhich may result in more formidable competit
. our ability to attract, retain, and motivate tahemployees, particularly software engine

. our ability to coseffectively manage and grow our operations;

. our reputation and brand strength relative to ampetitors

If we are not able to compete effectively, our usase and level of user engagement may decreaseh wbuld make us less attractive
developers and marketers and materially and adyeaffect our revenue and results of operations.

We may not be successful in our efforts to grow geaof and engagement with the Facebook Platform.

We have made and are continuing to make investrtenémable developers to build applications (agps) websites that integrate with
Facebook Platform. Existing and prospective Platfalevelopers may not be successful in building appaebsites that create and maintain
engagement. Additionally, developers may chooséuitd on other platforms, including mobile platfanecontrolled by third parties, rather tl
building on the Facebook Platform. We are contirslpseeking to balance the distribution objectieé®ur Platform developers with our desirt
provide an optimal user experience, and we mayadauccessful in achieving a balance that contitmestract and retain Platform developers. F
time to time, we have taken actions to reduce thlarme of communications from Platform developersisers on Facebook with the objective
enhancing the user experience, and such actions feluced distribution from, user engagement watid our monetization opportunities frc
Facebookintegrated apps and websites. In some instancese thctions have adversely affected our relatipashith Platform developers. If we
not successful in our efforts to grow our Platfaynif we are unable to build and maintain goodtretes with Platform developers, our user growth
user engagement and our financial results may bersely affected.

We may not be successful in our efforts to furthmonetize the Facebook Platform.

We currently monetize the Facebook Platform in ssveays, including ads on pages generated by appSacebook, direct advertising
Facebook purchased by Platform developers to draféic to their apps and websites, and fees fram Rlatform developers' use of our Paym
infrastructure to sell virtual and digital goods users accessing Facebook via personal computerss Built by developers of social games
currently responsible for substantially all of savenue derived from Payments. While we have exgdutite number of developers using our Payn
infrastructure, our overall Payments revenue mayradese or stay flat in future periods. In additiarrelatively small percentage of our users
transacted with Facebook Payments. For examplehéofiscal year ended December 31, 2pa@proximately 27 million users purchased virigadd:
using Facebook Payments. If the Platform apps ¢hatently generate revenue fail to grow or maintdieir users and engagement, if Platf
developers do not continue to introduce new apatatiract users and create engagement, if Platfiewelopers reduce their advertising on Facel
if we fail to maintain good relationships with Ftatn developers or attract new developers, or #tfBtm apps outside of social games do not
popularity and generate significant revenue forous,financial performance and ability to grow reuwe could be adversely affected.

16




Additionally, we are actively supporting Platforrav@tlopers' efforts to develop their own mobile appd websites that integrate with Faceb
Unlike apps that run within the Facebook websitéctvienable us to show ads and offer Payments, wergly do not directly monetize from Platfc
developers' integrating their own mobile apps arebsites with Facebook. Therefore, our Platform tgers' efforts to prioritize Facebc
integrations with their own mobile apps or websiteay reduce or slow the growth of our user actititgt generates advertising and Payn
opportunities, which could negatively affect ouverue. Although we believe that there are signifidangterm benefits to Facebook resulting fi
increased engagement on Facebm&grated websites and mobile apps, these bemeéifsnot offset the possible loss of revenue, iictvitase ot
business could be harmed.

Action by governments to restrict access to Facdbwotheir countries could substantially harm ourdsiness and financial results

It is possible that governments of one or more tes1may seek to censor content available on Faden their country, restrict access
Facebook from their country entirely, or imposeenttestrictions that may affect the accessibilitfFacebook in their country for an extended pent
time or indefinitely. For example, access to Fac&bloas been or is currently restricted in wholénopart in China, Iran, North Korea, and Syria
addition, governments in other countries may seetestrict access to Facebook if they consideousetin violation of their laws. In the event |
access to Facebook is restricted, in whole or i, paone or more countries or our competitors avke to successfully penetrate geographic me
that we cannot access, our ability to retain oréase our user base and user engagement may beaygheffected, we may not be able to mainta
grow our revenue as anticipated, and our finameslts could be adversely affected.

Our new products and changes to existing produateild fail to attract or retain users or generatevenue.

Our ability to retain, increase, and engage our bhase and to increase our revenue will dependilljeav our ability to create successful r
products, both independently and in conjunctiorhvidtatform developers or other third parties. Wey imroduce significant changes to our exis
products or develop and introduce new and unprgreducts, including using technologies with whick fvave little or no prior development
operating experience. If new or enhanced prodwgted engage users, developers, or marketers, ayefail to attract or retain users or to gene
sufficient revenue, operating margin, or other ealu justify our investments, and our business bwwpdversely affected. In the future, we may ir
in new products and initiatives to generate revehuethere is no guarantee these approachesendubcessful. For example, in 2012, we launche
Gifts product that enables users to send physicaligital gifts to friends. We may not be succek#fugenerating meaningful revenue from
product. If we are not successful with new appreadio monetization, we may not be able to maintaigrow our revenue as anticipated or rec
any associated development costs, and our finaresalts could be adversely affected.

Our culture emphasizes rapid innovation and pridzés user engagement over short-term financial risu

We have a culture that encourages employees t&lgudevelop and launch new and innovative produ&tsour business grows and beco
more complex, our cultural emphasis on moving dyickay result in unintended outcomes or decisidras &re poorly received by users, develo
or marketers. Our culture also prioritizes useragrggnent over shoterm financial results, and we frequently make paidiecisions that may redt
our shortterm revenue or profitability if we believe thaettecisions are consistent with our mission ancfitethe aggregate user experience anc
thereby improve our financial performance over lthveg term. These decisions may not produce the-terng benefits that we expect, in which ¢
our user growth and engagement, our relationshigisdevelopers and marketers, and our businessemndts of operations could be harmed.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance our branor if events occur that damage our reputationdabrand, our ability to expand our base
users, developers, and marketers may be impaired, @ur business and financial results may be harmed

We believe that the Facebook brand has signifigar@htributed to the success of our business. e laglieve that maintaining and enhan
our brand is critical to expanding our base of sisdevelopers, and marketers. Many of our new wmerseferred by existing users. Maintaining
enhancing our brand will depend largely on ouribib continue to provide useful, reliable, trustthy, and innovative products, which we may
do successfully. We may introduce new productseons of service that users do not like, which magatively affect our brand. Additionally,
actions of our Platform developers may affect oand if users do not have a positive experiencegusiirdparty apps and websites integrated
Facebook. We have in the past experienced, andpecethat in the future we will continue to exeaige, media, legislative, or regulatory scrutin
our decisions regarding user privacy or other issuwehich may adversely affect our reputation anghtr We also may fail to provide adeq:
customer service, which could erode confidenceuinbvand. Our brand may also be negatively affebiethe actions of users that are deemed
hostile or inappropriate to other users, or by sig@ting under false or inauthentic identities. Maining and enhancing our brand may require
make substantial investments and these investmeaanot be successful. If we fail to successfutignpote and maintain the Facebook brand or |
incur excessive expenses in this effort, our bissirand financial results may be adversely affected.
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Improper access to or disclosure of our users' infeation, or violation of our terms of service or poies, could harm our reputation and advers
affect our business.

Our efforts to protect the information that our ngskave chosen to share using Facebook may be aessfial due to the actions of third par!
software bugs or other technical malfunctions, @yee error or malfeasance, or other factors. Iritiadd third parties may attempt to fraudulel
induce employees or users to disclose informatiomrder to gain access to our data or our usets. dfaany of these events occur, our u
information could be accessed or disclosed imptgp&ur Data Use Policy governs the use of infoiorathat users have chosen to share (
Facebook and how that information may be used ndsthird parties. Some Platform developers mareshformation provided by our users thro
apps on the Facebook Platform or websites integnatth Facebook. If these third parties or Platfatavelopers fail to adopt or adhere to adec
data security practices or fail to comply with derms and policies, or in the event of a breactheir networks, our users' data may be improj
accessed or disclosed.

Any incidents involving unauthorized access toraptioper use of the information of our users ordeais involving violation of our terms
service or policies, including our Data Use Policguld damage our reputation and our brand andniémiour competitive position. In addition,
affected users or government authorities couldaigtlegal or regulatory action against us in catine with such incidents, which could cause
incur significant expense and liability or resultdrders or consent decrees forcing us to modifybosiness practices. Any of these events coule
material and adverse effect on our business, répotar financial results.

Unfavorable media coverage could negatively affeat business.

We receive a high degree of media coverage arou@dvorld. Unfavorable publicity regarding, for exale our privacy practices, prod
changes, product quality, litigation or regulatawtivity, or the actions of our Platform developersour users, could adversely affect our repute
Such negative publicity also could have an adveffeet on the size, engagement, and loyalty ofus@r base and result in decreased revenue,
could adversely affect our business and finaneisiliits.

Our financial results will fluctuate from quartera quarter and are difficult to predict.

Our quarterly financial results have fluctuatedha past and will fluctuate in the future. Additédly, we have a limited operating history with
current scale of our business, which makes itdiffito forecast our future results. As a resutty yshould not rely upon our past quarterly finat
results as indicators of future performance. Yoausth take into account the risks and uncertairfiequently encountered by companies in raj
evolving markets. Our financial results in any givguarter can be influenced by numerous factors)yntd which we are unable to predict or
outside of our control, including:

. our ability to maintain and grow our user base asel engageme
. our ability to attract and retain marketers in dipalar period
. fluctuations in spending by our marketers due t@ssgrality, such as historically strong spendinghim fourth quarter of each year,

other factors;

. the number of ads shown to us

. the pricing of our ads and other prodi

. the rate of growth in mobile usage compared to eshgough personal computers, and our ability tetiae through our mob
products;

. our ability to maintain or increase Payments aineofees revenu

. the diversification and growth of revenue sourceypdnd advertising and Payme

. the development and introduction of new productsesvices by us or our competitc

. increases in marketing, sales, and other operaipmenses that we may incur to grow and expand perations and to rem:
competitive;

. our ability to maintain gross margins and operatiraygins

. costs related to the acquisition of businessesntatechnologies or intellectual property, inchglipotentially significant amortizati
costs;

. our ability to obtain equipment and componentsofar data centers and other technical infrastrudgtueetimely an
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cost-effective manner;

. system failures which could prevent us from senadg for any period of time, or breaches of seguanitprivacy, and the costs associi
with remediating any such failures or breaches;

. inaccessibility of Facebook due to thipdrty actions

. sharebased compensation expel

. adverse litigation judgments, settlements, beptitigationfelated cost:

. changes in the legislative or regulatory environtnigrcluding with respect to privacy, or enforcerhby government regulators, includ

fines, orders, or consent decrees;

. the overall tax rate for our business, which magtected by the financial results of our interoatl subsidiarie

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates and chaimgebe proportion of our revenue and expenses méraied in foreign currencie
. fluctuations in the market values of our portfaheestments and in interest ra

. changes in U.S. generally accepted accounting iptes; an

. changes in global business or macroeconomic cond

We expect our rates of growth will decline in thetdire.

We believe that our rates of user and revenue grevilt decline over time. For example, our reveryew 37% from 2011 to 2012, 88fom
2010 to 2011 and 154% from 2009 year to 2010. Hestby, our user growth has been a primary drieegrowth in our revenue. While our perio
rates of growth may be flat or increase from timeirne, we expect that our user growth and revegrawith rates will decline over time as the siz
our active user base increases and as we achigiverhinarket penetration rates. As our growth rdéedine, investors' perceptions of our business
be adversely affected and the trading price of@ass A common stock could decline.

Our costs are continuing to grow, which could haraur business and profitability.

Providing our products to our users is costly amdexpect our expenses to continue to increaseeifuthre as we broaden our user base, as
increase the number of connections and amount @f ey share with us, as we develop and implement product features that require n
computing infrastructure. Historically, our cos@vk increased each year due to these factors arekpeet to continue to incur increasing cost
particular for servers, storage, power, and datgecg, to support our anticipated future growth. ¥pect to continue to invest in our glc
infrastructure in order to provide our productsidapand reliably to all users around the worldgliding in countries where we do not exj
significant shorterm monetization. In addition, our costs may iase2 as we hire additional employees, particulasiyaaesult of the significa
competition that we face to attract and retain négzd talent. Our expenses may continue to growefalan our revenue over time. Our expenses
be greater than we anticipate, and our investmaatisnot be successful. In addition, we may increaaeketing, sales, and other operating expen:
order to grow and expand our operations and to irecmnpetitive. Increases in our costs may advemsiect our business and profitability.

Our business is subject to complex and evolving LhBd foreign laws and regulations regarding priwacdata protection, and other matters. Me
of these laws and regulations are subject to charaged uncertain interpretation, and could result inlaims, changes to our business practic
monetary penalties, increased cost of operationrsgeclines in user growth or engagement, or otheseiharm our business.

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulationghe United States and abroad that involve maitentral to our business, including t
privacy, rights of publicity, data protection, cent, intellectual property, distribution, electrorgontracts and other communications, compet
protection of minors, consumer protection, taxatisecurities law compliance, and online paymentises. The introduction of new products r
subject us to additional laws and regulations.d&@mple, depending on how our new Gifts productwes we may be subject to laws and regula
governing returns, taxability of purchases, purehas restricted products such as alcohol, prodiadiility, and international import and exp
restrictions. In addition, foreign data protectipnivacy, and other laws and regulations are af@mne restrictive than those in the United Staté®si
U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and reiguistwhich can be enforced by private partiesasegnment entities, are constantly evolving anc
be subject to significant change. In addition, @pelication and interpretation of these laws arglileions are often uncertain, particularly in trem
and rapidly evolving industry in which we operaf@r example, the interpretation of some laws amlilegions that govern the use of names
likenesses in connection with advertising and miamgeactivities is unsettled and developments ig &nea could
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affect the manner in which we design our produassyell as our terms of use. A number of propoasdspending before federal, state, and fol
legislative and regulatory bodies that could sigaiftly affect our business. For example, a renidio the 1995 European Union Data Protec
Directive is currently being considered by Europésgislative bodies that may include more stringgerational requirements for data processor:
significant penalties for nocempliance. Similarly, there have been a numbeecént legislative proposals in the United Staesoth the federal a
state level, that would impose new obligations fi@aa such as privacy and liability for copyrighfrimgement by third parties. These existing
proposed laws and regulations can be costly to gomjth and can delay or impede the developmente® products, result in negative public
increase our operating costs, require significambagement time and attention, and subject us tdrieq or investigations, claims or other reme
including fines or demands that we modify or cemgsting business practices.

We have been subject to regulatory investigatiomsl #ettlements and we expect to continue to be esttbjo such proceedings in the future, wh
could cause us to incur substantial costs or requirs to change our business practices in a mannatenially adverse to our business.

From time to time, we receive inquiries from regoita regarding our compliance with laws and othatters. For example, in 2012, the Fec
Trade Commission approved a settlement agreeméniuwithat, among other things, requires us tdbéskaand refine certain practices with respe
treatment of user data and privacy settings armraiguires that we complete &inual independent privacy assessments. As anatherple, in 201
and 2012, the Irish Data Protection Commissionglitad the data, security, and privacy practices polities of Facebook Ireland. We expec
continue to be the subject of regulatory investiyet and audits in the future by these and ottgulators throughout the world.

It is possible that a regulatory inquiry might rikdn changes to our policies or practices. Viaatiof existing or future regulatory orders
consent decrees could subject us to substantiabtagnfines and other penalties that could negigtiaéfect our financial condition and results
operations. In addition, it is possible that futarelers issued by, or enforcement actions initidtgdregulatory authorities could cause us to i
substantial costs or require us to change our bssipractices in a manner materially adverse tdwosiness.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual proptgr the value of our brand and other intangible a&ts may be diminished, and our business ma
adversely affected.

We rely and expect to continue to rely on a contimmaof confidentiality and license agreements wotlr employees, consultants, and t
parties with whom we have relationships, as welltrasemark, copyright, patent, trade secret, antiad®o name protection laws, to protect
proprietary rights. In the United States and irdéionally, we have filed various applications faofection of certain aspects of our intellec
property, and we currently hold a number of isspatnts in multiple jurisdictions and have acquipatents and patent applications from third pa
In addition, in the future we may acquire additiopatents or patent portfolios, which could requsignificant cash expenditures. Third parties
knowingly or unknowingly infringe our proprietarights, third parties may challenge proprietary tsgheld by us, and pending and future trade
and patent applications may not be approved. litiadd effective intellectual property protectioragnnot be available in every country in which
operate or intend to operate our business. In arall ®f these cases, we may be required to exgagdficant time and expense in order to pre
infringement or to enforce our rights. Although have taken measures to protect our proprietarttsighere can be no assurance that others w
offer products or concepts that are substantiathylar to ours and compete with our business. Iditamh, we regularly contribute software sourcee
under open source licenses and have made othewlegy we developed available under other opemsies, and we include open source softwe
our products. For example, we have contributedagerpecifications and designs related to our datder equipment to the Open Compute Pr
Foundation, a noprofit entity that shares and develops such infeionawith the technology community, under the Op¥eb Foundation License. .
a result of our open source contributions and geaf open source in our products, we may licenge gequired to license innovations that turnto
be material to our business and may also be expmséttreased litigation risk. If the protection ofir proprietary rights is inadequate to pre
unauthorized use or appropriation by third partilke,value of our brand and other intangible asseig be diminished and competitors may be at
more effectively mimic our service and methods pémations. Any of these events could have an adwdfect on our business and financial results.

We are currently, and expect to be in the futurerty to patent lawsuits and other intellectual pregy rights claims that are expensive and ti
consuming, and, if resolved adversely, could havagnificant impact on our business, financial coitgbn, or results of operations.

Companies in the Internet, technology, and meddustries own large numbers of patents, copyrigtitglemarks, and trade secrets,
frequently enter into litigation based on allegasicof infringement, misappropriation, or other aitns of intellectual property or other rights
addition, various "nomracticing entities" that own patents and othegliattual property rights often attempt to aggneslgi assert their rights in orc
to extract value from technology companies. Furttee, from time to time we may introduce new prddumcluding in areas where we currently
not compete, which could increase our exposuratent and
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other intellectual property claims from competitargl non-practicing entities.

From time to time, we receive notice letters froatgmt holders alleging that certain of our prodaetd services infringe their patent rights.
presently are involved in a number of intellectpedperty lawsuits, and as we face increasing coitigpetand gain an increasingly high profile,
expect the number of patent and other intelleqiuaperty claims against us to grow. Defending pagew other intellectual property litigation is tg
and can impose a significant burden on managenmehéployees, and there can be no assurancestoaalle final outcomes will be obtained ir
cases. In addition, plaintiffs may seek, and we tmagome subject to, preliminary or provisionalmgh in the course of any such litigation, inclut
potential preliminary injunctions requiring us tease some or all of our operations. We may deoidettle such lawsuits and disputes on terms tie
unfavorable to us. Similarly, if any litigation tehich we are a party is resolved adversely, we begubject to an unfavorable judgment that ma
be reversed upon appeal. The terms of such arsetileor judgment may require us to cease somd of alr operations or pay substantial amoun
the other party. In addition, we may have to sedkense to continue practices found to be in tiotaof a third party's rights, which may not
available on reasonable terms, or at all, and rigayfieantly increase our operating costs and egpsnAs a result, we may also be required to dp
alternative non-infringing technology or practicasdiscontinue the practices. The development @f@htive nonnfringing technology or practic
could require significant effort and expense or may be feasible. Our business, financial condjtiamd results of operations could be adve
affected as a result of an unfavorable resolutfdh® disputes and litigation referred to above.

We are involved in numerous class action lawsuitsdaother litigation matters that are expensive atiche consuming, and, if resolved adversi
could harm our business, financial condition, or selts of operations.

In addition to intellectuaproperty claims, we are also involved in numerotenlawsuits, including putative class action laits brought b
users and marketers, many of which claim statui@rpages, and we anticipate that we will continueet@ target for numerous lawsuits in the fu
Because we have over a billion users, the plaitiffclass action cases filed against us typiad#lim enormous monetary damages even if the al
per-user harm is small or naxistent. Any negative outcome from such lawsuitsla result in payments of substantial monetary agas or fines,
changes to our products or business practices,aandrdingly our business, financial condition, esults of operations could be materially
adversely affected. Although the results of suebslats and claims cannot be predicted with ceryaiwe do not believe that the final outcome of #
matters relating to our products that we currefatbe will have a material adverse effect on outiress, financial condition, or results of operasiolr
addition, following our initial public offering (IB), we became the subject of stockholder classrastiits. We believe these lawsuits are withoutt
and are vigorously defending these lawsuits.

There can be no assurances that a favorable fitebme will be obtained in all our cases, and dgifem any lawsuit is costly and can impot
significant burden on management and employees.lifggtion to which we are a party may result ma@erous or unfavorable judgment that may
be reversed upon appeal or in payments of subatamtinetary damages or fines, or we may decidetitedawsuits on similarly unfavorable ter
which could adversely affect our business, findnmaditions, or results of operations.

Our CEO has control over key decision making asesult of his control of a majority of our voting atk.

As a result of voting agreements with certain shottters, together with the shares he holds, Makgiberg, our founder, Chairman, and C
is able to exercise voting rights with respect tagority of the voting power of our outstandingital stock as of December 31, 201r. Zuckerber
therefore has the ability to control the outcomenaftters submitted to our stockholders for appranaluding the election of directors and any me)
consolidation, or sale of all or substantially efl our assets. This concentrated control couldydedafer, or prevent a change of control, me
consolidation, or sale of all or substantially @llour assets that our other stockholders supportpnversely this concentrated control could reis
the consummation of such a transaction that owrattockholders do not support. This concentratedrol could also discourage a potential inve
from acquiring our Class A common stock due to ltheted voting power of such stock relative to tBé&ass B common stock and might harm
trading price of our Class A common stock. In addit Mr. Zuckerberg has the ability to control timanagement and major strategic investmer
our company as a result of his position as our @B his ability to control the election or replaegrof our directors. In the event of his deatle
shares of our capital stock that Mr. Zuckerberg wiill be transferred to the persons or entitiest the designates. As a board member and of
Mr. Zuckerberg owes a fiduciary duty to our stodkleos and must act in good faith in a manner hearably believes to be in the best interests ¢
stockholders. As a stockholder, even a controkitagkholder, Mr. Zuckerberg is entitled to vote $tires, and shares over which he has voting ¢
as a result of voting agreements, in his own irstsrevhich may not always be in the interests ofsbockholders generally.

We plan to continue to make acquisitions, which d¢duequire significant management attention, disrtpur business, result in dilution to ol
stockholders, and adversely affect our financiakrsts.

As part of our business strategy, we have madeimtetid to make acquisitions to add specialized eyg#s, complementary compan
products, or technologies. Our ability to acquine &ntegrate larger or more complex companies, ytsd or technologies
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in a successful manner is unproven the future, we may not be able to find othetahle acquisition candidates, and we may not be @btomplet
acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all. Anyute acquisitions we complete could be viewed negbtiby users, developers, marketers, or inve:
and our acquisitions may not achieve our goals.gxample, in August 2012, we acquired Instagrarhmmiare still focused on user growth and
users' experience and do not yet derive any dieaanue from Instagram. In addition, if we faildoccessfully close or integrate any acquisiti
integrate the products or technologies associatddsuch acquisitions into our company, or idenéifyd address liabilities associated with the aeq
business or assets, our business, revenue, andtiogeresults could be adversely affected. Anygradon process may require significant time
resources, and we may not be able to manage tbeggsuccessfully. We may not successfully evalratgilize the acquired products, technology
personnel, or accurately forecast the financialdotwf an acquisition transaction, including acemgncharges. In addition, our ability to conduce
diligence with respect to acquisitions, and outighio evaluate the results of such due diligensalependent upon the accuracy and completen
statements and disclosures made or actions takehebgompanies we acquire or their representatbespite our efforts, there could be signific
liabilities or deficiencies associated with the iness, assets, products, financial condition opanting practices related to the assets or compawd
acquire. In addition, we may have to pay cash,rimgbt, or issue equity securities to pay for asitjons, any of which could adversely affect
financial results. The sale of equity or issuantéebt to finance any such acquisitions could reisutlilution to our stockholders. The incurrend
indebtedness would result in increased fixed obbga and could also include covenants or othdricgisns that would impede our ability to man
our operations.

Our business is dependent on our ability to maimtaand scale our technical infrastructure, and anygsificant disruption in our service coul
damage our reputation, result in a potential losEusers and engagement, and adversely affect onaficial results.

Our reputation and ability to attract, retain, a®ive our users is dependent upon the reliablempesihce of Facebook and our underl
technical infrastructure. Our systems may not beqadtely designed with the necessary reliability esdundancy to avoid performance delay
outages that could be harmful to our businessatiebook is unavailable when users attempt to adcessf it does not load as quickly as they eot;
users may not return to our website as often infuigre, or at all. As our user base and the amandt types of information shared on Facel
continue to grow, we will need an increasing amafriechnical infrastructure, including network eafty, and computing power, to continue to sa
the needs of our users. It is possible that we faidyo effectively scale and grow our technicdrastructure to accommodate these increased den
In addition, our business is subject to interrumiodelays, or failures resulting from earthquakelierse weather conditions, other natural disg
power loss, terrorism, or other catastrophic events

A substantial portion of our network infrastructuseprovided by third parties. Any disruption oildae in the services we receive from th
providers could harm our ability to handle existimgincreased traffic and could significantly haour business. Any financial or other difficult
these providers face may adversely affect our lessinand we exercise little control over theseigesg, which increases our vulnerability to probé
with the services they provide.

We could experience unforeseen difficulties in bdithg and operating key portions of our technicalffastructure.

We have designed and built our own data centerskapdgortions of our technical infrastructure trghuwhich we serve our products, and
plan to continue to significantly expand the sif@ar infrastructure primarily through data centarsl other projects. The infrastructure expansie
are undertaking is complex, and unanticipated delaythe completion of these projects or availabitif components may lead to increased pr
costs, operational inefficiencies, or interruptiamshe delivery or degradation of the quality efr @roducts. In addition, there may be issuesedl
this infrastructure that are not identified durithg testing phases of design and implementatioigchaimay only become evident after we have sti
to fully utilize the underlying equipment, that ¢ddurther degrade the user experience or increaseosts.

Our software is highly technical, and if it contagwundetected errors, our business could be advgraéfected.

Our products incorporate software that is highlghtécal and complex. Our software has contained, may now or in the future conte
undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities. Somargin our software code may only be discovefféer ahe code has been released. Any errors,
or vulnerabilities discovered in our code afteeasle could result in damage to our reputation, dbssers, loss of revenue, or liability for dams
any of which could adversely affect our busines$ famancial results.

Certain of our user metrics are subject to inhereciiallenges in measurement, and real or perceiveddcuracies in such metrics may harm ¢
reputation and negatively affect our business.

The numbers of our MAUs, DAUs, and mobile MAUs anrage revenue per user (ARPU) are calculated usiarnal company data basec
the activity of user accounts. While these numbeesbased on what we believe to be reasonableassof our user base for the applicable perii
measurement, there are inherent challenges in miegsusage of our products across large online mobile populations around the world.
example, there may be individuals who maintain onenore Facebook accounts in violation of our teohservice. We estimate, for example,
"duplicate" accounts (an account that a user mammta
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in addition to his or her principal account) mayéaepresented approximately 5.0% of our worldwit#eUs as of December 31, 2012. We also :
to identify "false" accounts, which we divide inteo categories: (1) usemnisclassified accounts, where users have createsbmqe profiles for
business, organization, or nbmman entity such as a pet (such entities are plexdn Facebook using a Page rather than a pénsaige under ou
terms of service); and (2) undesirable accountsclwlepresent user profiles that we determine @irended to be used for purposes that violat
terms of service, such as spamming. As of Decen®ier2012, for example, we estimate usesclassified accounts may have represe
approximately 1.3% of our worldwide MAUs and undable accounts may have represented approxima@¥y 6f our worldwide MAUs. We belie
the percentage of accounts that are duplicatelse fa meaningfully lower in developed markets sastthe United States or Australia and high
developing markets such as Indonesia and Turkeweier, these estimates are based on an internalwef a limited sample of accounts and
apply significant judgment in making this deterntion, such as identifying names that appear toake br other behavior that appears inauthen
the reviewers. As such, our estimation of duplicatefalse accounts may not accurately representattteal number of such accounts. We
continually seeking to improve our ability to idéptduplicate or false accounts and estimate tied ttumber of such accounts, and such estimate
change due to improvements or changes in our metbgyl

Some of our historical metrics through the secondrigr of 2012 have also been affected by apptication certain mobile devices t
automatically contact our servers for regular upslatith no user action involved, and this activign cause our system to count the user assc
with such a device as an active user on the ddy eoictact occurs. For example, we estimate thatthem 5% of our estimated worldwide DAUs a
December 31, 2011 and 2010 resulted from this df@itomatic mobile activity, and that this typeaativity had a substantially smaller effect on
estimate of worldwide MAUs and mobile MAUs. The iagb of this automatic activity on our metrics vdrley geography because mobile usage v
in different regions of the world. In addition, odaita regarding the geographic location of oursugeestimated based on a number of factors, ss
the user's IP address and self-disclosed locafibese factors may not always accurately reflecudes’'s actual location. For example, a mobilér
user may appear to be accessing Facebook frono¢h#dn of the proxy server that the user conniectather than from the user's actual location.
methodologies used to measure user metrics mayba&issusceptible to algorithm or other technicabmsir For example, in early June 2012,
discovered an error in the algorithm we use taresti the geographic location of our users thattdteour attribution of certain user locations tfua
period ended March 31, 2012. While this issue ditlaffect our overall worldwide MAU and DAU numbeitsdid affect our attribution of users acr
different geographic regions. We estimate thatrtheaber of MAUs as of March 31, 2012 for the Unittdtes & Canada region was overstated
result of the error by approximately 3% and thigemstatement was offset by understatements in otgions. Our estimates for revenue by
location and revenue by user device are also affdoy these factors. We regularly review and maysa@ur processes for calculating these metri
improve their accuracy. In addition, our MAU and DAestimates will differ from estimates published third parties due to differences
methodology. For example, some third parties ateahte to accurately measure mobile users or deoait mobile users for certain user groups
all in their analyses. If marketers, developersinoestors do not perceive our user metrics to dmirate representations of our user base, or
discover material inaccuracies in our user metiics, reputation may be harmed and marketers andl@g@srs may be less willing to allocate tl
budgets or resources to Facebook, which could negyaffect our business and financial results.

We cannot assure you that we will effectively maeamur growth.

Our employee headcount and the scope and complexayr business have increased significantly, it number of employees increasin
4,619 as of December 31, 2012 from 3,200 as of mbee 31, 2011 and we expect headcount growth to continue ferfthieseeable future. T
growth and expansion of our business and produetsie significant challenges for our managemenrgraijnal, and financial resources, incluc
managing multiple relations with users, marketBtafform developers, and other third parties. lnekient of continued growth of our operations
the number of our thirgiarty relationships, our information technologytsyss or our internal controls and procedures mayamdequate to supp
our operations. In addition, some members of ounagament do not have significant experience magagilarge global business operation, sc
management may not be able to manage such grovettieély. To effectively manage our growth, we maentinue to improve our operatior
financial, and management processes and systemw aftectively expand, train, and manage our eygrobase. As our organization continue
grow, and we are required to implement more complganizational management structures, we may ifiilcreasingly difficult to maintain tt
benefits of our corporate culture, including ouiligbto quickly develop and launch new and inndvatproducts. This could negatively affect
business performance.

The loss of one or more of our key personnel, omrdailure to attract and retain other highly qualied personnel in the future, could harm o
business.

We currently depend on the continued services artbpmance of our key personnel, including Mark Ferberg and Sheryl K. Sandbe
Although we have entered into employment agreemeittsMr. Zuckerberg and Ms. Sandberg, the agregsiesive no specific duration and consti
at-will employment. In addition, many of our keyclmologies and systems are custmade for our business by our personnel. The loskey
personnel, including members of management as asehkey engineering, product development, marketmg, sales personnel, could disrupt
operations and have an adverse effect on our sssine
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As we continue to grow, we cannot guarantee weaaititinue to attract the personnel we need to mairttur competitive position. In particul
we intend to hire a significant number of technigatsonnel in 2013, and we expect to face sigmificampetition from other companies in hiring <
personnel, particularly in the San Francisco BagaArAs we mature, the incentives to attract, retam motivate employees provided by our ec
awards or by future arrangements may not be asteffeas in the past, and if we issue significaqntity to attract additional employees, the owne
of our existing stockholders may be further dilutadditionally, we have a number of current empleyevhose equity ownership in our company ¢
them a substantial amount of personal wealth, whalld affect their decisions about whether or teotontinue to work for us. As a result of th
factors, it may be difficult for us to continue retain and motivate our employees. If we do notsed in attracting, hiring, and integrating exad
personnel, or retaining and motivating existingspenel, we may be unable to grow effectively.

We may incur liability as a result of informationetrieved from or transmitted over the Internet opgted to Facebook and claims related to
products.

We have faced, currently face, and will continuefeoe claims relating to information that is pubésg or made available on Facebook
particular, the nature of our business exposes akims related to defamation, intellectual propeights, rights of publicity and privacy, and pena
injury torts. This risk is enhanced in certain gdiictions outside the United States where our ptiate from liability for thirdparty actions may |
unclear and where we may be less protected undat laws than we are in the United States. We coddr significant costs investigating ¢
defending such claims and, if we are found liabignificant damages. If any of these events oamurr business and financial results could be adixe
affected.

Computer malware, viruses, hacking and phishingaatks, and spamming could harm our business and fesof operations.

Computer malware, viruses, and computer hacking gnishing attacks have become more prevalent inirustry, have occurred on ¢
systems in the past, and may occur on our systertigifuture. Because of our prominence, we belibaewe are a particularly attractive target
such attacks. Though it is difficult to determinba#; if any, harm may directly result from any dfiednterruption or attack, any failure to maim
performance, reliability, security, and availalyilaf our products and technical infrastructure. Awgh failure may harm our reputation and our B/
to retain existing users and attract new users.

In addition, spammers attempt to use our prodactend targeted and untargeted spam messagesspwbkiEh may embarrass or annoy u
and make Facebook less uggendly. We cannot be certain that the technolegiad employees that we have to attempt to defeahmming attack
will be able to eliminate all spam messages fromdsent on our platform. As a result of spammiativities, our users may use Facebook less ol
using our products altogether.

Payment transactions on the Facebook Platform maybct us to additional regulatory requirements arather risks that could be costly a
difficult to comply with or that could harm our bugess.

Our users can use the Facebook Platform to purchdsal and digital goods from our Platform deysdos using our Payments infrastruct
Depending on how our Payments product evolves, & Ipe subject to a variety of laws and regulationthe United States, Europe, and elsewl
including those governing money transmission, gétds and other prepaid access instruments, edctfonds transfers, antihoney laundering
counterterrorist financing, gambling, banking and lendiagd import and export restrictions. In some judsdns, the application or interpretatior
these laws and regulations is not clear. To inerd@ibility in how our use of Payments may evobsed to mitigate regulatory uncertainty, we
applied for and received certain money transmiitenses in the United States and expect to amplgdrtain regulatory licenses in Europe, whicH
generally require us to demonstrate compliance widny domestic and foreign laws in these areas. efforts to comply with these laws ¢
regulations could be costly and result in diverssdbmanagement time and effort and may still nargatee compliance. In the event that we are 1
to be in violation of any such legal or regulatoeguirements, we may be subject to monetary fimesther penalties such as a cease and desist
or we may be required to make product changespwhich could have an adverse effect on our bissirend financial results.

In addition, we may be subject to a variety of &ddal risks as a result of Payments on the FadeBtetform, including:

. increased costs and diversion of management timefiort and other resources to deal with bad @etisns or customer disput
. potential fraudulent or otherwise illegal activity users, developers, employees, or third pa

. restrictions on the investment of consumer fund@sius transact Payments;

. additional disclosure and reporting requirem

24




We plan to continue expanding our operations abroadhere we have limited operating experience and nb&ysubject to increased business .
economic risks that could affect our financial refts.

We plan to continue the international expansiorowf business operations and the translation ofpooducts. We currently make Faceb
available in more than 70 different languages, @wachave offices or data centers in more than 2@reifit countries. We may enter new internati
markets where we have limited or no experience amketing, selling, and deploying our products. Egample, we continue to evaluate ente
China. However, this market has substantial legdl r@gulatory complexities that have preventedemiry into China to date. If we fail to deploy
manage our operations in international marketsessfally, our business may suffer. In addition,axe subject to a variety of risks inherent in d:
business internationally, including:

. political, social, or economic instabili

. risks related to the legal and regulatory environime foreign jurisdictions, including with respect privacy, and unexpected change
laws, regulatory requirements, and enforcement;

. potential damage to our brand and reputation duwetapliance with local laws, including potentiahsership or requirements to prov
user information to local authorities;

. fluctuations in currency exchange ra

. higher levels of credit risk and payment fre

. enhanced difficulties of integrating any foreigmaisitions

. burdens of complying with a variety of foreign la

. reduced protection for intellectual property rigimtsome countrie

. difficulties in staffing and managing global opévat and the increased travel, infrastructure, lagdl compliance costs associated

multiple international locations;
. compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practidet the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar laws in othi@risdictions; an
. compliance with statutory equity requirements arhagement of tax consequen

If we are unable to expand internationally and ngentne complexity of our global operations sucadbsfour financial results could be advers
affected.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness whiclild adversely affect our financial condition andur ability to obtain additional capital o
reasonable terms when required.

As of December 31, 2012 , we had $1.5 billmristanding under our term loan facility. By dragvion our term loan facility, our interest expe
and principal repayment requirements have incresgaificantly, which could have an adverse effatour financial results.

In addition, we may require additional capital tgpport our business growth or to respond to busimggortunities, challenges or unfores
circumstances. We also expect to expend substamtialints to fund tax withholding and remittancdgailons related to the vesting and settleme
restricted stock units (RSUs) in the future if wantinue to net settle such RSUs. Our ability toagbtadditional capital, if and when required,
depend on our business plans, investor demandyprrating performance, the condition of the capitatkets, and other factors, and our subst:
indebtedness may limit our ability to borrow suadiional funds. If we raise additional funds thgbuthe issuance of equity, equltgked or dek
securities, those securities may have rights, peates, or privileges senior to the rights of olas€ A common stock, and our existing stockho
may experience dilution.

If we default on our leasing and credit obligationgur operations may be interrupted and our busisesnd financial results could be advers
affected.

We finance a significant portion of our expendituterough leasing arrangements, some of which etreequired to be reflected on our bale
sheet, and we may enter into additional similaarsgements in the future. In particular, we havalubkese types of arrangements to finance sol
our equipment and data centers. In addition, wee lavevolving credit facility that we may draw upnfinance our operations or other corpc
purposes, and have a term loan facility, from whigh drew $1.5 billionto fund a portion of our tax withholding and remitte obligations
connection with the settlement of RSUs. If we difan these leasing and credit obligations, ousilgg partners and lenders may, among other things:
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. require repayment of any outstanding lease obbgator amounts drawn on our credit facilit

. terminate our leasing arrangements and credittiasi
. terminate our access to the leased data centeunsilize;
. stop delivery of ordered equipme

. sell or require us to return our leased equipnmar

. require us to pay significant damay

If some or all of these events were to occur, querations may be interrupted and our ability todfwur operations or obligations, as well as
business, financial results, and financial conditicould be adversely affected.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated |tabilities.

Our income tax obligations are based in part oncouporate operating structure and intercompangngements, including the manner in wi
we develop, value, and use our intellectual prgpartd the valuations of our intercompany transastiorhe tax laws applicable to our busin
including the laws of the United States and otheislictions, are subject to interpretation. Theirntg authorities of the jurisdictions in which
operate may challenge our methodologies for valuegeloped technology or intercompany arrangememitéch could increase our worldwi
effective tax rate and harm our financial positaord results of operations. We are subject to regeldew and audit by U.S. federal and state
foreign tax authorities. Tax authorities may digsgwith certain positions we have taken and ang@gvoutcome of such a review or audit could
a negative effect on our financial position andihssof operations. In addition, the determinatidrour worldwide provision for income taxes andes
tax liabilities requires significant judgment by na@ement, and there are many transactions wherdtimate tax determination is uncertain. Altho
we believe that our estimates are reasonable, Itheate tax outcome may differ from the amountsorded in our financial statements and |
materially affect our financial results in the petior periods for which such determination is mddeaddition, our future income taxes coulc
adversely affected by earnings being lower thaitipated in jurisdictions that have lower statuttay rates and higher than anticipated in jurisolics
that have higher statutory tax rates, by changehenvaluation of our deferred tax assets andliiegsi, or by changes in tax laws, regulations
accounting principles. For example, we have preslipincurred losses in certain international suiasiés that resulted in an effective tax rate ik
significantly higher than the statutory tax ratetia United States and this could continue to happéhe future.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings could materialffect our financial position and results of opetians.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings could materiaf§ect our financial position and results of opiemes. For example, the current L
administration and key members of Congress havesrpablic statements indicating that internatioral is a priority. Certain changes to U.S.
laws, including limitations on the ability to deferS. taxation on earnings outside of the UniteateSt until those earnings are repatriated to thtet
States, could affect the tax treatment of our fpredarnings. In addition, other countries are @eriig changes to their tax regimes in an efforates
additional tax proceeds from companies such asbieate Due to the large and expanding scale of mermational business activities, any chang
the taxation of such activities may increase ouravade effective tax rate and harm our financiasition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common 8tk
The trading price of our Class A common stock haseln and will likely continue to be volatile.

The trading price of our Class A common stock heenb and is likely to continue to be, volatile. @irshares of our Class A common stock
sold in our IPO in May 2012 at a price of $38.00 gieare, our stock price has ranged from $17.58800 through December 31, 2012 addition t
the factors discussed in this Annual Report on FafK, the trading price of our Class A common stockyrflactuate significantly in response
numerous factors, many of which are beyond ourrogrincluding:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenod ather operating resul
. the financial projections we may provide to the lpylany changes in these projections or our faitior meet these projectio
. actions of securities analysts who initiate or rteimcoverage of us, changes in financial estimayeany securities analysts who foll

our company, or our failure to meet these estimatéle expectations of investors;
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. additional shares of our common stock being sdhl ine market by us or our existing stockholdertheranticipation of such sal
. investor sentiment with respect to our competitots,business partners, and our industry in gej

. announcements by us or our competitors of sigmfipgoducts or features, technical innovationsuéitions, strategic partnerships, jc
ventures, or capital commitments;

. announcements by us or estimates by third parfiastaal or anticipated changes in the size ofusar base, the level of user engage!
or the effectiveness of our ad products;

. changes in operating performance and stock magtaations of technology companies in our industrgluding our Platform develope
and competitors;

. price and volume fluctuations in the overall stocérket, including as a result of trends in the eoay as a whol

. media coverage of our business and financial p@dorce

. lawsuits threatened or filed against

. developments in new legislation and pending lawsait regulatory actions, including interim or firallings by judicial or regulato
bodies; and

. other events or factors, including those resulfiogh war or incidents of terrorism, or responsethizse event

In addition, the stock markets have experiencetemé price and volume fluctuations that have af@@nd continue to affect the market pr
of equity securities of many technology compani8sock prices of many technology companies havetuated in a manner unrelated
disproportionate to the operating performance oséhcompanies. Following our IPO, the events sading the offering became the subjec
securities litigation. We may experience more slitpation following future periods of volatilityAny securities litigation could subject us
substantial costs, divert resources and the adtenfi management from our business, and adverffelst @ur business.

Substantially all of our total outstanding sharegseavailable for sale into the public market and wsubstantial sales of our stock could cause
price of our Class A common stock to declir

The price of our Class A common stock could declinthere are substantial sales of our common stpekticularly sales by our directc
executive officers, employees, and significant ldbodders, or when there is a large number of shafesir common stock available for sale. A:
December 31, 2012 , there were 1,671,277,621 sbéms Class A common stock and 701,427,5fdres of our Class B common stock outstan
Shares of our Class B common stock are conveiitibéean equivalent number of shares of our Clase#mon stock and generally convert into st
of our Class A common stock upon transfer.

As of December 31, 2012substantially all of our outstanding shares aalable for sale into the market, except for 43,862 shares held
Mail.ru Group Limited and DST Global Limited ancethrespective affiliates, which will be eligiblerfsale in the public market on May 18, 2013,
426 million outstanding shares and 60 million skassuable upon the exercise of an option held bykMuckerberg. Mr. Zuckerberg has informe:
that he has no intention to conduct any sale tidioges in our securities until at least Septemisr2

If securities or industry analysts publish inaccui@ or unfavorable research about our business, @tiock price could decline

The trading market for our Class A common stockethels in part on the research and reports thatieswr industry analysts publish abou
or our business. If one or more of the analysts wdner us downgrade the rating of our Class A comstock or publish inaccurate or unfavor:
research about our business, our Class A commohk ptize could decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foresedediture.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends owcapital stock. We currently intend to retain dnture earnings to finance the operation
expansion of our business, and we do not expadtdtare or pay any dividends in the foreseeablaréutAs a result, you may only receive a retur
your investment in our Class A common stock if theging price of our Class A common stock increasesaddition, our credit facilities conte
restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.

27




If we are unable to implement and maintain effeatiinternal control over financial reporting in thduture, investors may lose confidence in :
accuracy and completeness of our financial repoatsd the trading price of our Class A common stoclayrbe negatively affected.

We are required to maintain internal controls dugancial reporting and to report any material weadses in such internal controls. In addi
beginning with our 2013 Annual Report on FormKL@s be filed in 2014, we will be required to fushia report by management on the effectivene
our internal control over financial reporting pusstito Section 404 of the Sarbar@sley Act. We are in the process of designing, engnting, an
testing the internal control over financial repogtirequired to comply with this obligation, whiclopess is time consuming, costly, and complicdft
we identify material weaknesses in our internalte@rover financial reporting, if we are unabledomply with the requirements of Section 404
timely manner or assert that our internal contrardinancial reporting is effective, or if our iegendent registered public accounting firm is uaat
express an opinion as to the effectiveness of oternal control over financial reporting, investarmy lose confidence in the accuracy
completeness of our financial reports and the miggirice of our Class A common stock could be rieght affected, and we could become subje
investigations by the stock exchange on which eausties are listed, the SEC, or other regulatarthorities, which could require additional finaal
and management resources.

The requirements of being a public company may straur resources and divert management's attention.

We are subject to the reporting requirements ofS@eurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended S#nbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodarank Act
the listing requirements of the NASDAQ Global Selstarket, and other applicable securities rules mgiilations. Compliance with these rules
regulations has increased and may/will continuentwease our legal and financial compliance costake some activities more difficult, time-
consuming, or costly, and increase demand on agtesys and resources. As a result, managementdiattenay be diverted from other busir
concerns, which could harm our business and operagisults. Although we have hired additional emeés to comply with these requirements
may need to hire more employees in the future, whiitl increase our costs and expenses.

In addition, complying with public disclosure rulesakes our business more visible, which we belimay result in threatened or aci
litigation, including by competitors and other thjparties. If such claims are successful, our lassimnd operating results could be harmed, andi
the claims do not result in litigation or are resal in our favor, these claims, and the time astueces necessary to resolve them, could dive
resources of our management and harm our busindssperating results.

The dual class structure of our common stock ana thoting agreements among certain stockholders htheeeffect of concentrating voting contr
with our CEO, and also with employees and directared their affiliates; this will limit or precludeyour ability to influence corporate matters.

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per shatkpar Class A common stock has one vote per sisaoekholders who hold shares
Class B common stock, including our executive effic employees, and directors and their affiliaiegether hold a substantial majority of the vo
power of our outstanding capital stock. Becaus¢heften-toene voting ratio between our Class B and Class wwmon stock, the holders of ¢
Class B common stock collectively control a majonf the combined voting power of our common stackl therefore are able to control all ma
submitted to our stockholders for approval so lasgthe shares of Class B common stock represdagsit 9.1% of all outstanding shares of
Class A and Class B common stock. This concentrededrol will limit or preclude your ability to imfience corporate matters for the foresee
future.

Future transfers by holders of Class B common statikgenerally result in those shares convertingCtass A common stock, subject to lim
exceptions, such as certain transfers effecte@gtate planning or charitable purposes. The coiorerd Class B common stock to Class A comi
stock will have the effect, over time, of increasiie relative voting power of those holders of$SI8 common stock who retain their shares i
long term. If, for example, Mr. Zuckerberg retamsignificant portion of his holdings of Class Bromon stock for an extended period of time
could, in the future, continue to control a majpof the combined voting power of our Class A comnstock and Class B common stock.

We have elected to take advantage of the "contlmmpany" exemption to the corporate governancdesifor NASDAQlsted companies, whic
could make our Class A common stock less attractiveome investors or otherwise harm our stock pric

Because we qualify as a "controlled company" utidercorporate governance rules for NASDASed companies, we are not required to he
majority of our board of directors be independert; are we required to have a compensation comenittean independent nominating functior
light of our status as a controlled company, owar®f directors determined not to have an indepenhdominating function and chose to have the
board of directors be directly responsible for noating members of our board, and in the future addcelect not to have a majority of our boar
directors be independent or not to have a compensabmmittee. Accordingly, should the interestoaf controlling stockholder differ from those
other stockholders, the other stockholders mayhaot the same protections afforded to stockholdérsompanies that are subject to all of
corporate governance rules for NASDAQ-listed con&nOur status as a controlled company could make&€lass A common stock less attractive to
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some investors or otherwise harm our stock price.

Delaware law and provisions in our restated ceut#ite of incorporation and bylaws could make a mergender offer, or proxy contest difficu
thereby depressing the trading price of our Class@mmon stock.

Our status as a Delaware corporation and thetakeiever provisions of the Delaware General Cotjpmrd_aw may discourage, delay, or pre\

a change in control by prohibiting us from engagimg@ business combination with an interested stolder for a period of three years after the pe
becomes an interested stockholder, even if a chahgentrol would be beneficial to our existing atbolders. In addition, our restated certificat
incorporation and bylaws contain provisions thaymeake the acquisition of our company more difficiricluding the following:

until the first date on which the outstanding seasEour Class B common stock represent less tB&m & the combined voting power
our common stock, any transaction that would reisult change in control of our company requiresapproval of a majority of o
outstanding Class B common stock voting as a sépalass;

we have a dual class common stock structure, whriotides Mr. Zuckerberg with the ability to conttbke outcome of matters requir
stockholder approval, even if he owns significandgs than a majority of the shares of our outstan€lass A and Class B comn
stock;

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comrumk sepresent less than a majority of the combir@thg power of common stoc
certain amendments to our restated certificatenodriporation or bylaws will require the approvalteb-thirds of the combined vote
our then-outstanding shares of Class A and ClassnBnon stock;

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comrtunk sepresent less than a majority of the combiwaithg power of our comme
stock, vacancies on our board of directors wilabée to be filled only by our board of directorglarot by stockholders;

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comrtuuk sepresent less than a majority of the combwaithg power of our comme
stock, our board of directors will be classifietbithree classes of directors with staggered thesg-terms and directors will only be &
to be removed from office for cause;

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comrtuuk sepresent less than a majority of the combwaithg power of our comme
stock, our stockholders will only be able to takéan at a meeting of stockholders and not by emittonsent;

only our chairman, our chief executive officer, @uesident, or a majority of our board of directars authorized to call a special mee
of stockholders;

advance notice procedures apply for stockholdensominate candidates for election as directorsodoring matters before an ann
meeting of stockholders;

our restated certificate of incorporation authaizedesignated preferred stock, the terms of whiaely be established, and share
which may be issued, without stockholder approzad

certain litigation against us can only be broughbelaware
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comment
None.
Item 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2012, we leased office and deder facilities around the world totaling approaiely 2.2 million square feet, includi
one million square feet for our corporate headeuarin Menlo Park, California. We have data cenierthe United States, including data ce
facilities that we own in North Carolina and Oregand leased data center facilities in California afirginia. We believe that our facilities
adequate for our current needs. To support ouiiraging growth, we are currently constructing a riata center in Luled, Sweden.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Paul D. Ceglia filed suit against us and Mark Zubkeg on or about June 30, 2010, in the Supremat@duhe State of New York for tl
County of Allegheny, claiming substantial ownersbfpour company based on a purported contract kestvr. Ceglia and Mr. Zuckerberg allege
entered into in April 2003. We removed the casthéoU.S. District Court for the Western Districtidéw York, where the case is now pending. Ir
first amended complaint, filed on April 11, 2011r.Meglia revised his claims to include an allegedn@aship with Mr. Zuckerberg, he revised
claims for relief to seek a substantial share of Elrckerberg's ownership in us, and he includedajioms from supposed emails that he claims to
exchanged with Mr. Zuckerberg in 2003 and 2004.J0me 2, 2011, we filed a motion for expedited discy based on evidence we submitted tc
court showing that the alleged contract and emagitsn which Mr. Ceglia bases his complaint are feéewt. On July 1, 2011, the court granted
motion and ordered Mr. Ceglia to produce, amongerothings, all hard copy and electronic versionsthef purported contract and emails.
January 10, 2012, the court granted our requestfioctions against Mr. Ceglia for his delay in cbamze with that order. On March 26, 2012, we 1
a motion to dismiss Mr. Ceglia's complaint and atiamfor judgment on the pleadings. We continueb&dieve that Mr. Ceglia is attempting
perpetrate a fraud on the court and we intend mtimoe to defend the case vigorously.

Beginning on May 22, 2012, multiple putative classions, derivative actions, and individual actierese filed in state and federal courts in
United States and in other jurisdictions againstous directors, and/or certain of our officereglhg violation of securities laws or breach olficary
duties in connection with our IPO and seeking uodigel damages. We believe these lawsuits are witloerit, and we intend to continue
vigorously defend them. On October 4, 2012, onration, the vast majority of the cases in the UWhifates, along with multiple cases filed agi
The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. and The Nasdaq Stock hdatLC (collectively referred to herein as NASDA@I)eging technical and other trading-
related errors by NASDAQ in connection with our |P@ere ordered centralized for coordinated or cheated pretrial proceedings in the Unit
States District Court for the Southern DistrictNg#w York. In addition, the events surrounding de®lhave become the subject of various govern
inquiries, and we are cooperating with those iriggirAny such inquiries could subject us to sulisthiosts, divert resources and the attentic
management from our business, and adversely aftediusiness.

We are also party to various legal proceedingscéaichs which arise in the ordinary course of businémong these pending legal matters,
cases are currently scheduled for trial in the met@re: Summit 6 LLC v. Research in Motion Corporationlet £ase No. 3:11cv00367, is sched.
to begin trial as early as February 19, 2013, sWhS. District Court for the Northern District ©&xas, and’imelines, Inc. v. Facebook, In€ase Nc
1:2011cv06867, is scheduled to begin trial on Ap#J 2013, in the U.S. District Court for the Nath District of lllinois. In theSummit 6case, th
plaintiffs allege that Facebook infringes certastgmts held by the plaintiffs. In thémelinescase, the plaintiffs allege that Facebook infring
trademark held by the plaintiffs. In both cases, ghaintiffs are seeking significant monetary dassagnd equitable relief.

We believe the claims made by tBaimmit 6plaintiffs and theTimelinesplaintiffs are without merit, and we intend to dooe to defen
ourselves vigorously in both cases. Although theeeme of litigation is inherently uncertain, we ot believe the possibility of loss in either bés:
cases is probable. We are unable to estimatege mafnoss, if any, that could result were therbeaan adverse final decision, and we have notiac
a liability for either matter. If an unfavorabletoome were to occur in tfBummit 6case and/or th&imelinescase, it is possible that the impact ct
be material to our results of operations in theqo§s) in which any such outcome becomes probatileestimable.

In addition, we are also currently parties to npldtiother lawsuits related to our products, inatgdother patent infringement lawsuits as we
class action lawsuits brought by users and marketerd we may in the future be subject to addititmasuits and disputes. We are also involve
other claims, government investigations, and proicegs arising from the ordinary course of our basi Although the results of these other laws
claims, government investigations, and proceeding&hich we are involved cannot be predicted widntainty, we do not believe that the fi
outcome of these other matters will have a matadakrse effect on our business, financial comtljtoy results of operations.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Sto&holder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seatties.
Market Information for Common Stock

Our Class A common stock has been listed on theNX@ Global Select Market under the symbol "FB" sirday 18, 2012. Prior to that tin
there was no public market for our stock. The folltg table sets forth for the indicated periodshigh and low intraday sales prices per share for
Class A common stock on the NASDAQ Global Selectkda

High Low
Second Quarter 2012 (from May 18, 2012) $ 4500 $ 25.52
Third Quarter 2012 32.8¢ 17.5¢
Fourth Quarter 2012 28.8¢ 18.8(

Our Class B common stock is not listed nor tradedmy stock exchange.
Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2012, there were 4,681 stocldnsldf record of our Class A common stock, andctbeing price of our Class A comir
stock was $26.62 per share as reported on the NABDB4obal Select Market. Because many of our shafeSlass A common stock are held
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stod#tbrs, we are unable to estimate the total numbstockholders represented by these record ho
As of December 31, 2012, there were 324 stockhslderecord of our Class B common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividenduwwncommon stock. We intend to retain any futueenigs and do not expect to |
dividends in the foreseeable future. In additiaur, @redit facilities contain restrictions on ouilép to pay dividends.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and fiiated Purchasers

The table below provides information with respectépurchases of unvested shares of our Class Anoconstock for the three months ended
December 31, 2012.

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of Shares that
Total Number of Weighted Average Purchased as Part of Publicly ~ May Yet Be Purchased Under the
Period Shares Purchased (1) Price Paid per Share ~ Announced Plans or Programs Plans or Programs
October 1 — October 31, 2012 — —
November 1 — November 30, 2012 4,84¢ $0.32272 — —

December 1 — December 31, 2012 — — — —
1) Under certain acquisition agreements, some shssaed in connection with those acquisitionssatgect to vesting. Unvested shares are subjectight of repurchase by us in the event
the recipient of such unvested acquisition share®ilonger employed by us prior to a vesting dalleshares in the above table were shares repsechas a result of us exercising this r
and not pursuant to a publicly announced plan ogram.
Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities and Use afdéeeds

Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities

On October 1, 2012, we issued 94,547 additionateshaf our Class A common stock as consideratio® individuals and 5 entities
connection with an acquisition of all the outstangdshares of a company in the third quarter of 2012

The sales of the above securities were exempt fegistration under the Securities Act of 1933, m&rded (Securities Act), in reliance u
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactibypsan issuer not involving any public offering. Thecipients of the securities in each of t
transactions represented their intentions to aegthie securities for investment only and not witlview to or for sale in connection with
distribution thereof, and appropriate legends vpdaeed upon the book-entry entitlements issuetigttansaction.
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Use of Proceeds

On May 17, 2012, our registration statement on F&+h (File No. 333t79287) was declared effective by the Securitied BrRchang
Commission (SEC) for our initial public offering rsuant to which we sold an aggregate of 180,000sb@@es of our Class A common stock at a
to the public of $38.00 per share. There has beematerial change in the planned use of proceeats &ur initial public offering as described in
final prospectus filed with the SEC on May 18, 2@l@suant to Rule 424(b).

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed "solgitnaterial" or to be "filed" with the SEC for qposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exch
Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or othersiject to the liabilities under that Sectiondashall not be deemed to be incorporates
reference into any filing of Facebook, Inc. undes Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the EbgehAct.

The following graph shows a comparison from May 2812 (the date our Class A common stock commetredihg on the NASDAQ Glob
Select Market) through December 31, 2012 of theuative total return for our Class A common stoitle Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index (¢
500 Index) and the Nasdaq Composite Index (NASDAnQosite). The graph assumes that $100 was invatteeé market close on May 18, 201
the Class A common stock of Facebook, Inc., the S8P Index and the NASDAQ Composite and data fer 3&P 500 Index and the NASD/
Composite assumes reinvestments of dividends. Tuk price performance of the following graph i necessarily indicative of future stock pi
performance.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

You should read the following selected consoliddieancial data in conjunction with Part Il, ltem"Management's Discussion and Analysi
Financial Condition and Results of Operation," @l consolidated financial statements and the edlabtes included in Part Il, Iltem 8, "Finan
Statements and Supplementary Data" of this AnneglR on Form 10-K.

The consolidated statements of operations datedoh of the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2@thd 2010and the consolidated balal
sheets data as of December 31, 2012 and 264 Herived from our audited consolidated finanstatements included in Part II, Item 8, "Finar
Statements and Supplementary Data" of this AnnueggoR on Form 1. The consolidated statements of operations datattfe years end
December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the consolidateahtalsheets data as of December 31, 2010 , 2008 2@08are derived from our audit
consolidated financial statements that are noudd in this Annual Report on Form KO-Our historical results are not necessarily iatlie of ou

results in any future period.

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008

2012

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 5,08¢ $
Total costs and expensés 4,551
Income (loss) from operations 53¢
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 494
Net income (loss) 53
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A and CRss
common stockholders 32
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Clasad\ &
Class B common stockholdéfs

Basic $ 0.0z %

Diluted $ 0.01 $

(in millions, except per share data)

3,711 $ 1,97¢ $ 777 $ 272
1,95¢ 94z 51t 327
1,75¢ 1,037 262 (55)
1,69t 1,00¢ 254 (56)
1,00( 60€ 22¢ (56)
66¢ 372 122 (56)
05: $ 03¢ $ 01z $ (0.0€)
0.4€ $ 026 $ 0.1C $ (0.0€)

(1) Total costs and expenses include $1.57 billis217 million , $20 million , $27 million and $3dillion of sharebased compensation for the years ended Decemb@032, 201!

2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

(2) See Note 3 of the notes to our consolidated firmstatements for a description of our computatibbasic and diluted net earnings (loss) per satiributable to Class A and Clas

common stockholders.

As of December 31,

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities $
Working capital

Property and equipment, net

Total assets

Capital lease obligations

Long-term debt

Total liabilities

Additional paid-in capital

Total stockholders' equity

Free Cash Flow

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in millions)

9,62¢ $ 3,90¢ $ 1,78 % 63 $ 297
10,21¢ 3,70t 1,851 70z 27¢
2,391 1,47¢ 574 14¢ 131
15,10¢ 6,331 2,99( 1,10¢ 50t
85€ 677 22% 95 56
1,50(C — 25C — —
3,34¢ 1,43z 82¢ 241 17C
10,09¢ 2,68¢ 947 258 147
11,75¢ 4,89¢ 2,16z 86¢ 33t

In addition to other financial measures presemeakcicordance with U.S. generally accepted accagiptiimciples (GAAP), we monitor free ce
flow (FCF) as a nolGAAP measure to manage our business, make plami@ogions, evaluate our performance, and alloezgeurces. We defil
FCF as net cash provided by operating activitieliced by purchases of property and equipment ampepty and equipment acquired under ca

leases.

We believe that FCF is one of the key financiaiéatbrs of our business performance over the leng &and provides useful
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information regarding how cash provided by operptintivities compares to the property and equiprirer@stments required to maintain and grow
business. We have chosen to subtract both purcldsgoperty and equipment and property and equippraequired under capital leases in
calculation of FCF because we believe that theseitswms collectively represent the amount of prgpand equipment we need to procure to su|
our business, regardless of whether we finance pumberty or equipment with a capital lease. Theketafor financing servers and other techr
equipment is dynamic and we expect our use of alpiases could vary significantly from year toyea

We have chosen our definition for FCF because Wievgethat this methodology can provide useful $epntal information to help invest
better understand underlying trends in our busin&gsuse FCF in discussions with our senior managésind board of directors.

FCF has limitations as an analytical tool, and ghould not consider it in isolation or as a subggitfor analysis of other GAAP financ
measures, such as net cash provided by operatingias. Some of the limitations of FCF are:

. FCF does not reflect our future contractual comraiits; an
. other companies in our industry present simjléitled measures differently than we do, limititggir usefulness as comparative measures.

Management compensates for the inherent limitatéms®ciated with using the FCF measure throughodisie of such limitations, presental
of our financial statements in accordance with GAARd reconciliation of FCF to the most directlynmarable GAAP measure, net cash provide
operating activities, as presented below.

The following is a reconciliation of FCF to the heemparable GAAP measure, net cash provided byatipg activities:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in millions)
Net cash provided by operating activitiés $ 161z $ 1,54¢ $ 69€ $ 158§ 8
Purchases of property and equipment (1,23%) (60€) (299 (39 (70)
Property and equipment acquired under capital ease (340 473 (217) (56) (26)
Free cash flow $ 37 % 47C  $ 18¢ % 66 $ (898)

1) For the year ended December 31, 2012, net camslidpd by operating activities was reduced by $#8llion of income tax refundable from income tas$ carrybacks due to
recognition of tax benefits related to shhesed compensation from RSUs granted prior to Jpriy@2011. We expect to receive this refund inftte six months of 2013, at which tin
our FCF will increase by this amount.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial@dition and Results of Operation

You should read the following discussion of ouaficial condition and results of operations in camgtion with our consolidated financial stateme
and the related notes included in Part Il, Iten'Binancial Statements and Supplementary Data" of &nnual Report on Form 1R: In addition tc
our historical consolidated financial informatiothe following discussion contains forwal@bking statements that reflect our plans, estirmagac
beliefs. Our actual results could differ materialtpm those discussed in the forwdeaking statements. Factors that could cause otrdaute to thes
differences include those discussed below and bks@win this Annual Report on Form KQ-particularly in Part I, Item 1A, "Risk FactorsFor a
discussion of limitations in the measurement ofaterof our user metrics, see the section entitlédhitations of Key Metrics."

Overview

Our mission is to make the world more open and eotad. Facebook enables you to express yourseltamuect with the world around y
instantly and freely.

We build products that support our mission by éngatitility for users, developers, and marketers:

Users.We enable people who use Facebook to stay connedtedheir friends and family, to discover whatgeing on in the world aroui
them, and to share and express what matters totthéme people they care about.

DevelopersWe enable developers to use the Facebook Platimfouitd applications (apps) and websites that mstegwith Facebook to ree
our global network of users and to build produbts ire more personalized and social.

Marketers We enable marketers to engage with more than dienlinonthly active users (MAUs) on Facebook obsets of our users basec
information they have chosen to share with us saghheir age, location, gender, or interests. Wer oharketers a unique combination of re
relevance, social context, and engagement to eptthrovalue of their ads.

We generate substantially all of our revenue fraluestising and from fees associated with our Paymarirastructure that enables user
purchase virtual and digital goods from our Platfatevelopers. For the year ended December 31, 204 Pecorded revenue of $5.09 billipmcome
from operations of $538 million and net income &83%nillion . Total costs and expenses increasedd83mpared to revenue growth of 3tie tc
significant increases in shabased compensation and related payroll tax expdosesstricted stock units (RSUs) and increasdseiadcount for tt
year ended December 31, 2012. During fiscal 20E2regognized $1.72 billion of shabased compensation and related payroll tax expe@dehes:
amounts, $1.13 billion was due to the recognitidrslearebased compensation and related payroll tax expenedeted to RSUs granted prior
January 1, 2011 (Pr2811 RSUs) triggered by the completion of our @ifublic offering (IPO) in May 2012. Our effectitax rate for the year enc
December 31, 2012 has exceeded the U.S. statw@yprimarily due to the impact of non-deductibterebased compensation and losses ar
outside the United States in jurisdictions wheredeenot receive a tax benefit.

Trends in Our User Metrics

The numbers of MAUs, DAUSs, and mobile MAUs discukbelow, as well as average revenue per user (AR&RUot include Instagram users un
such users would otherwise qualify as MAUs, DAUd/an mobile MAUs based on activity that is sharadkto Facebook.

* Monthly Active Users (MAUs)We define a monthly active user as a registereélbaak user who logged in and visited Facebook thh
our website or a mobile device, or took an actimrshiare content or activity with his or her Facdbfiends or connections via a third-
party website that is integrated with Facebookhim last 30 days as of the date of measurement. /& a measure of the size of
global active user community, which has grown saiglly in the past several years.
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Monthly Active Users
Worldwide
(in millions)
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Note: For purposes of reporting MAUs, DAUs, and ARBY geographic region, Europe includes all userRussia and Turkey, Asia includes all users irtralia and Nev
Zealand, and Rest of World includes Africa, Latmeica, and the Middle East. In June 2012, we disced an error in the algorithm we used to estinthge geographi
location of our users that affected our attributiohcertain user locations for the first quarter2012. While this issue did not affect our ovevadrldwide MAU number,
did affect our attribution of users to differentoggaphic regions. The first quarter of 2012 usertnoe as pictured in the charts above reflect tleelassification to moi
correctly attribute users by geographic region.

As of December 31, 2012, we had 1.06 billion MAWB,increase of 25%om December 31, 2011. Users in Brazil, India émibnesi:
represented key sources of growth in fiscal 201&tive to the prior year. We had 67 million MAUsRBrazil as of December 31, 2012,
increase of 81% compared to the same period in;20&lhad 71 million MAUSs in India as of December, 2012, an increase of 5¢
compared to the same period in 2011; and we hadiion MAUs in Indonesia as of December 31, 2044 ,increase of 25% comparet
the same period in 2011. Additionally, we had 17Hdion MAUs in the United States as of December 2012, an increase of ¢
compared to the same period in 2011.

Daily Active Users (DAUs)We define a daily active user as a registered Fadehser who logged in and visited Facebook thromg
website or a mobile device, or took an action tarslcontent or activity with his or her Faceboakrfds or connections via a thipaity
website that is integrated with Facebook, on argiday. We view DAUs, and DAUs as a percentage ofUdAas measures of u
engagement.
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do not meaningfully differ from the average numhehnen calculated over a full month.

Worldwide DAUs increased 28% to 618 million on eage during December 2012 from 483 millidring December 2011. Vv
experienced growth in DAUs across major marketsu@fing Brazil, India and Japan. Overall growth ilDs was driven largely t
increased mobile usage of Facebook. Relative toeSdger 30, 2012, DAUs increased from 584 millior61® million, due to an increa
in mobile users. During the fourth quarter of 20tt# number of DAUs using personal computers dedlimodestly compared to the tt

quarter of 2012, including declines in key marlgish as the United States, while mobile DAUs camthto increase.
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Mobile MAUs . We define a mobile MAU as a user who accesse@leamk via a mobile app or via mobiptimized versions of o
website such as m.facebook.com, whether on a mpbdee or tablet such as the iPad, during the gerioneasurement.

Worldwide mobile MAUs increased 57% to 680 millias of December 31, 2012 from 432 millias of December 31, 2011. In all regic
an increasing number of our MAUs are accessing beaade through mobile devices, with users in the &bhiStates, India and Bre
representing key sources of mobile growth overftheth quarter of 2012 as compared to the thirdrigmeof 2012. ApproximatelyL57
million mobile MAUs accessed Facebook solely through maiples or our mobile website during the month eridedember 31, 201
increasing 25% from 126 million during the monthded September 30, 2012. The remaining 523 milliowbile MAUs accesst
Facebook from both personal computers and mobilécele during that month. While most of our mobilgets also access Faceb
through personal computers, we anticipate thatr#te of growth in mobile usage will exceed the dgiouwn usage through perso
computers for the foreseeable future and that Hage through personal computers may be flat oiragto decline in certain marke
including key developed markets such as the Urfiiedes, in part due to our focus on developing feglioducts to encourage mol
usage of Facebook.

Mobile Monthly Active Users
Worldwide
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Trends in Our Monetization by User Geography

We calculate our revenue by user geography basexioestimate of the geography in which ad impmssiare delivered or virtual goods
purchased. We define ARPU as our total revenuediven geography during a given quarter, dividedh®s average of the number of MAUs in
geography at the beginning and end of the quaktatual ARPU is the sum of respective quarterly AR&ghbunts in that year. Our revenue and Al
in markets such as United States & Canada and Ewop relatively higher due to the size and matwitthose advertising markets as well as
greater sales presence and the number of paymenodsethat we make available to marketers and users
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(in § millions)
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ARPU: $0.46 50.43 50,50 £0.56 50.56 50,53 $0.55 50.58 50.69 ARPU: $0.33 50.31 50.38 50,40 $0.41 50,37 S0.4a 50,47 50.56

M Advertising Revenue Payments and Other Fees Revenue

Note: Our revenue by user geography in the chabisva is geographically apportioned based on ouinefon of the geographic location of our users whieey perform a reven-
generating activity. This allocation differs fronurorevenue by geography disclosure in our constdiddinancial statements where revenue is geogcaiiii apportioned based on 1
location of the advertiser or developer. In Jund20we discovered an error in the algorithm we usedstimate the geographic location of our usket &ffected our attribution of certe
user locations for the first quarter of 2012. Thmstfquarter of 2012 ARPU amount for the Unitedt&a& Canada region reflects an adjustment basedhenreclassification to mo
correctly attribute users by geographic region. Hmeounts above for the fourth quarter of 2012 idela one-time increase in Payments revenue asideddn Results of Operations.
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For 2012, worldwide ARPU was $5.32, an increasé%ffrom 2011. ARPU increased in 2012 by approxitga28% in the United States
Canada and Rest of World, by approximately 15% d$ia/and 8% in Europe compared to 2011. During ¢ttt quarter of 2012, worldwide AR}
was $1.54 , an increase of 1Z86m the fourth quarter of 2011. Over this periddRPU increased by approximately 37% in Rest of \Woby ove
20% in United States & Canada and Asia, and byaqmately 7% in Europe. User growth was more rapigeographies with relatively lower ARF
such as Asia and Rest of World. We expect that gsarth in the future will continue to be higherthose regions where ARPU is relatively lov
such as Asia and Rest of World, such that worldwiétU may continue to increase at a slower rataivel to ARPU in any geographic region
potentially decrease even if ARPU increases in ggcgraphic region. We also expect worldwide ARAW decline in the first quarter of 2013 driv
by seasonality, which is consistent with historitahds.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Number of MAUs and DAUsTrends in our MAUs and DAUs affect our revenud éinancial results by influencing the number o ade ar
able to show, the volume of Payments transactiassyell as our expenses and capital expenditune8012, MAUs increased by 25&mnd DAU:
increased by 28%We expect our growth rates for MAUs and DAUs &ezlithe as the size of our active user base incseaisé as we achieve hig
market penetration rates. Additionally, as we gmw business and expand internationally, we exjgefdce challenges entering new markets su
China, where access to Facebook is restricted mlendr in part. As user growth rates slow, we expiee rate of growth in revenue will likely decl
over time, which will affect our income from opecats and net income.

User GeographyThe geography of our users affects our revenue farahcial results because we currently monetizersuge differen
geographies at different average rates. For exami®U for an average user in United States & Cariadnore than five times higher than fo
average user in Asia. User geography also has sapeet on our costs, though in general new usesssia and Rest of World do not require mate
incremental infrastructure investments because neeable to utilize existing infrastructure suchoas data centers in the United States to mak
products available to these users. In addition; geewth by geography does not necessarily affectoverall headcount requirements or headcount
related expenses since we are generally able fwosupsers in all geographies from our existinglifées. In 2012, we grew users relatively faste
Asia and Rest of World where on average users geniss revenue as compared with users in thed)8itates or Europe. In the future, we expe
continue to grow more rapidly in Asia and Rest odWf markets where our current penetration ratedawer. We plan to continue to invest in t
growth across the world, including in geographié®ie current per user monetization is relativelydo

User EngagementChanges in user engagement as measured by netdess frequency of visitation will also affecr sevenue and financ
performance. Growth in user engagement should généncrease the opportunities for us to displayeatising and to deliver relevant commer
content to users. Growth in user engagement alserghy results in increases in our expenses apitiat@xpenditures required to support user agt
User engagement as measured by DAUs as a percaritdgaUs increased from 57% at the end of 2011 $&65at the end of 2012. Our prod
development investments are focused on increasiegangagement over time.

Facebook Usage on Mobile Devicéscreasing Facebook use on mobile devices may taff@crevenue and financial results as we curr
show fewer ads on average to mobile users comparesers on personal computers. The lower volunssfper mobile user is partially offset by
higher price per ad for mobile, and we are investmtry to make our mobile ads more valuable diee. In 2012, we began showing ads in mc
users' News Feeds, and for the fourth quarter @2 20hd for the year ended December 31, 2012, viraast that approximately 23% and 11% of
ads revenue came from mobile products, respectiVéé/expect mobile usage to increase at a fadeethran usage through personal computers ft
foreseeable future, particularly in developed merkand our success in ramping up mobile monetizatiill likely have a material impact on ¢
financial performance.

Value of Our Advertising ProductsVe believe that increasing the value of our afilsiag products and the consequent return on invest tc
marketers from working with Facebook will increasarketer demand and thereby increase the amouketees spend with us. We aim to increas:
value of our advertising products through such meincreasing the size and engagement of ourbaser, improving our ability to select relev
advertising content for each user, developing nds/farmats and products, and improving the measemenools available to marketers to optin
their campaigns. For example, in 2012, we laundthebrtising in News Feed and Custom Audiencesderoio enable marketers to more effecti
reach their target customers.

Management of Ad InventoryOur revenue trends are also affected by ad imvgntanagement changes affecting the number, sk
prominence of ads we display. For example, in 20&Zegan showing ads in News Feed. These Newsdeedre displayed more prominently
we receive a higher price per ad compared to agdadied on the right hand column of our web page.

Product InnovationWe make ongoing product changes intended to enhtheceser experience and increase user engagefuergxample, i
2012, we launched new versions of our iPhone appate faster and more reliable than the priorigassof our app. The new versions of the
significantly increased News Feed loads and ussilfack shared. Our new products often also increass if they require additional compute pc
and infrastructure.
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Investment in InfrastructuréOur investments in the scope, reliability, redureyarand efficiency of our infrastructure affects @xpenses al
capital expenditures. In 2012, we continued to msigaificant investments in our technical infrastiue to ensure that our growing user base
access Facebook rapidly and reliably, by expantlregcapacity of our data centers in Prineville, dore and Forest City, North Carolina and
initiating construction of a new data center projecLulea, Sweden. We also invested in hardwaik software efficiency projects to improve
performance of our infrastructure.

Investment in TalenAs of December 31, 2012, we had 4,619 employeesicaease of 44%rom the end of 2011. Our employee headcoun
increased significantly and we expect headcounivtirdo continue in 2013 as we ramp up our investnrettechnical staff, sales and marketing,
general and administrative personnel. We have mlade and intend to make acquisitions with the pmnubjective of adding software engine
product designers, and other personnel with cetéginnology expertise.

Business Development and AcquisitioAs. part of our business strategy, we periodicallgken acquisitions to add specialized employ
complementary companies, products, technologiesttmr assets. For example, in 2012, we acquirsthgnam, Inc. and certain AOL patent as
from Microsoft Corporation. Our acquisitions wilfect our future financial results due to factousls as the amortization of acquired intangible &
and may also result in potential charges suchstsuuring costs or impairment expense.

Geographic Earnings MixIn 2012, our tax rate was 89% , up from 41% in 20ddmarily due to significant amounts of shén&se
compensation expense being allocated to our infierra subsidiaries in low tax jurisdictions, leagito nondeductible losses in those subsidia
Our future tax rate and financial results will bketed by the relative profitability of our corge entities in higher versus lower tax jurisdieto

Seasonality Advertising spending is traditionally seasonallyosy in the fourth quarter of each year. We beliévat this seasonality
advertising spending affects our quarterly resuitsich generally reflect significant growth in adtiging revenue between the third and fourth qus
and a decline in advertising spending betweendhetti and subsequent first quarters. For instamgeadvertising revenue increased 46%, 18%
22% between the third and fourth quarters of 21,1, and 2012, respectively, while advertisingeraie for the first quarter of 2011 and 2
declined 3% and 8% compared to the fourth quaak?®10 and 2011, respectively.

Share-based Compensation ExperBaring the year ended December 31, 2012, we rezedn$l1.57 billion of sharkased compensati
expense. Of these amounts, $1.04 billion was dileetwecognition of share-based compensation retat®re2011 RSUs triggered by the compler
of our IPO in May 2012. As of December 31, 2012r¢hwas $2.21 billion of unrecognized share-basetpensation expense, of whih.96 billior
is related to RSUs and $244 million is relatedetstricted shares and stock options. This unrecedrsharésased compensation expense is expeci
be recognized over a weighted-average period afoappately three years.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepi@redcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogrgrinciples (GAAP). The preparation
these consolidated financial statements require® usake estimates and assumptions that affecteherted amounts of assets, liabilities, reve
costs and expenses, and related disclosures. Wigatvaur estimates and assumptions on an onga@sig.bOur estimates are based on histc
experience and various other assumptions that Vievbdo be reasonable under the circumstancesa@ual results could differ from these estimates.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical iféquires an accounting estimate to be made basadsumptions about matters that are h
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, ifed#fifit estimates reasonably could have been uséficbanges in the estimate that are reasol
possible could materially impact the financial smaénts. We believe that the assumptions and estnassociated with revenue recognitior
payments and other fees, income taxes, shased compensation, loss contingencies, and bssoe@sbinations and valuation of goodwill and o
acquired intangible assets have the greatest paltémipact on our consolidated financial statemefitserefore, we consider these to be our cr
accounting policies and estimates. For furtherrimftion on all of our significant accounting poéisji see Note 1 of our accompanying Note
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Paitem 8, "Financial Statements and Supplemeniata” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition for Payments and Other Fees

We enable Payments from our users to our Platf@weldpers. Our users can make payments on the é@c&tbatform by using credit cards
other payment methods available on our website.primeary process for these transactions is thrahghpurchase of our virtual currency. Our u
then use this virtual currency to purchase virara digital goods in games and apps from develapethe Facebook Platform. Upon the initial sa
the virtual currency, we record consideration reedifrom a user as a deposit.

When a user engages in a payment transactioningjlthe virtual currency for the purchase of auattor digital good from a
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Platform developer, we reduce the virtual currebajance of the user by the price of the purchaséghwis a price that is solely determined by
Platform developer. We remit to the Platform depeloan amount that is based on the total amouwvittofal currency redeemed less the processin
that we charge the Platform developer for the serperformed. Our revenue is the net amount ofréiresaction representing our processing fee fc
transaction. We record revenue on a net basis atow®t consider ourselves to be the principahi dale of the virtual or digital good to the u
Under GAAP guidance related to reporting revenuwsgias a principal versus net as an agent, theatods used to determine whether an entity
principal or an agent to a transaction are suli@epidgment. We consider ourselves the agent teetf@nsactions when we apply the indicators t
facts. Should material subsequent changes in thstace or nature of the transactions with Platfdewmelopers result in us being considerec
principal in such sales, we would reflect the \aitand digital goods sale as revenue and the am@aid to the Platform developers as an assor
cost.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United States numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significantigment is required in determining
provision for income taxes and income tax assetk |@bilities, including evaluating uncertainties the application of accounting principles
complex tax laws.

We record a provision for income taxes for the @péted tax consequences of the reported resultp@fations using the asset and liak
method. Under this method, we recognize deferregssets and liabilities for the expected futusedansequences of temporary differences bet
the financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiahilities, as well as for operating loss and taadit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets andlifies
are measured using the tax rates that are experi@oply to taxable income for the years in whicbse tax assets and liabilities are expected
realized or settled. We record a valuation alloveattc reduce our deferred tax assets to the net r@intbat we believe is more likely than not tc
realized.

We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax posgionly if we believe that it is more likely thaot that the tax position will be sustainec
examination by the taxing authorities based ontéfohinical merits of the position. Although we beéiethat we have adequately reserved fol
uncertain tax positions, we can provide no asseramat the final tax outcome of these matters matl be materially different. We make adjustmen
these reserves when facts and circumstances chsugeas the closing of a tax audit or the refingnoé an estimate. To the extent that the fina
outcome of these matters is different than the amsorecorded, such differences will affect the imn for income taxes in the period in which s
determination is made and could have a materiabh@hpn our financial condition and operating resufthe provision for income taxes includes
effects of any reserves that we believe are ap@iepas well as the related net interest and fiesal

Share-based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2011 we granted RP04-1 RSUs to our employees and members of our hfaditectors that vested upon the satisfactic
both a servicdsased condition, generally over four years, andwdity condition. The liquidity condition was s$sfied in connection with our IPO
May 2012. Because the liquidity condition was retis§ied until our IPO, in prior periods we had metorded any expense relating to the grantii
the Pre-2011 RSUs. In the second quarter of 20&2ewognized $986 million of stock-based compeosatixpense associated with R@t1 RSU
that vested in connection with our IPO. For the-B0&1 RSUs, we recognize shdr@sed compensation expense using the acceleratimitain
method, net of estimated forfeitures, in which cemgation cost for each vesting tranche in an avgarecognized ratably from the service incef
date to the vesting date for that tranche.

RSUs granted on or after January 1, 2011 (P04t RSUs) are not subject to a liquidity conditiororder to vest, and compensation exp
related to these grants is based on the granfaatealue of the RSUs and is recognized on agittdine basis over the applicable service period.
majority of Post-2011 RSUs are earned over a sepériod of four to five years . For P@311 RSUs, which are only subject to a service itimmg
we recognize share-based compensation expenseatabée basis over the requisite service periodHerentire award.

We account for shareased employee compensation plans under the fhie vacognition and measurement provisions in atzwe witl
applicable accounting standards, which requirestadirebased payments to employees, including grantsazkspptions and RSUs, to be meas!
based on the grant-date fair value of the awards.

Sharebased compensation expense is recorded net ofatstinforfeitures in our consolidated statementmodéme and as such is recordec
only those sharbased awards that we expect to vest. We estimatiifeiture rate based on historical forfeituré®aguity awards and adjust the |
to reflect changes in facts and circumstancesyif e will revise our estimated forfeiture ratedtual forfeitures differ from our initial estinest

We have historically issuednvested restricted shares to employee stockhotifecsrtain acquired companies. As these awardganerall
subject to continued post-acquisition employmerg, have accounted for them as post-acquisition dhesed compensation expense. We reco
compensation expense equal to the grant datedhie\of the common stock on a straight-line bagés the employee's required service period.

We capitalize share-based employee compensati@negpvhen appropriate. We did not capitalize anyeshased compensation
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expense in the three years ended December 31,.2012
Loss Contingencies

We are involved in various lawsuits, claims, inigations and proceedings that arise in the ordicaryse of business. Certain of these me
include speculative claims for substantial or iedeiinate amounts of damages. We record a liabilitgn we believe that it is both probable that a
has been incurred and the amount can be reasoestityated. Significant judgment is required to detee both probability and the estimated amc
We review these provisions at least quarterly adjdsa these provisions accordingly to reflect tmpact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, adwi
legal counsel, and updated information.

In the opinion of management, there was not at easasonable possibility we may have incurrecageral loss, or a material loss in exces
a recorded accrual, with respect to loss continigerfor legal and other contingencies as of DecerBhe2012. However, the outcome of litigatio
inherently uncertain. Therefore, although managemensiders the likelihood of such an outcome todiote, if one or more of these legal ma
were resolved against us in the same reportingg@ddr amounts in excess of management's expeasataur consolidated financial statements
particular reporting period could be materially exbely affected.

Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill ather Acquired Intangible Assets

We allocate the fair value of purchase considenatiothe tangible assets acquired, liabilities as=iiand intangible assets acquired bas¢
their estimated fair values. The excess of the ¥alue of purchase consideration over the fair eslof these identifiable assets and liabilitie
recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require mamant to make significant estimates and assumptespecially with respect to intangible as:
During the measurement period, which is one yeamfthe acquisition date, we may record adjustmintse assets acquired and liabilities assu
with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon ganclusion of the measurement period, any subs¢@austments are recorded to earnings.

We review goodwill for impairment at least annuallymore frequently if events or changes in circtameses indicate that the carrying valu
goodwill may not be recoverable. We have electefitdbassess the qualitative factors to determihether it is more likely than not that the faitue
of our single reporting operating unit is less thitarcarrying amount as a basis for determiningtiwbieit is necessary to perform the tatep goodwil
impairment under the new authoritative guidancaedsby the Financial Accounting Standards BoardSBA If we determine that it is more lik
than not that its fair value is less than its cagyamount, then the twstep goodwill impairment test will be performed.€eTfirst step, identifying
potential impairment, compares the fair value @& thporting unit with its carrying amount. If tharying amount exceeds its fair value, the se
step will be performed; otherwise, no further sitepequired. The second step, measuring the imgaitrioss, compares the implied fair value of
goodwill with the carrying amount of the goodwiAny excess of the goodwill carrying amount over #pplied fair value is recognized as
impairment loss, and the carrying value of goodisilwritten down to fair value. As of December 2012, no impairment of goodwill has be
identified.

Acquired intangible assets are amortized over tbsiimated useful lives. We evaluate the recovétahif amortizable intangible assets
possible impairment whenever events or circumstiradicate that the carrying amount of such agseig not be recoverable. Recoverability of tt
assets is measured by a comparison of the cargyimmunts to the future undiscounted cash flows #seta are expected to generate. If such re
indicates that the carrying amount of property agdipment and intangible assets is not recoveréiecarrying amount of such assets is reduc
fair value. We have not recorded any such impaitrobarge during the years presented.

In addition to the recoverability assessment, weinely review the remaining estimated useful lieéour amortizable intangible assets. If
reduce the estimated useful life assumption forasset, the remaining unamortized balance woulthii@rtized over the revised estimated useful life.

Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

We generate substantially all of our revenue fralueatising and from fees associated with our Payserfrastructure that enables user
purchase virtual and digital goods from our Platfatevelopers.

Advertising. Our advertising revenue is generated by displagidgroducts on the Facebook website or mobile agptlairdparty affiliatec
websites or mobile apps. Marketers pay for ad prtsdeither directly or through their relationshipish advertising agencies, based on the numk
impressions delivered or the number of clicks miag®ur users. We recognize revenue from the dslieérclick-based ads in the period in whic
user clicks on the content. We recognize revenam fthe display of impressidmased ads in the contracted period in which therésgions ai
delivered. Impressions are considered deliveredhveread is displayed to users. The number of adshee is subject to methodological change
we continue to evolve our ads business and thetatesof our ads products. Whether we count thglndisplay only or every display of an ad as
impression is dependent on where the ad is disgldyer example, an individual ad in News Feed thaiurchased on an impression basis me
displayed to users more than once during a daygtiewy only the initial display of the ad is consitkan impression, regardless of how many t
the ad is actually displayed within the News Feed.
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Payments and other feesWe enable Payments from our users to our Platfeemeldpers. Our users can transact and make payroertts
Facebook Platform by using credit cards, PayPaltioer payment methods available on our website.r&eive a fee from our Platform develoj
when users make purchases from our Platform degedopsing our Payments infrastructure. We recogrézenue net of amounts remitted to
Platform developers. We have mandated the userdPayments infrastructure for game apps on Facelaukfees related to Payments are gene
almost exclusively from games. Cumulatively to dggmes from Zynga have generated the majorityuopayments and other fees revenue. How
Zynga's contribution to our payments and other feegnue has decreased over time and this trendcortynue. Our other fees revenue con
primarily of user Promoted Posts and, to a lesseng, Facebook Gifts revenue, and has been imrabiterecent periods.

Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses

Cost of revenue.Our cost of revenue consists primarily of experasesociated with the delivery and distribution of ptoducts. These inclu
expenses related to the operation of our data iesteeh as facility and server equipment depreriatiacility and server equipment rent expe
energy and bandwidth costs, support and mainteneosts, and salaries, benefits, and shiased compensation for employees on our oper:
teams. Cost of revenue also includes credit cadicbéimer transaction fees related to processingpmest transactions.

Research and developmentResearch and development expenses consist prin@rifalaries, benefits, and shdra@sed compensation
employees on our engineering and technical teantsas responsible for building new products as wasglimproving existing products. We expe
all of our research and development costs as treeinaurred.

Marketing and sales.Our marketing and sales expenses consist primafribalaries, benefits, and shdr@sed compensation for our employ
engaged in sales, sales support, marketing, bsstdeglopment, and customer service functions.narketing and sales expenses also include user
developer-, and advertiser-facing marketing andgnational expenditures.

General and administrative. Our general and administrative expenses consistapily of salaries, benefits, and shésased compensation
our executives as well as our legal, finance, hunesources, corporate communications and policgt,aher administrative employees. In addit
general and administrative expenses include outsidsulting fees, legal and accounting serviced,faailities and other supporting overhead c
General and administrative expenses also inclugid Eettlements and amortization of patents weisegju

We have reclassified certain prior period expemsewats from marketing and sales to general andrastrative within our consolidated
statements of income to conform to our current peasentation. These reclassifications did notcaffeeviously reported revenue, total costs and
expenses, income from operations, or net inconoalirconsolidated statements of income.

Results of Operations

The following table set forth our consolidated staénts of income data:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(in millions)

Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Revenue $ 5,08¢ $ 3,711 $ 1,97¢
Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue 1,36¢ 86( 492

Research and development 1,39¢ 38¢ 144

Marketing and sales 89¢ 393 167

General and administrative 89z 314 13€
Total costs and expenses 4,551 1,95¢ 942
Income from operations 53¢ 1,75¢ 1,03:
Interest and other income (expense), net (44) (62) (24
Income before provision for income taxes 494 1,69 1,00¢
Provision for income taxes 441 69t 40z
Net income $ 53 $ 1,00 $ 60€
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Share-based compensation expense included inandtsxpenses:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(in millions)

Cost of revenue $ 88 $ 9 3 =
Research and development 8432 114 9
Marketing and sales 30€ 37 2
General and administrative 33t 57 9

Total share-based compensation expense $ 1572  $ 217 20

The following table set forth our consolidated staénts of income data (as a percentage of revenue):

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Revenue 10C % 10C % 10C %
Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue 27 23 25

Research and development 27 10 7

Marketing and sales 18 11 8

General and administrative 18 8 7
Total costs and expenses 89 53 48
Income from operations 11 47 52
Interest and other income (expense), net (@) 2 (@)
Income before provision for income taxes 10 46 51
Provision for income taxes 9 19 20
Net income 1 % 21 % 31 %

Share-based compensation expense included inaudtsxpenses (as a percentage of revenue):

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Cost of revenue 2% —% —%
Research and development 17 3 —
Marketing and sales 6 1 —
General and administrative 7 2 —
Total share-based compensation expense 31% 6% 1%
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Revenue

2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
Year Ended December 31, % Change % Change
2012 2011 2010
(in millions)
Advertising $ 427¢ $ 3,15¢ % 1,86¢ 36% 69%
Payments and other fees 81C 557 10€ 45% 42%
Total revenue $ 508¢ $ 3711 § 1,97¢ 37% 88%

2012 Compared to 201Revenue in 2012 increased $1.38 billion , or 37%mared to 2011. The increase was due primarily36%increas
in advertising revenue during 2012 as compared®id 2

Advertising revenue grew due to a 32% increasbemuumber of ads delivered during 2012 and to art¥ease in the average price per ad.
increase in ads delivered was driven primarily bgrugrowth. MAUs grew 25%om December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012 anthgeeDAU:
grew 28%from December 2011 to December 2012. Various priodoanges and changes in user engagement geneffally in their impact on tt
average number of ads per user. For example, ffidslreater mobile use generally reduced adsuger, while the introduction of ads in News F
increased the number of ads per user. The ratdarfige in number of ads delivered also differs bgggaphy, driven by factors such as mc
penetration. For example, Europe and Rest of Woddkased at a faster rate than the United Statké\sia.

Growth in the average price per ad during 2012 ameghto 2011 was driven primarily by an increasprioe per ad in the United States, wi
benefited from growth in ads in News Feed acros&tdg and mobile devices. Ads in News Feed haveréfisantly higher average price per ad du
factors which include the prominent position of #us. The increase in price per ad in the UnitedeStwas partially offset by an increased perce
of our worldwide ads being delivered in the Asial &est of World geographies where the average jpeécead, while growing on a year-owsal
basis, is relatively lower. The average price pewas also affected by a decline in the averageegrér ad in Europe in 2012 compared to 2011 ¢
the impact of foreign exchange rate changes, aease in the percentage of ads being deliverediindean regions where the average price per
relatively lower, and in part, we believe, to conifng weak economic conditions in that region affecadvertiser demand.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we estirhatariobile advertising revenue as a percentage\ardsing revenue was approxima
11%. As mobile advertising was not offered priothe first quarter of 2012, comparisons to pricaryare not meaningful.

Advertising revenue in the fourth quarter of 20d@reased 41% compared to the same period in 20&1toda 46% increase in the number of
delivered, partially offset by a 4% decrease indkierage price per ad. The increase in ads detlwsees driven by user growth and certain pro
changes, including the addition of News Feed adgeraonal computers and mobile devices. MAUs gr&% &om December 31, 2011 to Decen
31, 2012 and average DAUs grew 28% from Decembgi 20 December 2012. Additionally, in the fourthager of 2012, we lowered our mar
reserve price (i.e. the minimum price thresholdepted in our ads auction), and this product chdragethe effect of increasing the number of
delivered and decreasing the average price pertasl.change primarily affected the Rest of World #@sia markets where the average price per
relatively lower, and the change increased thegugage of our ads that are shown in relatively topreeed markets, which has the effect of decrey
the overall average price per ad. For the fourtirigu of 2012, we estimate that mobile advertisengnue as a percentage of advertising revenu
approximately 23%.

Payments and other fees revenue in 2012 increa&8l @illion , or 45% , compared to 2011. Excludihg onetime increase in Paymel
revenue described below, Payments and other feesue in 2012 increased 34% compared to 2011. BakePayments became mandatory fo
game developers accepting payments on the Facdbatorm with limited exceptions on July 1, 2011ccArdingly, comparisons of Payments
other fees revenue to periods before this datemnape meaningful.

Payments and other fees revenue in the fourth guaft2012 was $256 million. Comparisons to prieripds are not meaningful due to the one-
time increase in Payments revenue described below.

Our Payments terms and conditions provide for al@p-claim period subsequent to a Payments traosadtiring which the customer
dispute the virtual or digital goods transactiohrdugh the third quarter of 2012, we had deferesmbgnition of Payments revenue until the expir:
of this period as we were unable to make reasoratiaeliable estimates of future refunds or chaagks arising during this claim period, due to
of historical transactional information. Beginniimgthe fourth quarter of 2012, we had 24 monthhisforical transactional information which enat
us to estimate future refunds and chargebacks.rdoagly, in the fourth quarter of 2012, we recorddidPayments revenues at the time of the pur«
of the related
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virtual or digital goods, net of estimated refumischargebacks. This change resulted in atome-increase in Payments revenue in the fourthter
of 2012 of approximately $66 million as we recogazevenue from four months of transactions.

Seven and nine percent of our total revenue fothtee and twelve months ended December 31, 26%@ectively and 11% and 12% of our t
revenue for the three and twelve months ended Dieeei, 2011, respectively, came from a singleatust, Zynga. Revenue from Zynga consi
of payments processing fees related to their daletoal goods and from direct advertising puradtady Zynga.

In 2012, we generated approximately 51% of ourmaedrom marketers and Platform developers bas#tkitunited States, compared to 56¢
2011. The change is due primarily to a faster gnonate of international users and, to a lesseméxte the expansion of international sales offiae¢
payment methods. The majority of our revenue oatsifithe United States came from customers locatedestern Europe, Canada, Australia
Brazil.

2011 Compared to 201®evenue in 2011 increased $1.74 billion , or 88¥hmared to 2010. The increase was due primarily@8%increas
in advertising revenue to $3.15 billiorAdvertising revenue grew due to a 42% increasthénnumber of ads delivered and an 18% increasiee
average price per ad delivered. The increase indatigered was driven primarily by user growth; Maldrew 39% from December 31, 201(
December 31, 2011 and average DAUs grew 48% frogeeer 2010 to December 2011. The number of adgedad was also affected by m:
other factors including product changes that sigaiftly increased the number of ads on many Fadepages beginning in the fourth quarter of 2
partially offset by an increase in usage of our iteoroducts, where we did not show ads, and biouarproduct changes implemented in 2011 tr
aggregate modestly reduced the number of ads dairtgrages. The increase in average price per hdkeds was affected by factors includ
improvements in our ability to deliver more relevas to users and product changes that contribiotddgher user interaction with the ads
increasing their relative prominence.

Payments and other fees revenue increased to $lsshnm 2011 due to the adoption of Facebook Paymerighihas been gradually adog
by our Platform developers and began generatingfgignt revenue in the fourth quarter of 2010. étamok Payments became mandatory for all ¢
developers accepting payments on the FacebooloRtatfith limited exceptions on July 1, 2011. Acdagly, comparisons of payments and other
revenue to periods before that date may not be imgfah In 2011, other fees revenue was immaterial.

In 2011, we generated approximately 56% of ourmaedrom marketers and Platform developers bas#tkitunited States, compared to 62¢
2010. This change is due to factors including @efagrowth rate of international users and the agfmn of international sales offices and payr
methods. The majority of our revenue outside ofdhéed States came from customers located in we&terope, Canada, and Australia.

Cost of revenue

Year Ended December 31,

2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Cost of revenue $ 1,36¢ $ 86( $ 49: 59% 74 %

Percentage of revenue 27 % 22 % 28 %

2012 Compared to 201Tost of revenue in 2012 increased $504 million 58% , compared to 2011. The increase was primarily
expenses related to expanding our data centertapesaincluding a $257 million increase in depagicin in 2012, Sharbased compensation expe
increased by $79 million in 2012 compared to 20Hinfy due to the recognition of expenses relateBres2011 RSUs triggered by the completiol
our IPO in May 2012 and, to a lesser extent, PO&tt2RSUs. Increases in payroll and benefits experesulting from a 65%crease in employ:
headcount also contributed to the increase in @bstvenue in 2012. These expenses supported eurguswth, the increased usage of produc
users, developers, and marketers, and the launoévoproducts.

2011 Compared to 201Qost of revenue in 2011 increased $367 million{4%, compared to 2010. The increase was primauiéytd expens:
related to expanding our data center operationtyding a $164 million increase in depreciation an®i35 million increase in data center facilitytr
These expenses supported our user growth, theasedleusage of our products by users, developedsmarketers, and the launch of new prod
Additionally, credit card and other related revepuoecessing fees increased by $60 million.

We anticipate that the cost of revenue will inceesdollar amount for the foreseeable future agwmand our data center
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capacity to support user growth, increased useagsmgent, and the delivery of new products and ioffsr The expected increase in cost of rev
may be partially mitigated to the extent we areedbl realize improvements in server performancethacefficiency of our technical operations.
expect cost of revenue in absolute dollars and psreentage of revenue to increase in 2013 compar@®12 due to our investment in techr
infrastructure.

Research and development

Year Ended December 31,

2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Research and development $ 1,39¢ $ 38¢ $ 144 261% 16<%

Percentage of revenue 27 % 10 % 7 %

2012 Compared to 201Research and development expenses in 2012 incr§ased billion , or 261% compared to 2011. The increase
primarily due to an increase in share-based congiemsexpense of $729 millian 2012 resulting primarily from the recognition @fpenses relat
to Pre-2011 RSUs triggered by the completion of @ in May 2012 and, to a lesser extent, P@d§t1 RSUs. Payroll and benefits expense
increased due to a 73gsowth in employee headcount in engineering, degigaduct management, and other technical functidhss investmet
supported our efforts to improve existing prodwstd build new products for users, developers, aadketers.

2011 Compared to 201®Research and development expenses in 2011 incr&24ddmillion , or 169% compared to 2010. The increase
primarily due to an increase from $9 million in 20tb $114 million in 2011 for share-based compeasaxpense related to P@@11 RSUs. Payr¢
and benefits expense also increased due to a 5@%ttgin employee headcount in engineering, desigoduct management, and other techi
functions. This investment supported our effortgriprove existing products and build new produotsusers, developers, and marketers.

In 2013, we plan to continue rapidly hiring engirieg, design, product management, and other teahmimployees. However, we exg
research and development expenses will rise in 20h3ower rate than it rose in 2012 due to thgel@hardsased compensation expense in the se
guarter of 2012 associated with Pre-2011 RSUsérigg by the completion of our IPO.

Marketing and sales

Year Ended December 31,

2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Marketing and sales 89¢ 39: 167 12&% 135 %
Percentage of revenue 18 % 11 % 8 %

2012 Compared to 201Marketing and sales expenses in 2012 increased 1$808n , or 128%, compared to 2011. The increase was prim
due to an increase in share-based compensationsxpé&$269 million in 2012 resulting primarily frothe recognition of expenses related to Z9#1
RSUs triggered by the completion of our IPO in M#12 and, to a lesser extent, PB81-1 RSUs. Payroll and benefits expenses alsoasetedue to
19% increase in employee headcount to support bkdles, business development and customer seiiténcrease in our user-, developesnc
advertiser-facing marketing expense also contribtiethe increase in 2012.

2011 Compared to 2010larketing and sales expenses in 2011 increased $#R6n, or 135%, compared to 2010. The increases wrimarily
due to an increase in payroll and benefits experesgting from a 45% increase in employee headcmusupport global sales, business developr
and customer service, and, to a lesser extent,naredse in our user-, developer-, and advertisendamarketing. Additionally, sharease:
compensation expense increased from $2 millior0it02o $37 million in 2011 due to recognition operse related to Post-2011 RSUs.

In 2013, we plan to add sales, business developamahtcustomer service employees, and increasengastment in user-, developegnc
marketer-facing marketing. However, we expect mi@mgeand sales expenses will rise in 2013 at a toate than it rose in 2012 due to the large share
based compensation expense in the second qua6dafassociated with Pre-2011 RSUs triggered &ydmpletion of our IPO.
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General and administrative

Year Ended December 31,

2011 to 2012 2010to:
2012 2011 2010 % Change % Chan(
(dollars in millions)
General and administrative $ 892 $ 314 $ 13¢ 184%
Percentage of revenue 18 % 8 % 7 %

2012 Compared to 201General and administrative expenses in 2012 inecc&578 million , or 184% compared to 2011. The increase
primarily due to an increase in share-based congpemsexpense of $278 million resulting from recitign of expense related to P2&11 RSUs an
to a lesser extent, Pa3d11 RSUs. The increase was also due to growtegal fees and settlement costs, amortization ofiieexd) patents and ott
professional service fees. Payroll and benefitsergps also increased for 2012 due to a 3B&tease in employee headcount in corpc
communications and policy, human resources, légance, and other functions.

2011 Compared to 201@General and administrative expenses in 2011 ineck&76 million, or 128%, compared to 2010. Thedase we
primarily due to an increase in payroll and beseditpenses resulting from a 60% increase in emplbgadcount in finance, legal, human resou
and other functions. Additionally, outside consudtiand legal fees contributed to the increase.eStesed compensation expense increased frc
million in 2010 to $57 million in 2011 due to recotion of expense related to Post-2011 RSUs.

In 2013, we plan to continue to increase generdlaiministrative employee headcount to supportgoowth. However, we expect general
administrative expenses will rise in 2013 at a lovete than it rose in 2012 due to the large sbased compensation expense in the second qué
2012 associated with Pre-2011 RSUs triggered bgahgpletion of our IPO.

Interest and other income (expense), net

Year Ended December 31,

2011 to 2012 2010 to 2C
2012 2011 2010 % Change % Change
(in millions)
Interest expense $ (51 $ 42 $ (22 21% !
Other income (expense), net 7 (29 2 (139)% 8
Interest and other income (expense), net $ (49 $ (61) $ (24) (28)%

2012 Compared to 201interest and other income (expense), net in 20tPedsed $17 million , or 28%compared to 2011. Interest expe
increased by $9 million primarily due to an ince@dwsolume of property and equipment financed byitehfeases for 2012 and interest on $iet
billion term loan that was drawn down in the fourth quade2012. Changes in other income (expense), ne¢ wemarily due to lower foreic
exchange losses in 2012 resulting from the periogineasurement of our foreign currency balances andcagase in interest income driven by hig
invested cash balances.

2011 Compared to 201Mterest and other income (expense), net in 20tfeésed $37 million, or 154%, compared to 201Cerést expen:
increased by $20 million, driven by an increasdees related to our credit facility as described-aLiquidity and Capital Resources," and
payments related to an increased volume of progertlyequipment financed by capital leases. Thegghanother income (expense), net was prim
due to $29 million in foreign exchange related éss#é 2011. Foreign exchange losses in 2011 stenfrogdthe periodic reneasurement of o
intercompany Euro balances. Foreign currency baemere immaterial in 2010. These expenses wetrlpaoffset by an increase in interest incc
driven by larger invested cash balances.
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Provision for income taxes

Year Ended December 31,

2011 to 2012 2010to:
2012 2011 2010 % Change % Chani
(dollars in millions)
Provision for income taxes $ 441 $ 69t $ 40z (37%
Effective tax rate 89 % 41 % 4C %

2012 Compared to 201Qur provision for income taxes in 2012 decreaseé#i$8illion , or 37% compared to 2011, primarily due to a decr
in pre-tax income. Our effective tax rate increagedarily due to the impact of non-deductible ghlaased compensation and the losses arising o
the United States in jurisdictions where we donegtive a tax benefit. Our effective tax rate ii2@as also higher due to the expiration of therfe
tax credit for research and development activities.

On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief é¢fc2012 was enacted, which includes a reinstat¢roé the federal research ¢
development credit for the tax year ended DecerBbhe012. We estimate that our tax credit for 20tld have been approximately $80 millior
$120 million, which we will record as a discretenbét in the first quarter of 2013.

2011 Compared to 201Q@ur provision for income taxes in 2011 increase@3$@illion, or 73%, compared to 2010 primarily doean increas
in pretax income. Our effective tax rate increased prilyaiue to losses arising outside the United Statggrisdictions where we do not receive a
benefit and the impact of non-deductible share-thasenpensation expense during the year.
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Quarterly Results of Operations Data

The following tables set forth our unaudited qudyteonsolidated statements of operations datallas and as a percentage of total revent
each of the eight quarters in the period ended mbee 31, 2012 We have prepared the quarterly consolidatedratzies of operations data on a b
consistent with the audited consolidated finansiatements included in Part II, Iltem 8, "Finan&8ttements and Supplementary Data" in this Ar
Report on Form 16@. In the opinion of management, the financial mfiation reflects all adjustments, consisting orflparmal recurring adjustmen
which we consider necessary for a fair presentasfathis data. This information should be read amjanction with the audited consolidated finan
statements and related notes included in Partdin I8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary"Dat¢éhis Annual Report on Form 1K- The
results of historical periods are not necessanitijdative of the results of operations for any fatperiod.

Three Months Ended

Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
(in millions)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Advertising revenue $ 132¢ $ 108 $ 992 $ 87z $ 94t $ 79 $ T77¢€ $ 637
Payments and other fees reveftie 25¢ 17€ 192 18¢ 18¢ 15€ 11¢ 94
Total revenue 1,58¢ 1,26z 1,18¢ 1,05¢ 1,131 954 89¢ 731
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue 39¢ 322 367 271 247 23€ 21C 167
Research and development 297 244 70& 152 124 10¢ 99 57
Marketing and sales 19z 16¢ 392 142 12C 114 96 62
General and administrative 174 151 462 104 92 82 83 57
Total costs and expenses 1,06: 88t 1,927 677 58¢ 54( 48¢ 34:
Income (loss) from operations 52% 377 (749 381 54¢ 414 407 38¢
Income (loss) before (provision for) benefit from
income taxes 50¢ 372 (765) 382 52C 37¢ 39¢ 39¢
Net income (loss) $ 64 $ (B9 $ (@57 $ 20 $ 30z $ 227 $ 24C $ 23¢
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A and CRss
common stockholders $ 64 $ (B9 $ (@57 $ 137 $ 20t $ 15C $ 15¢ $ 15:
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Clasad\ a
Class B common stockholders:
Basic $ 00 $ (002 $ (0O $ 01C $ 0218 $ 011 $ 0.1z $ O0.1Z
Diluted $ 00 $ (002 $ (0O $ 00 $ 014 $ 01C $ 011 $ o0.11
Share-based compensation expense included inaudtsxpenses:
Three Months Ended
Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
(in millions)
Cost of revenue $ 9 % 8 % 66 $ 5 % 3 3 3 3 3 $ —
Research and development 124 114 54k 60 42 33 35 4
Marketing and sales 27 28 232 19 13 13 11 —
General and administrative 24 28 263 19 18 21 15 3

Total share-based compensation expéhse $ 184 $ 17¢ $ 1,106 $ 102 $ 76 $ 70 $ 64 $ 7

(1) Inthe fourth quarter of 2012, we recordedPayments revenue at the time of purchase of taecevirtual or digital goods, net of estimateflinels or chargebacks, instead of
deferring Payment revenue until the expiratiorhef 30-day claim period, as we are able to estifoétee refunds and chargebacks based on histdrezads. This charge resulted in a
one-time increase in Payment revenue of $66 millicthe fourth quarter of 2012.

(2) Inthe second quarter of 2012, we recogniZ8b$nillion of share-based compensation expenséebto Pre2011 RSUs that vested in connection with our
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Data:

Revenue:
Advertising revenue
Payments and other fees revenue
Total revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Marketing and sales
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Income (loss) from operations

Income (loss) before (provision for)
benefit from income taxes

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) attributable to Class A

and Class B common stockholders

Three Months Ended

Share-based compensation expense included inaudtsxpenses:

Cost of revenue

Research and development
Marketing and sales
General and administrative

Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
(as a percentage of total revenue)
84 % 86 % 84 % 82 % 83 % 84 % 87 % 87 %
16 14 16 18 17 16 13 13
10C % 10C % 10C % 10C % 10C % 10C % 10C % 10C %
25 26 31 26 22 25 23 23
19 19 60 14 11 11 11 8
12 13 33 14 11 12 11 8
11 12 39 1C 8 9 9 8
67 70 163 64 52 57 55 47
33 30 (63 36 48 43 45 53
32 29 (65) 36 46 4C 45 54
4% (5)% (139% 19 % 27 % 24 % 27 % 32 %
4% (5)% (139% 13 % 18 % 16 % 18 % 21 %
Three Months Ended
Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
(as a percentage of total revenue)
1% 1% 6% —% —% —% —% —%
8 9 46 6 4 3 4 1
2 2 20 2 1 1 1 —
2 2 22 2 2 2 2 —
12% 14% 93% 10% 7% 7% 7% 1%

Total share-based compensation expense
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(in millions)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data:

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 161z $ 154¢ % 69¢
Net cash used in investing activities (7,024 (3,029 (329
Net cash provided by financing activities 6,28: 1,19¢ 781
Purchases of property and equipment (1,235) (60€) (293)
Depreciation and amortization 64¢ 32¢ 13¢
Share-based compensation 1,57 217 20

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash aadh equivalents, marketable securities, and gasbrated from operations. Cash and
equivalents and marketable securities consist pifynaf cash on deposit with banks and investmémtsioney market funds and U.S. government
U.S. government agency securities. Cash and cashadents and marketable securities totaled $9ii8rbas of December 31, 2012an increase
$5.72 billion from December 31, 2011 . The mosn#igant cash flow activities consisted of $6.8libih of net proceeds from our IPO, which \
completed in May 2012, $1.61 billion of cash getetdrom operations, $1.5 billion of loan draw doeumd $1.03 billiorin excess tax benefit frc
share-based award activity, offset by $2.86 billidriaxes paid related to the net share settlemeRSUs when the Pr2d11 RSUs vested and set
in the fourth quarter of 2012, $1.24 billion used €apital expenditures and $911 milliased for acquisitions of businesses and other sadéate
continue to net settle RSUs, we will use additiczadh to pay employees' tax withholding obligationeonnection with such settlements. We curre
anticipate that our available funds, credit fag#{ and cash flow from operations will be suffitido meet our operational cash needs fol
foreseeable future.

In February 2012, we entered into an agreemerarfiounsecured five-year revolving credit facilitathallows us to borrow up to $5 billidor
general corporate purposes, with interest payablidn® borrowed amounts set at London Interbankr@ff&ate (LIBOR) plus 1.0%Under the tern
of the agreement, we are obligated to pay a comemitrfee of 0.10% per annum on the daily undrawartz. Noamounts were drawn down un
this credit facility as of December 31, 2012.

Concurrent with our entering into the revolvingditdacility, we also entered into a bridge creditility agreement that allowed us to borrow
to $3 billion to fund tax withholding and remittanobligations related to the settlement of RSUsoimnection with our IPO.

In October 2012, we amended and restated our badght facility, converting it to an unsecurednteloan facility (Amended and Restated T
Loan) that allowed us to borrow up to $1.5 billtanfund tax withholding and remittance obligatioetated to the settlement of RSUs in connet
with our IPO, with interest payable on the borroveadounts set at LIBOR plus 1.0%. We paid origimafees at closing of the Amended and Res
Term Loan, which fees are being amortized overténm of the facility. We drew down the $1.5 billiofithe Amended and Restated Term Loe
October 2012 and paid an upfront fee of 0.15% enldhn amount, which fee is being amortized overrédmaining term of the facility. Any amou
outstanding will become due and payable on OctabeR015.

In connection with the draw down of the Amended Bedtated Term Loan, to hedge our exposure toestteate fluctuation, we entered intc
interest rate swap agreement. The net effect sfsivap agreement is to convert the variable intea¢s to a fixed interest rate of 1.46%he intere:
rate swap has a maturity date of October 25, 2015.

As of December 31, 2012, our income tax refundabl®451 millionreflects the expected refund from income tax lassybacks to 2010 a
2011. We expect to receive this refund in the Bistmonths of 2013.

As of December 31, 2012 , $565 million of the $9M8llion in cash and cash equivalents and marketable sesuvias held by our forei
subsidiaries. We have provided for the additioagés that would be due if we repatriated thesesdioduse in our operations in the United States.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash flow from operating activities during 2012nparily consisted of adjustments to net income fmtain non-cash items such as shaase:
compensation expense of $1.57 billion and totalr@gption and amortization of $649 million , palfiiaoffset by income tax refundable &451
million . The cash flow from operating activitiearthg 2012 compared to 2011 increased modestly
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as the increases in adjustments for non-cash isndescribed above were offset by a reductiontimeeme of $947 milliorand an increase in incol
tax refundable.

Cash flow from operating activities during 2011nparily resulted from net income of $1 billion , asfied for certain nonash items, includir
depreciation and amortization of $323 million , atére-based compensation expense of $217 million .

Cash flow from operating activities during 2010npaiily resulted from net income of $606 million djasted for certain nonash item:
including depreciation and amortization of $139limil and share-based compensation expense of $#6mipartially offset by cash consumed
working capital of $70 million.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities during 2012 prilpaesulted from $4.87 billion for the net purceaof marketable securities, $1.24 billi@n
capital expenditures related to the purchase eksgrnetworking equipment, storage infrastructarg] the construction of data centers as wehodd
million for acquisitions of businesses and other asset, &si patents. The increase in cash used in ingeattivities during 2012 compared to 2
was mainly due to increases in the purchase of etaloke securities, acquisitions of businesses #ret assets, and capital expenditures.

Cash used in investing activities during 2011 primaelated to the use of approximately $2.4 bitlifor the net purchase of markete
securities. Our cash used in investing activitie2011 also consisted of capital expenditures @f6$fillion related to the purchase of serv
networking equipment, storage infrastructure, ddconstruction of data centers.

Cash used in investing activities during 2010 primaonsisted of capital expenditures relatedhte purchases of property and equipment
the construction of data centers. Changes in egstricash and deposits consumed $9 millibcash related to security deposits in supporeaf estat
expansion in 2010. Acquisitions, net of cash aegljialso consumed $22 million of cash in 2010.

We anticipate making capital expenditures in 20fl@pproximately $1.8 billion.
Cash Provided by Financing Activities

In May 2012, we received $6.8 billion proceeds from our IPO, net of offering costsr @ancing activities have primarily consistedemfuity
issuances, lease financing, and debt financing. ddsh provided by financing activities was $6.28idsi and $1.2 billion , in 2012 and 2011
respectively, and included excess tax benefits fstook award activities of $1.03 billion and $438lion for the same periods, respectively. In 2
our net cash provided by financing activities irmgd the draw down of $1.5 billidnrom the Amended and Restated Term Loan. We didhae¢ a loa
draw down in 2011. In the fourth quarter of 2012, paid $2.86 billion of taxes related to the netlement of RSUs when the PE®11 RSUs wel
vested and settled.

In January 2011, we completed an offering of ouas€lA common stock to certain nonS. investors that generated $998 million in
proceeds. In December 2010, we completed an offefimur Class A common stock that generated $5l®min proceeds.

In March 2010, we entered into a credit facilitythweertain lenders. This facility allowed for theadl down of up to $250 milliom unsecure
senior loans. In April 2010, we drew down the athount available under the facility, and in Mar€ii.2, we repaid the entire $250 million balance.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangenzent$ December 31, 2012 .
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Contractual Obligations

Our principal commitments consist of obligationsden capital and operating leases for equipmentaifide and data center facilities. 1
following table summarizes our commitments to saettintractual obligations in cash as of DecembeR@12 .

Payment Due by Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Operating lease obligations $ 851 $ 14z  $ 24t $ 21z $ 252
Capital lease obligations 97¢ 39¢ 40z 35 143
Other contractual commitmerfts 74¢ 65¢ 71 19 —
Long-term debf? 1,562 22 1,54( — —
Total contractual obligations $ 4141 $ 1221 $ 2,25¢  § 266 $ 39¢

(1) Other contractual commitments primarily relate tmipment and supplies for our data center opersitiand, to a lesser extent, construction commitsneziaited to our data cer
sites.

(2) Long-term debt relates to the draw down of Aorended and Restated Term Loan of $1.5 billiofuitiog the estimated future interest payments uaifiged rate of 1.46% whick
represented our effective interest rate after wered into an interest rate swap agreement.

In addition, our other liabilities include $100 fwh related to uncertain tax positions as of Delsen81, 2012 Due to uncertainties in the timi
of the completion of tax audits, the timing of tlesolution of these positions is uncertain and veeumable to make a reasonably reliable estim:
the timing of payments in individual years beyoraddmonths. As a result, this amount is not incluhethe above table.

Contingencies

We are involved in claims, lawsuits, governmentestgations, and proceedings. We record a proviioa liability when we believe that it
both probable that a liability has been incurredd ghe amount can be reasonably estimated. Signtfimdgment is required to determine t
probability and the estimated amount. Such legatg@edings are inherently unpredictable and sultgestgnificant uncertainties, some of which
beyond our control. Should any of these estimatesassumptions change or prove to be incorrecltd have a material impact on our resuli
operations, financial position, and cash flows.

See Note 10 in the accompanying notes to our cimfadetl financial statements included in Part Ienit8, "Financial Statements
Supplementary Data" and Part |, Item 3, "Legal Peaings" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for diddal information regarding contingencies.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncemén
Comprehensive Income

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance that charijedrequirement for presenting "Comprehensive Irebin the consolidated financ
statements. The update requires an entity to prebencomponents of other comprehensive incomeeeeiiih a single continuous statemen
comprehensive income or in two separate but cotisecstatements. The update is effective for fisemrs, and interim periods within those ye
beginning after December 15, 2011 and should beegpgetrospectively. We adopted this new guidamedanuary 1, 2012.

Goodwill Impairment Testing

In September 2011, the FASB issued an amendment &xisting accounting standard which providegiestan option to perform a qualitat
assessment to determine whether further impairtesting on goodwill is necessary. An entity now s option to first assess qualitative facto
determine whether it is necessary to perform theeoti twostep impairment test. If an entity believes, assult of its qualitative assessment, that
more-likely-thannot that the fair value of a reporting unit is lélsan its carrying amount, the quantitative impa&nitest is required. Otherwise,
further testing is required. This standard is effecfor annual and interim goodwill impairment teperformed for fiscal years beginning &
December 15, 2011. We adopted this new standadduwamary 1, 2012 and the adoption did not have amahimpact on our financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks, including changésreign currency exchange rates, interest rates jnflation.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We have foreign currency risks related to our rexeeand operating expenses denominated in curreotties than the U.S. dollar, primarily
Euro. In general, we are a net receiver of curemnother than the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, charigesxchange rates, and in particular a strengity
of the U.S. dollar, will negatively affect our reuge and other operating results as expressed inddli@rs.

We have experienced and will continue to experidhauations in our net income as a result of $eation gains or losses related to reval
certain current asset and current liability balanttet are denominated in currencies other thaffutingional currency of the entities in which theg
recorded. At this time we do not, but in the futwe may enter into derivatives or other financigtiuments in an attempt to hedge our for
currency exchange risk. It is difficult to predibe impact hedging activities would have on ouunitssof operations. We recognized foreign curre
losses of $9 million and $29 million for the yearded December 31, 2012 and 2Qlrespectively. Foreign currency losses were rgmificant ir
2010.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Our exposure to changes in interest rates relategply to interest earned and market value on @ash and cash equivalents and marke
securities and interest paid on our long-term debt.

Our cash and cash equivalents and marketable Sesubnsist of cash, certificates of deposit, tideposits, money market funds adds.
government and U.S. government agency securiti@ar investment policy and strategy are focused@servation of capital and supporting
liquidity requirements. Changes in U.S. interesesaaffect the interest earned on our cash and easivalents and marketable securities ant
market value of those securities. A hypotheticad b@sis point increase in interest rates wouldlréswa decrease of approximately $55 millianc
$15 million in the market value of our availabla-&ale debt securities as of December 31, 2012Dmuémber 31, 2011respectively. Any realize
gains or losses resulting from such interest ragages would only occur if we sold the investmgnisr to maturity.

Our long-term debt consists of the $1.5 billionvdrdown on our three-year unsecured term loan fadiiat bears variable interest atrbntt
LIBOR plus 1.0%. As our risk management objectivéoi mitigate the risk of changes in cash flowslaittable to changes in the designateehdntt
LIBOR for the loan, we have entered into an interate swap agreement for the exact notional amoiu$t.5 billion and a fixed interest rate h#6%
at the same time the term loan was drawn down dgédé¢his exposure. Both the term loan and intesstswap have a maturity date of Octobe
2015. Changes in the cash flows of the interest satap are expected to exactly offset the chamgeash flows attributable to fluctuations in the 1-
month LIBOR based interest payments on the lmmm debt. The net effect of this swap agreemettt convert the variable interest rate to a fixatd
of 1.46% .

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefi&ct on our business, financial condition, aules of operations.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Facebtuk

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Facebook, Inc. as of December 31, 2042011, and the related consolid
statements of income, comprehensive income, stdd&rsd equity, and cash flows for each of the ttye&rs in the period ended December 31, 2
These financial statements are the responsibifitheo Company's management. Our responsibilitg isxpress an opinion on these financial stater
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaf8lo(United States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastei@iments are free of material misstatemen
were not engaged to perform an audit of the Companternal control over financial reporting. Owdés included consideration of internal con
over financial reporting as a basis for designindiaprocedures that are appropriate in the cir¢cantes, but not for the purpose of expressir
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's inatkcontrol over financial reporting. Accordinglye express no such opinion. An audit also incl
examining on a test basis, evidence supportingatheunts and disclosures in the financial statemeastsessing the accounting principles usec
significant estimates made by management, and &wuaduthe overall financial statement presentatibie. believe that our audits provide a reasor
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrecébove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Faceb
Inc. at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the calzell results of its operations and its cash flawseach of the three years in the period e
December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. gengraticepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
San Francisco, California

February 1, 2013
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except for number of shares and palue)

December 31,

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities

Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doukdftdounts of $22 and $17 as of December 31, 2042 ai
2011, respectively

Income tax refundable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill and intangible assets, net
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Platform partners payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Deferred revenue and deposits
Current portion of capital lease obligations

Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, less current portion
Long-term debt
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.000006 par valssyable in series; no shares and 569 million shares

authorized as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, réeplyc no shares and 543 million shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, cbgply

Common stock, $0.000006 par value; 5,000 milliod 4j141 million Class A shares authorized as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, 1,67lomind 117 million shares issued and outstanding,
including 2 million and 1 million outstanding shargubject to repurchase as of December 31, 2012GH
respectively; 4,141 million Class B shares autheatjZ701 million and 1,213 million shares issued and
outstanding, including 11 million and 2 million standing shares subject to repurchase as of Dec&hpe
2012 and 2011, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

2012 2011
2,38« $ 1,517
7,24: 2,39¢

71¢ 547
451 —
471 14¢
11,26° 4,60/
2,391 1,47¢
1,38¢ 162
57 90
15,10¢  $ 6,331
65 $ 63

16¢ 171
422 29¢

30 90

36¢ 27¢
1,052 89¢
491 39¢
1,50¢ —
30¢ 13t
3,34¢ 1,432
— 61t
10,09¢ 2,68¢
2 (6)
1,65¢ 1,60¢
11,75¢ 4,89¢
15,10¢  $ 6,331

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinanciéBtents.
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FACEBOOK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Marketing and sales
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Income from operations
Interest and other income (expense), net:
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Less: Net income attributable to participating siias
Net income attributable to Class A and Class B coman stockholders
Earnings per share attributable to Class A and Clas B common stockholders:
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares used to compute earnings @hare attributable to Class A
and Class B common stockholders:

Basic
Diluted

Share-based compensation expense included in coatsl expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Marketing and sales
General and administrative

Total share-based compensation expense

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$ 508¢ $ 3,711 $ 1,972
1,36¢ 86C 49:
1,39¢ 38¢ 144
89€ 39z 167
892 314 13¢
4,551 1,95¢ 94z
53¢ 1,75¢ 1,03z
(51 (42) (22)
7 (19) )
494 1,69t 1,00¢
441 69E 402
$ 53 $ 1,000 $ 60€
21 33z 234
$ 32 $ 66 $ 372
$ 00: $ 05: $ 0.3¢
$ 001 $ 0.4 $ 0.2¢
2,00¢ 1,29¢ 1,107
2,16¢ 1,50¢ 1,41¢
$ 88 $ 9 $ —
84z 114 9
30€ 37 2
33t 57 9
$ 157: $ 217 $ 20

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinanciéBtents.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions)
Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Net income $ 52 $ 1,00 $ 60€
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustment 9 — (6)

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale investmemngs,of tax 1 — —

Unrealized loss on derivative, net of tax 2 — —
Comprehensive income $ 61 $ 1,00C $ 60C

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancikBtents.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In millions)
Class A and Accumulated
Convertible Class B Other Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Comprehensive Stockholders'
Paid-In Retained
Shares Amount Shares Par Value Capital (Loss) Income Earnings Equity
Balances at December 31, 2009 54 $ 61E 1,07 $ — % 25¢ % — % — % 86€
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs _ _ 24 _ 50C _ _ 50C
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciséook
options — — 70 — 6 — — 6
Issuance of common stock related to acquisitions _ _ 6 _ 6C _ _ 60
Conversion of Series A preferred stock to commonkst @ — 2 — — — — —
Reclassification of option liability to additionphid-in
capital — — — — 3 — — 3
Share-based compensation, related to employee-shaee
awards — — — — 17 — — 17
Share-based compensation, related to nonemplogee-sh
based awards — — — — 1 — — 1
Excess tax benefit from share-based award activétyof
deferred tax impact — — — — 107 — — 107
Other comprehensive loss _ _ _ _ _ (6) _ (6)
Net income _ _ _ _ _ _ 60€ 60€
Balances at December 31, 2010 541 61F 1,172 — 947 (6 60€ 2,16:
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs _ _ 48 _ 99¢ _ _ 99¢
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciseook
options — — 10z — 28 — — 28
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees for past
services — — — — 3 — — 3
Issuance of common stock related to acquisitions _ _ 2 _ 58 _ _ 58
Exercise of preferred stock warrants 8 _ — — — — — —
Conversion of Series B & C preferred stock to commo
stock (6) — 6 — — — — —
Share-based compensation, related to employee-shaee
awards — — — — 217 — — 217
Excess tax benefit from share-based award activity _ _ _ _ 437 _ _ 437
Net income _ _ _ _ _ _ 1,00( 1,00(
Balances at December 31, 2011 547 61F 1,33( — 2,68¢ (6) 1,60¢ 4,89¢
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs _ _ 18C _ 6,76( _ _ 6,76(
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciseook
options — — 13t — 17 — — 17
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees for past
services — — — — 1 — — 1
Issuance of common stock related to acquisitions _ _ 26 _ 27¢ _ _ 27¢
Issuance of common stock for settlement of restlistock
units (RSUs) — — 27¢ — — — — —
Shares withheld related to net share settlemeRSafs _ _ (129 _ (2,862) _ _ (2,862
Conversion of Series A, B, C, D & E preferred stozk
common stock (54%) (615) 54¢ — 61F — — —
Share-based compensation, related to employee-shaeel
awards — — — — 1,57z — — 1,572
Excess tax benefit from share-based award activity _ _ _ _ 1,03: _ _ 1,03:
Other comprehensive income _ _ _ _ _ 8 _ 8
Net income — — — — — — 52 53
Balances at December 31, 2012 — % — 237:  $ — $ 10,090 $ 2 $ 165¢ $ 11,75t

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancééBtents.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskipgeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on write-off of equipment
Share-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Tax benefit from share-based award activity
Excess tax benefit from share-based award activity
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Income tax refundable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Platform partners payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Deferred revenue and deposits
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of marketable securities
Sales of marketable securities
Maturities of marketable securities
Investments in non-marketable equity securities

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired paurchases of intangible and othel
assets

Change in restricted cash and deposits

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of yquiirds
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of issuance cost
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from sale and lease-back transactions
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Excess tax benefit from share-based award activity

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvasnts

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $

2012 2011 2010

53 $ 1,000 $ 60€
64¢ 32z 13¢
15 4 3
1,572 217 20
(18€) (30) 23
1,03¢ 43z 11¢
(1,039 (439) (115)
(170) (174) (209)
(451) — —
(14 (24 (39)

2 ©) (6)

1 6 12

@) 96 75
16( 37 20
(60) 49 37
43 50 16
1,617 1,54¢ 69¢
(1,23 (60€) (299)
(10,307 (3,025 —
2,10( 112 —
3,33¢ 51€ —
(2 ©) —
(911) (24) (22)
(2 6 9
(7,029) (3,029 (324)
6,76( 99¢ 50C
(2,862) — —
17 28 6
1,49¢ — 25(
— (250) —
20¢ 17C —
(36€) (181) (90)
1,03¢ 43z 11¢
6,28¢ 1,19¢ 781
1 3 @)

872 (279 1,15¢
1,51¢ 1,78¢ 632
238 $ 1,51: $ 1,78¢

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancikBtents.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)
Year Ended December 31,
2012 2010
Supplemental cash flow data

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 38 28 23

Income taxes, net $ 53 197 261
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Net change in accounts payable and accrued expandesther current liabilities

related to property and equipment additions $ (40 13¢ 47

Property and equipment acquired under capital fease $ 34C 477 217

Fair value of shares issued related to acquisitidrimisinesses and other assets $ 274 58 60

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinanciéBtents.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and Description of Business

Facebook was incorporated in Delaware in July 2@4. mission is to make the world more open andeoted. We build products that sup|
our mission by providing utility to Facebook usdpPtatform developers, and marketers. We generdistauntially all of our revenue from advertis
and from fees associated with our Payments infreiire that enables users to purchase virtual myitdldyoods from our Platform developers.

Basis of Presentation

We prepared the consolidated financial statemengccordance with U.S. generally accepted accoyiptimciples (GAAP). The consolidal
financial statements include the accounts of Famlebimc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Allentompany balances and transactions have
eliminated.

Use of Estimates

Conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimad@sl judgments that affect the reported amountksérconsolidated financial statements
accompanying notes. These estimates form the fmagisdgments we make about the carrying valuesunfassets and liabilities, which are not ree
apparent from other sources. We base our estinsstg@gudgments on historical information and on masi other assumptions that we believe
reasonable under the circumstances. GAdduires us to make estimates and judgments iraeameas, including, but not limited to, thoseated tc
revenue recognition, collectability of accountseigable, contingent liabilities, fair value of shdrased awards, fair value of financial instrumefatis
value of acquired intangible assets and goodwsdigful lives of intangible assets and property aquipment, and income taxes. These estimate
based on management's knowledge about currentseaedt expectations about actions we may undertakkeei future. Actual results could dif
materially from those estimates.

Reclassifications

We have reclassified certain prior period amounthiw our consolidated statements of income andh dlasvs to conform to our current ye
presentation. These reclassifications did not affeeviously reported revenue, total costs and ese®, income from operations, net income ir
consolidated statements of income, or net cashiged\by operating activities in the consolidatextesnents of cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

We generate substantially all of our revenue fralueatising and payment processing fees. We recegrézenue once all of the followi
criteria have been met:

. persuasive evidence of an arrangement e

. delivery of Facebook's obligations to our custoimes occurrel
. the price is fixed or determinable; ¢

. collectability of the related receivable is reaably assured.

Revenue for the years ended December 31, 20121, ,281d 2010 consists of the following (in milligns

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Advertising $ 427¢ $ 3,15¢ $ 1,86¢
Payments and other fees 81C 557 10¢€
Total revenue $ 508¢ $ 3,711 $ 1,97¢

Advertising

Advertising revenue is generated by displaying amtlpcts on the Facebook website or mobile app hind-party affiliated websites or mob
apps. The arrangements are evidenced by eithereoaticeptance of terms and conditions or contthatsstipulate
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the types of advertising to be delivered, the tognand the pricing. Marketers pay for ad productsegidirectly or through their relationships v
advertising agencies, based on the number of irsjores delivered or the number of clicks made by wsers. The typical term of an advertis
arrangement is approximately 30 days with billigerally occurring after the delivery of the adissnnent.

We recognize revenue from the delivery of clickdzhads in the period in which a user clicks onctbrtent. We recognize revenue from the
display of impression-based ads in the contracge@ in which the impressions are delivered. Irspi@ns are considered delivered when an ad is
displayed to users.

Payments and Other Fees

We enable Payments from our users to our Platf@weldpers. Our users can transact and make paymeritee Facebook Platform by us
credit cards, PayPal or other payment methodsablailon our website. The primary method for usersansact with the developers on the Face
Platform is via the purchase of our virtual curignehich enables our users to purchase virtualdigiial goods in games and apps. Upon the i
sale of our virtual currency, we record consideratieceived from a user as a deposit.

When a user engages in a payment transactioningiliaur virtual currency for the purchase of await or digital good from a Platfoi
developer, we reduce the user's virtual currendgnigce by the price of the purchase, which is aepthat is solely determined by the Platf
developer. We remit to the Platform developer aoamthat is based on the total amount of virtwatency redeemed less the processing fee th
charge the Platform developer for the transact@ur revenue is the net amount of the transactiepresenting our processing fee for the se
performed. We record revenue on a net basis asowetdconsider ourselves to be the principal insdde of the virtual or digital good to the user.

Our Payments terms and conditions provide for al@p-claim period subsequent to a Payments traosadtiring which the customer
dispute the virtual or digital goods transactiohrdugh the third quarter of 2012, we had deferesmbgnition of Payments revenue until the expir:
of this period as we were unable to make reasoratiaeliable estimates of future refunds or chaagks arising during this claim period, due to
of historical transactional information. Beginniimgthe fourth quarter of 2012, we had 24 monthhisforical transactional information which enat
us to estimate future refunds and chargebacks.rdoagly, in the fourth quarter of 2012, we recorddidPayments revenues at the time of the pur
of the related virtual or digital goods, net ofiestted refunds or chargebacks. This change resintacdnetime increase in Payments revenue ir
fourth quarter of 2012 of approximately $66 millias we recognized revenue from four months of &etisns.

Other fees, which includes user Promoted Posts tand,lesser extent, Facebook Gifts, have not lpeaterial in all periods presented in
financial statements.

Revenue is recognized net of applicable sales dret taxes.
Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of experassociated with the delivery and distribution of ptoducts. These include expenses relat
the operation of our data centers such as fadlity server equipment depreciation, facility andeseequipment rent expense, energy and band
costs, support and maintenance costs, and salbeiesfits and shategased compensation for certain personnel on ouatipas teams. Cost of revel
also includes credit card and other transactios fekated to processing customer transactions.

Share-based Compensation

We account for shareased employee compensation plans under the fhie w&cognition and measurement provisions of GAAROS¢
provisions require all share-based payments to @epk, including grants of stock options and R$tbge measured based on the giate fair valu
of the awards, with the resulting expense generaltpgnized in our consolidated statements of irconer the period during which the employe
required to perform service in exchange for therdwa

Prior to January 1, 2011, we granted RSUs @@l RSUs) under our 2005 Stock Plan to our emplewed members of our board of direc
that vested upon the satisfaction of both a semtirelition and a liquidity condition. The serviaendition for the majority of these awards is s&tid
over four years The liquidity condition was satisfied six montafier our initial public offering (IPO) in May 201Zhe vesting condition that w
satisfied six months following our IPO did not aff¢he expense attribution period for the RSUswhich the service condition has been met as ¢
date of our IPO. This sironth period was not a substantive service conddiud, accordingly, beginning on the effectiveradssur IPO in May 201!
we recognized cumulative shavased compensation expense for the portion of BldsRhat had met the service condition, followihg &accelerate
attribution method (net of estimated forfeiturels).the year ended December 31, 2012 , we recogrze@ billion of shardsased compensati
expense related to our Pre-2011 RSUs. Refer to Nbttockholders' Equity for disclosure with reggedhe settlement of the Pre-2011 RSUs.

RSUs granted on or after January 1, 2011 (R6%tt RSUs) under our 2005 Stock Plan or 2012 Edqoigntive Plan (2012 Plan)are not suk
to a liquidity condition in order to vest, and caangation expense related to these grants is baste grant date fair
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value of the RSUs and is recognized on a straigbtdasis over the applicable service period. Thgority of Post2011 RSUs are earned ove
service period of four to five years , and vestearss will be settled beginning in 2013.

Sharebased compensation expense is recorded net ofatstnforfeitures in our consolidated statementnodme and as such, only th
sharebased awards that we expect to vest are recordecedfimate the forfeiture rate based on histofmdieitures of equity awards and adjust
rate to reflect changes in facts and circumstantasy. We will revise our estimated forfeiturdeaf actual forfeitures differ from our initial emates

We have historically issued unvested restrictedeshéo employee stockholders of certain acquiradpamies. As these awards are gene
subject to continued post-acquisition employmerg, have accounted for them as post-acquisition dhesed compensation expense. We reco
compensation expense equal to the grant datedhieof the common stock on a straight-line bagés the employee's required service period.

During the years ended December 31, 2012 , 20h#l 2810 , we realized tax benefits from share-baseatrd activity of $1.03 billion $43:
million and $115 million , respectively. These amtsureflect the extent that the total reductiorotw income tax liability from shareased awal
activity was greater than the amount of the defetasx assets that we had previously recorded iicipation of these benefits. These amounts ar
aggregate of the individual transactions in whisé teduction to our income tax liability was gredtean the deferred tax assets that we recc
reduced by any individual transactions in which th@uction to our income tax liability was lessrttihe deferred tax assets that were recorded.
net amounts were recorded as an adjustment tosilotdes' equity in each period, as an increaseast flows from operating activities, and were
recognized in our consolidated statements of income

The tax benefits realized from share-based awadtgoof $1.03 billionrelate to both the reduction of current year incaaneliabilities and th
expected refund of $451 million from income taxd@srrybacks to 2010 and 2011.

In addition, we reported excess tax benefits tleatehsed our cash flows from operating activitied iacreased our cash flows from financ
activities for the years ended December 31, 2A®11 , and 2010 , by $1.03 billion , $433 millio$1,15 million, respectively. The amounts of th
excess tax benefits reflect the total of the irdlial transactions in which the reduction to ourome tax liability was greater than the deferrec
assets that were recorded, but were not reduceahyppf the individual transactions in which theuetibn to our income tax liability was less thar
deferred tax assets that were recorded.

Income Taxes

We recognize income taxes under the asset anditijaiiethod. We recognize deferred income tax asaatl liabilities for the expected fut
consequences of temporary differences betweenirthadial reporting and tax bases of assets anditie® These differences are measured usin
enacted statutory tax rates that are expectedply ap taxable income for the years in which diffleces are expected to reverse. We recogni:
effect on deferred income taxes of a change imdges in income in the period that includes thecenant date.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the net amount that we beliewgoig likely than not to be realized. '
consider all available evidence, both positive amdative, including historical levels of incomepegtations and risks associated with estimat
future taxable income and ongoing tax planningisgias in assessing the need for a valuation alioe:a

We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax posgionly if we believe that it is more likely thaot that the tax position will be sustainec
examination by the taxing authorities based ortéblnical merits of the position. We make adjustimém these reserves when facts and circumst
change, such as the closing of a tax audit orefisament of an estimate. The provision for incamees includes the effects of any reserves thi
considered appropriate, as well as the relatethterest and penalties.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred aadnafuded in marketing and sales expenses indbenapanying consolidated statement
income. We incurred advertising expenses of $6%Tianil, $28 million , and $8 million for the yearsded December 31, 2012 , 2011 , and 2010
respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Secustie

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of castieposit with banks and investments in moneykatdunds, and U.S. government and |
government agency securities with maturities oflgs or less from the date of purchase.

We hold investments in marketable securities, atimgj of U.S. government and U.S. government agsecyrities We classify our marketat
securities as available-feale investments in our current assets becauserdpggsent investments of cash available for ctirogrerations. Ot
available-forsale investments are carried at estimated fairevalith any unrealized gains and losses, net ofstakeluded in accumulated ot
comprehensive income/(loss) in stockholders' equityealized losses are charged against other
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income (expense), net when a decline in fair vidugetermined to be other-théemporary. We have not recorded any such impairrdeatge in th
periods presented. We determine realized gainessek on sale of marketable securities on a spégéhtification method, and record such gair
losses as other income (expense), net.

We classify certain restricted cash balances withepaid expenses and other current assets andastets on the accompanying consolic
balance sheets based upon the term of the remaistiictions.

Non-Marketable Securities

We invest in certain investment funds that are mdlicly traded. We carry these investments at destause we do not have signific
influence over the underlying investee. We assasarfy other-thatemporary impairment at least on an annual basisiniyairment charge has bt
recorded to-date on our non-marketable securlfiesclassify these investments within other assetie accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We account for derivative instruments as eitheetssr liabilities and carry them at fair value.r Eterivative instruments that hedge
exposure to variability in expected future cashvBahat are designated as célshv hedges, the effective portion of the gain @sd on the derivati
instruments is initially reported as a separate pument of accumulated other comprehensive incom@QW in shareholders' equity and
subsequently recognized in earnings when the heggesure is recognized in earnings. The ineffegiiogion of the gain or loss on the deriva
instruments, if any, is recognized in earningsrdaeive hedge accounting treatment, a cash flowédetlist be highly effective in offsetting changa
expected future cash flows on the hedged transactio

In October 2012 we entered into an interest ra@psagreement to hedge our exposure to interestiuataation with respect to o1.5 billior
floating rate threeyear unsecured term loan facility. The criticahtsrof the interest rate swap agreement and theedetiebt agreement match
allow us to designate the interest rate swap aghdyheffective cash flow hedge under GAAP. We pditally assess the effectiveness of our he
transaction. The interest rate swap agreementrierdly our only derivative instrument and is need for trading purpose. Refer to Note 9 Loagy
Debt for further disclosure on the interest ratap\@greement.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply fair value accounting for all financiabats and liabilities and ndinancial assets and liabilities that are recogmhiaedisclosed at fe
value in the financial statements on a recurringiaVe define fair value as the price that wowdddceived from selling an asset or paid to trare
liability in an orderly transaction between marpetticipants at the measurement date. When detemgnihe fair value measurements for asset:
liabilities, which are required to be recordedait #7alue, we consider the principal or most adagabus market in which we would transact an
marketbased risk measurements or assumptions that mgakitipants would use in pricing the asset oriliigh such as risks inherent in valuat
techniques, transfer restrictions and credit ii&r value is estimated by applying the followirigrarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to nuee
fair value into three levels and bases the categtion within the hierarchy upon the lowest leveinput that is available and significant to thér
value measurement:

Level 1-Quoted prices in active markets for identical &sse liabilities.

Level 2-Observable inputs other than quoted prices in aatiarkets for identical assets and liabilities, tqdgprices for identical or simil
assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or othguts that are observable or can be corroborayedbservable market data for substantially thé
term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3-Inputs that are generally unobservable and typiaallect management's estimate of assumptionsniaket participants would use
pricing the asset or liability.

Our valuation technigues used to measure the &irevof money market funds and marketable debt#iesuwere derived from quoted price:
active markets for identical assets or liabiliteesl our valuation technique used to measure thevdhie of our derivative instrument was based
model-driven valuation using significant inputsided from or corroborated by observable market.data

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acous

Accounts receivable are recorded and carried atrigenal invoiced amount less an allowance for potential uncollectible amounts. We make
estimates for the allowance for doubtful accouiselol upon our assessment of various factors, imgludstorical experience, the age of the accounts
receivable balances, credit quality of our cust@neurrent economic conditions, and other factioas tmay affect customers' ability to pay.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which includes amountsrdecbunder capital leases, are stated at costebiegipn is computed using the straidihe
method over the estimated useful lives of the assethe remaining lease term, in the case of datdgase, whichever is shorter.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipraes described below:

Property and Equipment Useful Life
Network equipment Three to four years
Buildings 15 to 20 years

Computer software, office equipment and other Two to five years
Leased equipment and leasehold improvements  Lesser of estimated useful life or remaining leasm

Land and assets held within construction in pragege not depreciated. Construction in progresslaged to the construction or developmet
property and equipment that have not yet been glacservice for their intended use.

The cost of maintenance and repairs is expensattaged. When assets are retired or otherwiseodip of, the cost and related accumu
depreciation are removed from their respective actsy) and any gain or loss on such sale or disp@saflected in income from operations.

Lease Obligations

We lease office space, data centers, and equipuneler non-cancelable capital and operating leagi@ésvarious expiration dates through 2027
Certain of the operating lease agreements conéiih hrolidays, rent escalation provisions, and pasehoptions. Rent holidays and rent escal
provisions are considered in determining the shitdige rent expense to be recorded over the leage fEhe lease term begins on the date of i
possession of the leased property for purposeeagnizing lease expense on a straligi®-basis over the term of the lease. We do nstirag
renewals in our determination of the lease ternessithe renewals are deemed to be reasonably dssuease inception.

Loss Contingencies

We are involved in various lawsuits, claims, inigations and proceedings that arise in the ordimanyrse of business. We record a liab
when we believe that it is both probable that @ loas been incurred and the amount can be reagagstivhated. Significant judgment is require
determine both probability and the estimated amoiM& review these provisions at least quarterly agljdst these provisions accordingly to reflec
impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, aeldtlegal counsel, and updated information.

Business Combinations

We allocate the fair value of purchase considematiothe tangible assets acquired, liabilities asesii and intangible assets acquired base
their estimated fair values. The excess of the ¥alue of purchase consideration over the fair @slof these identifiable assets and liabilitie
recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require mamant to make significant estimates and assumptespecially with respect to intangible as:
During the measurement period, which is one yeanfthe acquisition date, we may record adjustmintse assets acquired and liabilities assu
with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon tanclusion of the measurement period, any subsg@uaustments are recorded to earnings.

Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Other Agiged Intangible Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of property and pmént and amortizable intangible assets for passilpairment whenever events
circumstances indicate that the carrying amousuch assets may not be recoverable. Recoveratiilihese assets is measured by a comparison
carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cashdlthe assets are expected to generate. If sugwréndicates that the carrying amount of prog
and equipment and intangible assets is not recbleerthe carrying amount of such assets is redteddir value. We have not recorded any
impairment charge during the years presented.

We review goodwill for impairment at least annuallymore frequently if events or changes in circtamses indicate that the carrying valu
goodwill may not be recoverable. We have electefitdbassess the qualitative factors to determihether it is more likely than not that the faitue
of our single reporting operating unit is less thitarcarrying amount as a basis for determiningtiwbieit is necessary to perform the tatep goodwil
impairment under the new authoritative guidancaedsby the Financial Accounting Standards BoardSBA If we determine that it is more lik
than not that its fair value is less than its dagyamount, then the twstep goodwill impairment test is performed. Thetfstep, identifying a potent
impairment, compares the fair value of the repgrtimit with its carrying amount. If the carrying aomt exceeds its fair value, the second step v
need to be performed; otherwise, no
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further step is required. The second step, measgthimimpairment loss, compares the implied failue@af the goodwill with the carrying amount of
goodwill. Any excess of the goodwill carrying amowver the applied fair value is recognized as rapairment loss, and the carrying value
goodwill is written down to fair value. As of Decber 31, 2012 , no impairment of goodwill has betantified.

Acquired amortizable intangible assets, which acduded in goodwill and intangible assets, net,aam®rtized on a straighiie basis over tt
estimated useful lives of the assets. The estintat@aining useful lives for intangible assets rafige less than one year to 17 years .

In addition to the recoverability assessment, weinely review the remaining estimated useful lieéproperty and equipment and amortizi
intangible assets. If we reduce the estimated uffitassumption for any asset, the remaining uordized balance would be amortized or deprec
over the revised estimated useful life.

Deferred Revenue and Deposits

Deferred revenue consists of billings in advanceesEnue recognition. Deposits relate to unusedialicurrency held by our users. Once
virtual currency is utilized by a user, approxinhaté0% of this amount would then be payable to the Plaifaleveloper and the balance woulc
recognized as revenue.

Deferred revenue and deposits consists of thevalig (in millions):

December 31,

2012 2011
Deferred revenue $ 8 $ 75
Deposits 22 15
Total deferred revenue and deposits $ 30 $ 90

Foreign Currency

Generally the functional currency of our internaibsubsidiaries is the local currency. We traesthe financial statements of these subsidi
to U.S. dollars using montbrd rates of exchange for assets and liabilitied,sverage rates of exchange for revenue, costsggenses. Translati
gains and losses are recorded in accumulated otimeprehensive income (loss) as a component of lstbd&rs' equity. Net losses resulting fi
foreign exchange transactions were $9 million , 828on and $1 million for the years ended Decem®g, 2012 , 2011 and 201@espectively. The:
losses were recorded as other income (expense)nrair consolidated statements of income.

Credit Risk and Concentration

Financial instruments owned by the company that @oentially subject to concentrations of credgkriconsist primarily of cash, ce
equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securaigsounts receivable, and derivative instrumedash equivalents consist of sht@tm money mark
funds and U.S. government and U.S. government ggsecurities, which are deposited with reputable financial itn§bns. Marketable securiti
consist of investments in U.S. government and ldgd&ernment agency securities . Our investment pdlinits investment instruments t0.S.
government and U.S. government agency securitigstiv main objective of preserving capital andntaning liquidity.

Accounts receivable are typically unsecured anddaréved from revenue earned from customers adifsent industries and countries. '
generated 51% , 56% , and 62% of our revenue y#ars ended December 31, 2012 , 2011 , and 2@HKpectively, from marketers and Platfi
developers based in the United States, with thenitygjof revenue outside of the United States capfiom customers located in western Eur
Canada, Australia, and Brazil.

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custsnand generally do not require collateral. Wéntai an allowance for estimated cr
losses. During the years ended December 31, 20021, , and 2010 , our bad debt expenses were $8mil$8 million , and $9 million respectively
In the event that accounts receivable collectiarias/deteriorate, our operating results and fir@nosition could be adversely affected.

Revenue from one customer, Zynga, represented I28tab revenue for the year ended December 311 2BRevenue from Zynga consistec
payments processing fees related to their salé@tofav goods and from direct advertising purchasg@ynga. No customer represented 10% or mc
total revenue during the years ended December@L, and 2010 .
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Segments

Our chief operating decisiomaker is our Chief Executive Officer who reviewsdincial information presented on a consolidateésbasere ar
no segment managers who are held accountable mhifeoperating decisiomaker, or anyone else, for operations, operatiaglt® and planning f
levels or components below the consolidated unilleAccordingly, we have determined that we haw@ngle reporting segment and operating
structure.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronounceinen
Comprehensive Income

In May 2011, the FASB issued guidance that charthedrequirement for presenting "Comprehensive Irebon the consolidated financ
statements. The update requires an entity to preabencomponents of other comprehensive incomeeriith a single continuous statemen
comprehensive income or in two separate but cotivecstatements. The update is effective for fisedrs, and interim periods within those ye
beginning after December 15, 2011 and should beéeabpetrospectively. We adopted this new guidamedanuary 1, 2012.

Goodwill Impairment Testing

In September 2011, the FASB issued an amendmaeart &xisting accounting standard which providestiestan option to perform a qualitat
assessment to determine whether further impairtesting on goodwill is necessary. An entity now s option to first assess qualitative facto
determine whether it is necessary to perform theeoti twostep impairment test. If an entity believes, assult of its qualitative assessment, that
more-likely-thannot that the fair value of a reporting unit is lélsan its carrying amount, the quantitative impa&nitest is required. Otherwise,
further testing is required. This standard is effecfor annual and interim goodwill impairment teperformed for fiscal years beginning &
December 15, 2011. We adopted this new standadduwawmary 1, 2012 and the adoption did not have amahimpact on our financial statements.

Note 2. Acquisitions

In August 2012, we completed our acquisition oftdgsam, Inc. (Instagram), a privately-held comparjch has built a mobile phormse:
photosharing service that is expected to enhance outophroduct offerings and to enable users to irseraéheir levels of mobile engagement
photo sharing. We have accounted for this transacis a business acquisition for a total purchase pf $521 million, consisting of the issuance
approximately 12 million vested shares of our CBs®mmon stock to non-employee stockholders dabram and $300 millioim cash. The value
the equity component of the purchase price wasmé@ted for accounting purposes based on the fdirevaf our common stock on the closing d
We also issued approximately 11 millianvested shares of our Class B common stock tommelstockholders of Instagram on the closing deite
an aggregate fair value of $194 million , whichle# recognized as they vest over a three -yeaicgeperiod as share-based compensation expense.

In 2012, we also completed other business accuusitfor total consideration of $87 millianThese acquisitions were not material to
consolidated financial statements individually orthe aggregate. Pro forma results of operatioledec to our acquisition of Instagram or of o
companies during the year ended December 31, BA¥€ not been presented because they are not ahdtedur consolidated statements of incc
either individually or in the aggregate.

The following table summarizes the allocation d&f fhir values of the assets acquired and liaksliissumed and the related useful lives, v
applicable:

Instagram, Inc. Other
Useful lives (in Useful lives (in
(in millions) years) (in millions) years)
Amortizable intangible assets:
Acquired technology $ 74 5 $ 2C 3-5
Tradename and other 64 2-7 8 2-3
Net liabilities assumed (D) 4
Deferred tax liabilities (49 9)
Net assets acquired $ 88 $ 15
Goodwill 432 72
Total fair value considerations $ 521 $ 87

Goodwill generated from all business acquisitioospleted during 2012 is primarily attributable tgected synergies from future growth
potential monetization opportunities and is notuigitble for tax purposes.
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In 2012, we also acquired $633 milliaf patents and other intellectual property rightée completed the largest of these intangible
purchases in June 2012 under an agreement wittoMitrCorporation pursuant to which we were assigierosoft's rights to acquire approximal
615 U.S. patents and patent applications and ocewdfitheir foreign counterparts, consisting of apgmately 170foreign patents and pat
applications, that were subject to an agreemenwdst AOL Inc. and Microsoft entered into on AprilZ012. We paid $550 milliom cash i
exchange for these patents and patent applicatemgart of this transaction, we established a rdefetax liability of $49 millionto reflect th
difference between the future tax basis and bosisba the acquired patents and patent applicatiwhikh also increased the capitalized patent loy
this amount. As part of this transaction, we olgdima license to the other AOL patents and pateplicapions being purchased by Microsoft
granted Microsoft a license to the AOL patents patént applications that we acquired. The acqaisitiof these patents, patent applications and
intellectual property rights were accounted foraaset acquisitions. Patents acquired during 2042 bsatimated useful lives ranging from thred 7o
years from the dates of acquisition.

Note 3. Earnings per Share

We compute earnings per share (EPS) of Class ACiass B common stock using the telass method required for participating securi
Prior to the date of the IPO, we considered alesesf our convertible preferred stock to be pgrtiting securities due to their nanmulative dividen
rights. Immediately after the completion of our IROMay 2012, all outstanding shares of convertiimeferred stock converted to Class B com
stock. Additionally, we consider restricted stockaads to be participating securities, because heldé such shares have nforfeitable dividen
rights in the event of our declaration of a dividéar common shares.

Undistributed earnings allocated to these parttoigasecurities are subtracted from net income étednining net income attributable
common stockholders. Net losses, if any are notatked to these participating securities. Basic ER®mputed by dividing net income attributabl
common stockholders by the weightaderage number of shares of our Class A and ClassrBnon stock outstanding, adjusted for outstandirage
that are subject to repurchase.

For the calculation of diluted EPS, net incomeilaitable to common stockholders for basic EPS jasaeld by the effect of dilutive securiti
including awards under our equity compensation gldn addition, the computation of the diluted EBfSClass A common stock assumes
conversion from Class B common stock, while thetdidl EPS of Class B common stock does not assueneothversion of those shares. Diluted
attributable to common stockholders is computediividing the resulting net income attributable tmronon stockholders by the weightaderag
number of fully diluted common shares outstanding.

Dilutive securities in our diluted EPS calculatifor the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201Gtmclude Pre2011 RSUs. Vesting
these RSUs is dependent upon the satisfaction @f &dcservice condition and a liquidity conditionheT liquidity condition is satisfied upon 1
occurrence of a qualifying event, defined as a ghasf control transaction or six months followirg tcompletion of our IPO. Our IPO did not oc
until May 2012. Therefore, prior to this date theders of these RSUs had no rights in our undigteid earnings and accordingly, they are excl
from the effect of basic and dilutive securitieawéver, subsequent to the completion of our IPMay 2012, these RSUs are included in our t
and diluted EPS calculation. P@11 RSUs are not subject to a liquidity conditiororder to vest, and are thus included in theuwaton of dilutet
EPS. We also excluded 15 million and three milRwost-2011 RSUs for the years ended December 32, &0 December 31, 201 tespectively, ar
two million shares issuable upon exercise of emgrostock options for the year ended December 31 B8cause the impact would be anti-dilutive.

Basic and diluted EPS are the same for each cfassmumon stock because they are entitled to theedmmidation and dividend rights.
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The numerators and denominators of the basic datediEPS computations for our common stock areutatled as follows (in millions, exce
per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Class Class Class Class Class Class
A B A B A B
Basic EPS:
Numerator
Net income $ 18 $ 35 % 85 $ 91t 3 18 $ 58¢
Less: Net income attributable to participating sei@s 7 14 28 304 7 227
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 1 $ 21 $ 57 $ 611 $ 11 $ 361
Denominator
Weighted average shares outstanding 66€& 1,34« 11C 1,18¢ 32 1,081
Less: Shares subject to repurchase 1 5 — 5 — 6
Number of shares used for basic EPS computation 667 1,33¢ 11C 1,18/ 32 1,07¢
Basic EPS $ 002 $ 00z $ 05z $ 052 $ 03¢ $ 0.34
Diluted EPS:
Numerator
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 1 $ 21 $ 57 $ 611 $ 11 $ 361
Reallocation of net income attributable to partitipg securities — — 31 — 30 —
Reallocation of net income as a result of convarsioClass B to Class
common stock 21 — 611 — 361 —
Reallocation of net income to Class B common stock — 1 — 37 — 32

Net income attributable to common stockholderdditited EPS  $ 32 % 22 $ 69¢ $ 648t $ 402 $ 39¢
Denominator

Number of shares used for basic EPS computation 667 1,33¢ 11C 1,18¢ 32 1,07t
Conversion of Class B to Class A common stock 1,33¢ — 1,18¢ — 1,07t —
Weighted average effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options 134 134 204 204 29k 29k
RSUs 23 23 5 5 — —
Shares subject to repurchase 3 3 3 3 4 4
Warrants — — 2 2 8 8
Number of shares used for diluted EPS computation 2,16¢ 1,49¢ 1,50¢ 1,39¢ 1414 1,382
Diluted EPS $ 001 $ 001 $ 04€ $ 04€ $ 028 $ 0.2¢€
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Note 4. Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securitg

The following table sets forth the cash, cash eajaivts and marketable securities for the periodsgmted (in millions):

December 31,

2012 2011
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash $ 151: §$ 51C
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds 871 892
U.S. government securities — 60
U.S. government agency securities — 50
Total cash and cash equivalents 2,38¢ 1,51z
Marketable securities:
U.S. government securities 5,16t 1,41°¢
U.S. government agency securities 2,077 981
Total marketable securities 7,24z 2,39¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable siesurit $ 9,62¢ $ 3,90¢

The gross unrealized gains or losses on our mdileescurities as of December 31, 2012 and 20dre not significant. In addition, there w
no securities in a continuous loss position fonddhths or longer as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 .

The following table classifies our marketable séms by contractual maturities: (in millions):

December 31,

2012 2011
Due in one year $ 481t $ 1,96¢
Due in one to two years 2,427 432
Total $ 724z % 2,39¢
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Note 5. Fair Value Measuremen

The following table summarizes, for assets or litd$ measured at fair value, the respective ¥alue and the classification by level of in

within the fair value hierarchy (in millions):

Fair Value Measurement at

Reporting Date Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 871 $ 871 $ — —
Marketable securities:
U.S. government securities 5,16¢ 5,16¢ — —
U.S. government agency securities 2,07 2,071 — —
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 8,11: §$ 8,11: $ — —
Other current liabilities:
Contingent consideration liability $ 4 % — — 4
Other liabilities:
Derivative financial instrument $ 4 % — 3 4 —
Fair Value Measurement at
Reporting Date Using
Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 89z % 89z — —
U.S. government securities 60 60 — —
U.S. government agency securities 50 50 — —
Total cash equivalents 1,00z 1,00z — —
Marketable securities:
U.S. government securities 1,41¢ 1,41¢ — —
U.S. government agency securities 981 981 — —
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 3,39 $ 3,39¢ $ = =

There was no contingent consideration liabilityraerest rate swap as of December 31, 2011 .

Our Level 2 derivative financial instrument repmseour interest rate swap agreement which is dahssed on a valuation model us
significant inputs derived from or corroborateddbservable market data.

We estimate the fair value of our Level 3 contirigeonsideration liability based on the probabildgsessment of the eawot criteria. It
developing these estimates, we consider factorobse¢rved in the market and thus this represehtsval 3 measurement. Level 3 instruments
valued based on unobservable inputs that are stgupby little or no market activity and reflect cawn assumptions in measuring fair value. Out
value estimate of this liability was $6 milliat the date of acquisition. Changes in the faiugaif the contingent consideration liability subsemut tc
the acquisition date, such as changes in the pilitpaissessment and our stock prices, are recegriiz earnings in the period when the change i
estimated fair value occurs.
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Note 6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the followimgnillions):

Network equipment

Land

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Computer software, office equipment and other
Construction in progress

Total

Less: accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment, net

December 31,

2012 2011
$ 191 $ 1,01¢
36 34
594 35¢
194 12C
93 73
444 327
3,27¢ 1,92t
(882) (450)
$ 2,391 $ 1,47¢

Depreciation expense on property and equipmentpbés million , $303 million and $129 million durir@p12, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Property and equipment at December 31, 2012 and R@ludes $1.28 billion and $881 millionrespectively, acquired under capital l¢
agreements of which the majority is included in poter software, office equipment, and other. Acclatad depreciation of property and equipn
acquired under these capital leases was $437 malim $210 million at December 31, 2012 and 20&%pectively.

Construction in progress includes costs primaghated to the construction of data centers andpeggemt located in our data centers in Ore
North Carolina, and Sweden. Interest capitalizetihdLthe years presented was not mate

Note 7. Goodwill and Intangible Asset:

The changes in carrying amount of goodwill for ylears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are aw$afio millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2010 $ 37
Goodwill acquired 48
Effect of currency translation adjustment 3)
Balance as of December 31, 2011 82
Goodwill acquired 50&
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 587
Intangible assets consist of the following (in ioifis):
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Useful lives
from date of
acquisitions (in  Gross Carrying Accumula_ted Net Carrying Gross Carrying Accumula_ted Net Carrying
years) Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Amortizable intangible assets:
Acquired patents 3-18 $ 684 $ 53 $ 631 $ 51 §% 4 $ 47
Acquired technology 2-10 133 (32 101 38 (15) 23
Tradename and other 2-7 94 (25) 69 23 a3 10
Total $ 911 $ (110 $ 801 $ 11z $ B2 $ 80

Amortization expense of intangible assets for tharg ended December 31, 2012 , 2011 , and 2018@%@asmillion , $20 million ,
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and $9 million , respectively.

As of December 31, 201,2expected amortization expense for the unamor@weglired intangible assets for the next five yead thereafter
as follows (in millions):

2013 $ 12¢€
2014 12C
2015 112
2016 10z
2017 86
Thereafter 25k
Total $ 801

Note 8. Accrued expenses and other current liabilitie
The components of accrued expenses and other tliatgitities were as follows (in millions):

December 31,

2012 2011
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 14€ $ 57
Other current liabilities 277 23¢
Total accrued expenses and other current liatsilitie $ 423 $ 29¢

Note 9. Long-term Debt

In 2011, we entered into an agreement for an umeddive -year revolving credit facility that all@d us to borrow up to $2.5 billionwith
interest payable on borrowed amounts set at LIBQR p.0% . Noamounts were drawn down under this agreement & oémber 31, 2011. Tt
credit facility was terminated in February 2012.

In February 2012, we entered into a new agreenuerarf unsecured five -year revolving credit fagititat allows us to borrow up &b billion
for general corporate purposes, with interest playab the borrowed amounts set at LIBOR plus 1.@#igination fees are amortized over the ter
the credit facility. Under the terms of the agreatae are obligated to pay a commitment fee o®0%1per annum on the daily undrawn balance
of December 31, 2012, no amounts were drawn dowmanwere in compliance with the covenants underdtedit facility.

Concurrent with our entering into the revolvingditdacility in February 2012, we also entered iatbridge credit facility agreement that allc
us to borrow up to $3 billioto fund tax withholding and remittance obligatioesated to the settlement of RSUs in connectioth witir IPO, witl
interest payable on the borrowed amounts set aORBlus 1.0% and an additional 0.2%fyable on drawn balances outstanding from and ¢
180th day of borrowing. Under the terms of the agrent, we are obligated to pay a commitment fe®.80% per annum on the daily undra
balance from and after the 90th day following théedwve entered into the bridge facility.

In October 2012, we amended and restated our badggt facility, and converted it into a thregear unsecured term loan facility (Amen
and Restated Term Loan) that allows us to borrowoui.5 billionto fund tax withholding and remittance obligatioetated to the settlement of RS
in connection with our IPO with interest payabletba borrowed amounts set at LIBOR plus 1.0% , el @ an annual commitment fee of 0.1686
the daily undrawn balance of the facility. We paiijination fees at closing of the Amended and &estt Term Loan, which fees are being amor
over the term of the facility. On October 25, 2Q2&e fully drew down the $1.5 billioavailable on the Amended and Restated Term Loduni ¢
portion of the withholding tax liability that arisgue to the vesting and settlement of RSUs in Gutelmd November 2012. We paid an additi
upfront fee of 0.15% of the $1.5 billiarawn down on the funding date, which fee is banwprtized over the remaining term of the facilithe
amount outstanding under this facility will becoohge and payable on October 25, 2015. As of DeceBihe?012, we were in compliance with t
covenants in the Amended and Restated Term Loan.

In connection with the draw down of the Amended Rss$tated Term Loan, we entered into an interéstswap agreement with an effec
date of October 25, 2012. The notional amount efititerest rate swap agreement is $1.5 billionthedagreement converts the one-month LIB@R
on the corresponding notional amount of debt tixedfinterest rate of 1.46% hedge our exposure to interest rate fluctuafldnis interest rate sw.
has a maturity date of October 25, 2015. We hag@dated the interest rate swap agreement as dyfuahedging instrument and accounted for
a cash flow hedge.
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As of December 31, 2012 the change in fair valuthisfinterest rate swap agreement, net of tax$amillion and is recognized in AOCI wi
the corresponding fair value of $4 milliamcluded in other liabilities on our consolidategldnce sheet. For the year ended December 31, &t
amount of loss in other comprehensive income reiflad to interest expense was not significant.réhgere no realized gains or losses on deriv
other than those related to the periodic settleroktite interest rate swap.

We estimate that $3 millioof derivative losses included in AOCI will be resd#fied into earnings within the next 12 monthsisTdmount he
been calculated based on the variable interestssiemptions used in the fair value calculatiothefinterest rate swap agreement aBetember 3:
2012 .

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencie
Commitments
Leases

We entered into various capital lease arrangementdbtain property and equipment for our operatiohdditionally, on occasion we ha
purchased property and equipment for which we tsaNxsequently obtained capital financing under Esleeback transactions. These agreemen
typically for three years except for building lessehich are for 15 years , with interest rates iregndrom 1% to 13% The leases are secured by
underlying leased buildings, leasehold improvemeantsl equipment. We have also entered into vamomsancelable operating lease agreemen
certain of our offices, equipment, land and dataters with original lease periods expiring betwaew and 2027 We are committed to pay a port
of the related actual operating expenses undeginesf these lease agreements. Certain of theaagements have free rent periods or escalatin
payment provisions, and we recognize rent expenderwsuch arrangements on a straight-line basis.

The following is a schedule, by years, of the fatarinimum lease payments required under cameelable capital and operating leases
December 31, 2012 (in millions):

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
2013 $ 39 % 14z
2014 27¢ 12¢
2015 12t 117
2016 20 11C
2017 15 10z
Thereafter 142 252
Total minimum lease payments $ 97¢ $ 851
Less: amount representing interest and taxes (123)
Less: current portion of the present value of mimmease payments (365)
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion $ 491

Operating lease expenses totaled $196 million 9%®illion , and $178 million for the years endedcBeber 31, 2012 , 2011 and 2010
respectively.

Other contractual commitments

We also have $749 million of non-cancelable cotitralccommitments as of December 31, 20p2imarily related to equipment and supplies
our data center operations, and, to a lesser extemstruction of our data center sites. The mgjaf these commitments are due in 2013.

Contingencies
Legal Matters

Beginning on May 22, 2012, multiple putative classions, derivative actions, and individual actiorese filed in state and federal courts in
United States and in other jurisdictions againstous directors, and/or certain of our officerseglhg violation of securities laws or breach otificary
duties in connection with our IPO and seeking uondigel damages. We believe these lawsuits are witlmoerit, and we intend to continue
vigorously defend them. On October 4, 2012, onmation, the vast majority of the cases in the UWhifates, along with multiple cases filed ag:i
The NASDAQ OMX Group, Inc. and The Nasdaq Stock h¢aiLC (collectively referred to herein as NASDA&)eging technical and other trading-
related errors by NASDAQ in connection with our |P@ere ordered centralized for coordinated or chdated pretrial proceedings in the Unit
States District Court for the Southern DistrictNg#w York.
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In addition, the events surrounding our IPO haveobee the subject of various government inquiriasl, \@e are cooperating with those inquiries.

In the opinion of management, there was not at easasonable possibility we may have incurredateral loss, or a material loss in exces
a recorded accrual, with respect to loss contingsnelating to the matters set forth above. Howethe outcome of litigation is inherently uncent
Therefore, although management considers theliideti of such an outcome to be remote, if one orembithese legal matters were resolved ag
us in the same reporting period for amounts in exad management's expectations, our consolidateddial statements of a particular repor
period could be materially adversely affected.

We are also party to various legal proceedingscdaiths which arise in the ordinary course of businéAmong these pending legal matters,
cases are currently scheduled for trial in the figtare: Summit 6 LLC v. Research in Motion Corporationlet £ase No. 3:11cv00367, is sched
to begin trial as early as February 19, 2013, @WhS. District Court for the Northern District ©éxas, and’imelines, Inc. v. Facebook, In€ase Nc
1:2011cv06867, is scheduled to begin trial on Ap#) 2013, in the U.S. District Court for the Nath District of Illinois. In theSummit 6case, th
plaintiffs allege that Facebook infringes certastgnts held by the plaintiffs. In thEmelinescase, the plaintiffs allege that Facebook infring
trademark held by the plaintiffs. In both cases, ghaintiffs are seeking significant monetary dassagnd equitable relief.

We believe the claims made by tBaimmit 6plaintiffs and theTimelinesplaintiffs are without merit, and we intend to dooe to defen
ourselves vigorously in both cases. Although theeeme of litigation is inherently uncertain, we mot believe the possibility of loss in either bés:
cases is probable. We are unable to estimatege mafnloss, if any, that could result were therbeaan adverse final decision, and we have notiac
a liability for either matter. If an unfavorabletoome were to occur in tfBummit 6case and/or th&imelinescase, it is possible that the impact ct
be material to our results of operations in theqo§s) in which any such outcome becomes probatileestimable.

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, to facilitateigections of services and products, we have adoeglemnify certain parties with respec
certain matters. We have agreed to hold certaitiggaharmless against losses arising from a bredarepresentations or covenants, or o
intellectual property infringement or other claimade by third parties. These agreements may limitime within which an indemnification claim «
be made and the amount of the claim. In additioahave entered into indemnification agreements withofficers, directors, and certain employ
and our certificate of incorporation and bylawsteimsimilar indemnification obligations.

It is not possible to determine the maximum potdndéimount under these indemnification agreements tduthe limited history of pri
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each particular agreemeistotically, payments made by us under tl
agreements have not had a material impact on owsotidated financial position, results of operasi@m cash flows. In our opinion, as@&cember 3:
2012, there was not at least a reasonable possibil@yhad incurred a material loss with respect to imuécation of such parties. We have
recorded any liability for costs related to indefizaition through December 31, 2012 .

Note 11. Stockholders' Equity
Initial Public Offering

In May 2012, we completed our IPO in which we issa@d sold 180,000,008hares of Class A common stock at a public offeprice o
$38.00 per share and the selling stockholders 241d233,615hares of Class A common stock. We did not recaie proceeds from the sale
shares by the selling stockholders. The total metqeds received from the IPO were $6.8 billafter deducting underwriting discounts
commissions of $75 million and other offering expes of approximately $7 million .

Convertible Preferred Stock

Upon the closing of our IPO, all shares of our theitstanding convertible preferred stock, as showthe table below, automatically convel
into an aggregate of 545,401,443 shares of ous@ammon stock.
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The following table summarizes the convertible erefd stock outstanding immediately prior to thevagsion into common stock, and
rights and preferences of our respective series Becember 31, 2011 and immediately prior to thieversion into common stock:

Shares

Aggregate Dividend Conversion
Issued and Liquidation Per Share Ratio
Authorized Outstanding Preference Per Annum Per Share
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in millions)
Series A 134,74 133,05 $ 1 $ 0.0003687 1.00000(
Series B 226,03. 224,12: 13 0.0045¢ 1.00491(
Series C 95, 76¢ 91,41( 26 0.0229733 1.00490!
Series D 67,45¢ 50,591 37t 0.59:¢ 1.01256:
Series E 45,00( 44,03¢ 20C 0.363326. 1.00000
Total 569,00: 543,21 $ 61E

Common Stock

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes theuasce of Class A common stock and Class B comnuamk.sfs of December 31, 2012ve ar
authorized to issue 5,000,000,000 shares of ClassPmon stock and 4,141,000,080ares of Class B common stock, each with a pareva
$0.000006per share. Holders of our Class A common stock@ads B common stock are entitled to dividends whsrand if, declared by our bo
of directors, subject to the rights of the holdefsll classes of stock outstanding having priorights to dividends. As of December 31, 2Q32e dic
not declare any dividends and our credit facilitestain restrictions on our ability to pay dividisn The holder of each share of Class A commork
is entitled to one vote, while the holder of eablars of Class B common stock is entitled to vetes. Shares of our Class B common stocl
convertible into an equivalent number of shareswf Class A common stock and generally convert @tares of our Class A common stock L
transfer. Class A common stock and Class B comnmok @are referred to as common stock throughountites to these financial statements, ul
otherwise noted.

Upon the closing of our IPO, an aggregate of 335@4shares of Class B common stock were convertedGiaes A common stock. As
December 31, 2012 , there were 1,671,277,621 sleares/01,427,574hares of Class A common stock and Class B comrtomk,srespectivel
issued and outstanding.

Share-based Compensation Plans

We maintain three shakmsed employee compensation plans: the 2012 BR&2005 Stock Plan and the 2005 Officers' Stock Riallectively
Stock Plans). Our 2012 Plan was approved by ourdbofadirectors in January 2012 and adopted bystackholders in April 2012. The 2012 P!
effective on May 17, 2012, serves as the succdssour 2005 Stock Plan and provides for the isseiafancentive and nonstatutory stock opti
restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rigR8Us, performance shares and stock bonuses tiegi@mployees, directors and consultants
new awards will be issued under the 2005 Stock Béaof the effective date of the 2012 Plan. Outitanawards under the 2005 Stock Plan con
to be subject to the terms and conditions of the528tock Plan. Shares available for grant unde20@5 Stock Plan, which were reserved bu
issued or subject to outstanding awards under@d& Stock Plan as of the effective date, were atiolélte reserves of the 2012 Plan.

We have initially reserved 25,000,06bhares of our Class A common stock for issuancemodr 2012 Plan. The number of shares reservi
issuance under our 2012 Plan will increase autaaibtion the first day of January of each of 206®utgh 2022y a number of shares of Clas
common stock equal to the lesser of (i) 2.6#4he total outstanding shares of our common saxclf the immediately preceding December 31
(ii) a number of shares determined by the boardiretctors. The maximum term for stock options gedninder the 2012 Plan may not excesdyear
from the date of grant. Our 2012 Plan will termetgn years from the date of approval unlesstdriwinated earlier by our compensation committee.

The 2005 Officers' Stock Plan provides for up t®,020,000shares of incentive and nonstatutory stock opttonsertain of our employees
officers. The 2005 Officers' Stock Plan will termia ten yearsifter its adoption unless terminated earlier by campensation committee. Stt
options become vested and exercisable at such ametsinder such conditions as determined by oupeosation committee on the date of grar
November 2005, we issued a nonstatutory stock optioour CEO to purchas120,000,000shares of our Class B common stock under the
Officers' Stock Plan. As of December 31, 2012 ,apion had been partially exercised in resped®000,000hares with the remainder remair
outstanding and fully vested, and no options weedlable for future issuance under the 2005 Offit8tock Plan.
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The following table summarizes the stock option BR8U award activities under the Stock Plans foryeer ended December 31, 2012 :

Shares Subject to Options Outstanding Outstanding RSUs
Weighted- Weighted
Weighted Average Average
Shares Average Remaining Aggregate Grant
Available Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Outstanding Date Fair
for Grant ® Shares Price Term Value @ RSUs® Value
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in years) (in millions) (in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2011 52,31¢ 258,53¢ % 0.47% 438 $ 7,36( 378,77. $ 6.8¢
Stock options exercised — (135,509 0.12 —
Stock options forfeited/cancelled 213 (219) 1.41 —
RSUs granted (41,257) — 41,25 32.6(
RSUs settled — — (278,841 3.0
Shares withheld related to net share
settlement of RSUs 122,75 — —
RSUs forfeited and cancelled 12,95¢ — (12,955 20.0c
2012 Equity Incentive Plan shares
authorized 25,00( — _
Balance as of December 31, 2012 171,99 122,82 $ 0.8t 379 $  3,16¢ 128,220 $§  22.0¢
Stock options vested and expected to
vest as of December 31, 2012 122,790 $ 0.8t 379 $ 3,16¢
Stock options exercisable as of
December 31, 2012 113,68t ¢ 0.3 353 $  2,98¢

(1) After excluding195 thousanrestricted stock awards included in the table ak171,796 thousanshares are available for grant under the StocksRlaroiDecember 31, 201.

(2) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated agtfference between the exercise price of the ugitgylstock option awards and the assessed faiewafllour common stock as of December 31, 2011 lae
closing market price of our common stock aDecember 31, 201.

(3) During the year ended December 31, 2012 6%fi@@isand RSUs were vested and the total grantfaiatealue of these RSUs vested is $9.14 . As @fdnber 31, 2012 and 2011 , we h&¥8,044 thousar
and153,943 thousanof unvested RSU:

Under net settlement procedures currently appleablour outstanding RSUs for current and formeplegees, upon each settlement ¢
RSUs are withheld to cover the required withholdiag, which is based on the value of the RSU onst#itdement date as determined by the clc
price of our common stock on the trading day imrataly preceding the applicable settlement date. fEmeaining amounts are delivered to
recipient as shares of our common stock. We se2f€million of Pre-2011 RSUs in 2012 of which 2%Blion RSUs were net settled by withhold
123 million shares, which represented the employees' minimatuatsty obligation for each such employee's apple@ncome and other employm
taxes and remitted cash totaling of $2.86 billtorthe appropriate tax authorities. The amount ttexhito the tax authorities for the employees
obligation to the tax authorities was reflectedad®ancing activity within our consolidated statamts of cash flows. These shares withheld by (a
result of the net settlement of P2611 RSUs are no longer considered issued andaadisg, thereby reducing our shares outstanding tesealculat
earnings per share. These shares are returneé testrves and are available for future issuanderthe 2012 Plan.

We estimate the fair value of stock options grantsidg the Black-Scholegerton single option valuation model, which regsireputs such i
expected term, expected volatility and rfsge interest rate. Further, the estimated forfeittate of awards also affects the amount of agde
compensation. These inputs are subjective and ginezquire significant analysis and judgment évelop.

We estimate the expected term based upon the ibatteehavior of our employees for employee gravite. estimate expected volatility ba
on a study of publicly traded industry peer companiThe forfeiture rate is derived primarily fromr dnistorical data, and the riskee interest rate
based on the yield available on U.S. Treasury zergon issues. Our dividend yield is Q%ince we have not paid, and do not expect to
dividends.
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The fair values of employee options granted dugi@@O have been estimated as of the date of gramg tie following weighted-average
assumptions.

December 31,

2010
Expected term from grant date (in years) 7.15
Risk-free interest rate 1.69%
Expected volatility 0.46

Dividend yield —

The weighted-average fair value of employee optigraited during the year ended December 31, 2008526 per share. There were
options granted for the years ended December 32, a0d 2011.

The following table summarizes additional informatregarding outstanding and exercisable optiodguthe Stock Plans at
December 31, 2012 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Number of Remaining Exercise Number of Exercise
Price (Range) Shares Life Price Shares Price
(in thousands) (in years) (in thousands)
$0.00 - 0.04 5,381 265 $ 0.04 5381 $ 0.04
0.06 63,37¢ 2.86 0.0¢ 63,37¢ 0.0¢
0.10-0.18 18,09¢ 3.66 0.1t 18,09¢ 0.1t
0.29 - 0.33 14,701 4.40 0.31 14,70: 0.31
1.78 4,693 5.59 1.7¢ 3,701 1.7¢
1.85 4,865 6.04 1.8t 3,93¢ 1.8
2.95 2,506 6.64 2.9t 1,561 2.9t
3.23 4,500 6.82 3.2¢ 2,92t 3.2¢
10.39 3,500 7.56 10.3¢ — —
15.00 1,200 7.81 15.0C — —
122,821 379 $ 0.8¢ 113,68t g 0.34

The aggregate intrinsic value of the options esextiin the years ended December 31, 2012 , 20dd 2@10 was $4.23 billion$2.38 billior
and $492 million , respectively. The total grantedtair value of stock options vested during thargeended December 31, 2012 , 2011 , and 2@&0
$5 million , $6 million and $16 million , respeatiy.

As of December 31, 2012 , there was $2.21 billiboroecognized share-based compensation expenadict $1.96 billionis related to RSU
and $244 millionis related to restricted shares and stock optidhss unrecognized compensation expense is expdotds recognized over
weighted-average period of approximately three year

Note 12. Other income (expense), ni

The following table presents the detail of othewoime (expense), net, for the periods presenteahifiions):

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Interest income $ 14 % 4 % 1
Foreign currency exchange losses, net 9 (29) (D)
Other 2 6 2
Other income (expense), net $ 7% (19) $ (2
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Note 13. Income Taxe!

The components of income before provision for inectaxes for the years ended December 31, 20121 2@hd 201Care as follows (i
millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Domestic $ 1,062 $ 1,81¢ $ 1,027
Foreign (56¢) (124 (19)
Income before provision for income taxes $ 494 % 169 $ 1,00¢

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Current:

Federal $ 55¢ % 664 $ 32t

State 45 60 57

Foreign 22 8 1
Total current tax expense 62€ 732 38¢
Deferred:

Federal a72) (39 13

State (6) (3) 6

Foreign (7) — —
Total deferred tax expense (benefit) (18%) 37 19
Provision for income taxes $ 441 $ 69§ 40z

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory inoe tax rate of 35% to our effective tax rate i$odlsws (in percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 35.(% 35.C% 35.C%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 6.2 2.2 4.C
Research tax credits — (2.0 (0.8
Share-based compensation 19.2 1.t 0.2
Foreign losses not benefited 26.€ 3.3 0.€
Other 2.C — 0.€
Effective tax rate 89.5% 41.C% 39.£%

Excess tax benefits associated with stock opti@rases and other equity awards are credited tkistdders' equity. The income tax bene
resulting from stock awards that were credited ttckholders' equity were $1.03 billion , $433 noifli and $107 millionfor the years ends
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 .
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Our deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as fofldim millions):

December 31,

2012 2011

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforward $ 10 $ 3

Tax credit carryforward 37 9

Share-based compensation 23¢ 79

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 83 58

Other 16 —
Total deferred tax assets 37¢ 14¢

Less: valuation allowance (37) 9)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 34z 14C
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (97) (69)

Purchased intangible assets (92 (10)

Deferred foreign taxes (15) Q)
Total deferred tax liabilities (204) (80)
Net deferred tax assets $ 138 $ 60

The valuation allowance was approximately $37 orilland $9 million as of December 31, 2012 and 20fspectively, related to state
credits that we do not believe will ultimately kealized.

As of December 31, 2012, the U.S. federal and stat@perating loss carryforwards were approximnye®él.83 billion and $7.62 billionwhick
will expire in 2027 and 2021, respectively, if ndilized. If realized, $2.17 billiorf net operating loss carryforwards will be recagui as a bene
through additional paid in capital. We also haaestax credit carryforwards of $181 million, whicérry forward indefinitely.

Utilization of our net operating loss and tax ctezdirryforwards may be subject to substantial ahliortations due to the ownership chal
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Codd similar state provisions. Such annual limitasicould result in the expiration of the net opewg
loss and tax credit carryforwards before theirizdation. The events that may cause ownership ctraimptude, but are not limited to, a cumula
stock ownership change of greater than 50% oviereet-year period.

Our net foreign pretax losses include jurisdictiovith both pretax earnings and pretax losses. @usdalidated financial statements proy
taxes for all related tax liabilities that wouldsa upon repatriation of earnings in the foreigrisgictions where we do not intend to indefini
reinvest those earnings outside the United Statesthe amount of taxes provided for has beenrifgignt.

The following table reflects changes in the graseaognized tax benefits (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Gross unrecognized tax benefits-beginning of period $ 63 $ 18 $ 9
Increase related to prior year tax positions 13 5 1
Decreases related to prior year tax positions (16) 2 2
Increases related to current year tax positions 104 42 10
Gross unrecognized tax benefits-end of period $ 164 $ 63 $ 18

During all years presented, we recognized inteardtpenalties related to unrecognized tax bengfitén the provision for income taxes on
consolidated statements of income. For the yeae@mkcember 31, 2012 , we recognized interest anii®n and penalties of $1 million The
amount of interest and penalties accrued as of deee31, 2012 and 2011 was $10 million and $6 amillirespectively.

If the remaining balance of gross unrecognizedbemxefits of $164 million as of December 31, 20ds5 realized in a future period, this wc
result in a tax benefit of $70 million within ourqvision of income taxes at such time.
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We are subject to taxation in the United Statesvambus other state and foreign jurisdictions. Tieerial jurisdictions in which we are sub
to potential examination include the United Stated Ireland. We are under examination by the laleRevenue Service (IRS) for our 2008 thrc
2010 tax years. We believe that adequate amourtslieen reserved for any adjustments that may atiity result from these examinations and w
not anticipate a significant impact to our grossegognized tax benefits within the next 12 montHated to these years. Our 2011 and 2012 tax
remain subject to examination by the IRS and allyears starting in 2008 remain subject to exanonain Ireland. We remain subject to poss
examinations or are undergoing audits in variohgojurisdictions that are not material to our fioel statements.

Although the timing of the resolution, settlemeantd closure of any audits is highly uncertainsiteéasonably possible that the balance of |
unrecognized tax benefits could significantly cheng the next 12 months. However, given the nuntdfeyears remaining that are subjec
examination, we are unable to estimate the fulljeanf possible adjustments to the balance of grosscognized tax benefits.

Note 14. Geographical Information
Revenue by geography is based on the billing addrethe advertiser or Platform developer. Theofeihg table sets forth revenue and prog

and equipment, net by geographic area (in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Revenue:
United States $ 257¢  $ 2061 $ 1,22¢
Rest of the world 2,511 1,64¢ 751
Total revenue $ 508¢ $ 3,711 $ 1,97¢

(1) No individual country exceeded 10% of our totalenewe for any period present

December 31,

2012 2011
Property and equipment, net:
United States $ 2,11¢C $ 1,44
Rest of the world 281 31
Total property and equipment, net $ 2391 % 1,47¢

(1) Noindividual country exceeded 10% of our totalgedy and equipment, net for any period prese
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosur
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure:

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleieécutive officer (CEO) and chief financial offiq€€FO), has evaluated the effectivenes
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defineRules 13a- 15(e) and 15d5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193 amende
(Exchange Act)), as of the end of the period cavénethis Annual Report on Form Ka-Based on such evaluation, our CEO and CFO hameledet
that as of December 31, 2012, our disclosure cntod procedures are designed at a reasonableamssuevel and are effective to prov
reasonable assurance that information we are emjudr disclose in reports that we file or submitemthe Exchange Act is recorded, proce:
summarized, and reported within the time period=cjed in the rules and forms of the Securitied &xchange Commission (SEC), and that
information is accumulated and communicated toroanagement, including our CEO and CFO, as appteptia allow timely decisions regard
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control

There were no changes in our internal control divemncial reporting identified in management's eedilon pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-
15(d) of the Exchange Act during the period covdrgdhis Annual Report on Form ¥that materially affected, or are reasonably lkiel materiall
affect, our internal control over financial repadi

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

The Annual Report on Form 1-does not include a report of management's asssggegarding internal control over financial rejpay or ar
attestation report of our independent registerdalip@ccounting firm due to a transition periodadsished by the rules of the SEC for newly pt
companies.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedres

In designing and evaluating the disclosure contald procedures, management recognizes that atplsoand procedures, no matter how
designed and operated, can provide only reasomablerance of achieving the desired control objestiin addition, the design of disclosure con
and procedures must reflect the fact that thereemeurce constraints and that management is egijtorapply judgment in evaluating the benefi
possible controls and procedures relative to tests.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 204r8ual Meeting of Stockholders to be fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SE@)im120 days of the fiscal year ended Decembef812.

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Basi@@nduct and Ethics applicable to all officereaors and employees, which is available
on our website (investor.fb.com) under "Corporate&nance." We intend to satisfy the disclosureliireqnent under Item 5.05 of Formk8regarding
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of oud€of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting sufcdiration on our website at the address and
location specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensatiol

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 200iual Meeting of Stockholders to be fi
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year esh@ecember 31, 2012.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Mattei

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 204r8ual Meeting of Stockholders to be fi
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal yeareh®ecember 31, 2012.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independencs

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 200ual Meeting of Stockholders to be fi
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year eshdecember 31, 2012.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 200iual Meeting of Stockholders to be fi
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year eshdecember 31, 2012.
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PART IV
Iltem 15.Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
We have filed the following documents as part @ fform 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Page No.

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegistePethlic Accounting Firm 59
Consolidated Balance Sheets 60
Consolidated Statements of Income 61
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 62
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity 63
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 64

66

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because they dneqgoired, not applicable, not present in amosaufficient to require submission of the schedut
the required information is otherwise included.

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately following thersgure page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&fthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly caused this Annual Repol
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undgresd, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of MeRark, State of California, on this firday o

February 2013 .

FACEBOOK, INC.

Date: February 1, 2013 d/ M ARK Z UCKERBERG

Mark Zuckerberg

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pensbose signature appears below constitutes anoirgpavid A. Ebersmz
and Theodore W. Ullyot, and each of them, as hiseortrue and lawful attorneys-fact and agents, with full power of substitutiordaesubstitutior
for him or her and in his or her name, place aeddtin any and all capacities, to sign any andrakkndments to this Annual Report on FormK]0-
and to file the same, with all exhibits theretod arther documents in connection therewith, with Seeurities and Exchange Commission, grai
unto said attorneys-ifact and agents, and each of them, full power anidogity to do and perform each and every act aimjtrequisite and necess
to be done in connection therewith, as fully toirsténts and purposes as he or she might or cauld gerson, hereby ratifying and confirming thé
said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of thetheir or his or her substitute or substitutesy maavfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Annual Report on FormKLBas been signed by the following pers
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitigsan the dates indicated:
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Signature

Title

Date

/s/ M ARK Z UCKERBERG

Mark Zuckerberg

/s/ D avip A. EBERSMAN

David A. Ebersman

/s/ D avib M. SPILLANE

David M. Spillane

/s/ Marc L. Andreessen

Marc L. Andreessen

/sl Erskine B. Bowles

Erskine B. Bowles

/sl James W. Breyer

James W. Breyer

/s/ Donald E. Graham

Donald E. Graham

/sl Reed Hastings

Reed Hastings

/s/ Sheryl K. Sandberg

Sheryl K. Sandberg

/sl Peter A. Thiel

Peter A. Thiel

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

91

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013

February 1, 2013




EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation. 10-Q 001-35551 3.1 July 31, 2012
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws. 10-Q 001-35551 3.2 July 31, 2012
4.1 Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate S-1 333-179287 4.1 February 8,
2012
4.2 Form of Class B Common Stock Certificate S-8 333-181566 4.4 May 21, 2012
4.3 Sixth Amended and Restated Investors' Rights S-1 333-179287 4.2 February 8,
Agreement, dated December 27, 2010, by and among 2012
Registrant and certain security holders of Regisira
4.4 Amendment No. 1 to Sixth Amended and Restated S-1 333-179287 4.2A May 3, 2012
Investors' Rights Agreement, dated May 1, 2012ary
among Registrant and certain security holders of
Registrant.
4.5 Form of "Type 1" Holder Voting Agreement, between S-1 333-179287 4.3 February 8,
Registrant, Mark Zuckerberg, and certain partieseto. 2012
4.6 Form of "Type 2" Holder Voting Agreement, between S-1 333-179287 4.4 February 8,
Registrant, Mark Zuckerberg, and certain partiesdto. 2012
4.7 Form of "Type 3" Holder Voting Agreement, between S-1 333-179287 4.5 February 8,
Registrant, Mark Zuckerberg, and certain partieseto. 2012
10.1+ Form of Indemnification Agreement S-1 333-179287 10.1 February 8,
2012
10.2(A)+ 2005 Stock Plan, as amended X
10.2(B)+ 2005 Stock Plan forms of award agreements S-1 333-179287 10.2 February 8,
2012
10.3+ 2005 Officers' Stock Plan, and amended and restated S-1 333-179287 10.3 February 8,
notice of stock option grant and stock. option agrent 2012
10.4(A)+ 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended X
10.4(B)+ 2012 Equity Incentive Plan forms of award agreement 10-Q 001-35551 10.2 July 31, 2012
10.5+ 2012 Bonus/Retention Plan X
10.6+ Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated January 27 S-1 333-179287 10.6 February 8,
2012, between Registrant and Mark Zuckerberg. 2012
10.7+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datedS-1 333-179287  10.7 February 8,
January 27, 2012, between Registrant and Sheryl K. 2012
Sandberg.
10.8+ Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated January 27 S-1 333-179287 10.8 February 8,
2012, between Registrant and David A. Ebersman. 2012
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10.9+

10.10+

10.11t

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

211
23.1

311

31.2

32.1#

32.2#

Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated January 27 S-1
2012, between Registrant and Mike Schroepfer.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateds-1
January 27, 2012, between Registrant and Theodore W
Ullyot.

Lease, dated February 7, 2011, between Registnant a S-1
Wilson Menlo Park Campus, LLC.

Conversion Agreement, dated February 19, 2010, S-1
between Registrant, Digital Sky Technologies Limhjte
and DST Global Limited.

Amendment No. 1 to Conversion Agreement, datedlApf-1
30, 2012, between Registrant and Mail.ru Group techi
(f/k/a Digital Sky Technologies Limited), DST Gldba
Limited, DST Global II, L.P, DST Global I, L.PQST

USA Limited, and DST USA Il Limited.

Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement, dated &K
of October 12, 2012, among Facebook, Inc., JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the
lenders party thereto.

Credit Agreement, dated February 28, 2012, between S-1
Registrant, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of 8-K
October 12, 2012, among Facebook, Inc., JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the
lenders party thereto.

List of subsidiaries.

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registere
Public Accounting Firm.

Certification of Mark Zuckerberg, Chief Executive
Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/1%dfa), as adopte
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act o
2002.

Certification of David A. Ebersman, Chief Financial
Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/1%dfa), as adopte
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act o
2002.

Certification of Mark Zuckerberg, Chief Executive
Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agpsetb
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act o
2002.

Certification of David A. Ebersman, Chief Financial
Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agptetb
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act o
2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

333-179287

333-179287

333-179287

333-179287

333-179287

001-35551

333-179287

001-35551

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.16

10.16A

10.1

10.14

10.2

February 8,
2012

February 8,
2012

February 8,

2012

February 8,
2012

May 3, 2012

October 15,
2012

March 7, 201:

October 15,
2012



101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.
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101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase X
Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document. X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X
Document.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatany p
t Portions of exhibit have been granted confidétéatment by the SEC.
# This certification is deemed not filed for purpe®f section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi934, as amended (Exchange Act), or other

subject to the liability of that section, nor shialbe deemed incorporated by reference into dmgfiunder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(Securities Act) or the Exchange Act.
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EXHIBIT 10.2(A)

FACEBOOK, INC.
2005 STOCK PLAN

(as amended April 2006)
(as amended July 2006)
(as amended April 2007)
(as amended May 2007)
(as amended July 2007)

(as amended September 2007)
(as amended October 2007)
(as amended December 2007)
(as amended twice in August 2008)
(as amended January 2009)
(as amended March 2009)
(as amended June 2009)

(as amended August 2009)
(as amended in October 2009)
(as amended in November 2009)
(as amended in December 2009)
(as amended in October 2010)
(as amended in December 2010)
(as amended in December 2011)
(as amended in January 2012)
(as amended in December 2012)

1. Purposes of the Plan The purposes of this 2005 Stock Plan are to attradtretain the best available personnel for psstof
substantial responsibility, to provide additionaténtive to Employees and Consultants and to prethet success of the Company’s business. Options
granted under the Plan may be Incentive Stock @ptiw Nonstatutory Stock Options, as determinethbyAdministrator at the time of grant of an
option and subject to the applicable provisionSeftion 422 of the Code and the regulations amdpretations promulgated thereunder. Stock
Purchase Rights and Restricted Stock Units maykssgranted under the Plan.

2. Definitions . As used herein, the following definitions shall Bpp
a. “Administrator ” means the Board or its Committee appointed purdoa®éction 4 of the Plan.

b. “ Affiliate " means an entity other than a Subsidiary (as defwedalv) which, together with the Company, is unclemmon
control of a third person or entity.

c. “Applicable Laws " means the legal requirements relating to the adnétion of stock option and restricted stock paseh
plans, including under applicable U.S. state camolaws, U.S. federal and applicable state séesitdws, other U.S. federal and state laws, thdeCo
any Stock Exchange rules or regulations and thécaiybe laws, rules and regulations of any othemtry or jurisdiction where Awards are granted
under the Plan, as such laws, rules, regulatiodgeguirements shall be in place from time to time.
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d. “Award " means any grant made under this Plan, includimg@ption, Stock Purchase Right or Restricted Stdit.
e. “Board " means the Board of Directors of the Company.

f. " Cause” for termination of a Participant’'s Continuous Seevitatus will exist if the Participant is termiedby the Company
for any of the following reasons: (i) Participantdlful failure substantially to perform his or hduties and responsibilities to the Company or
deliberate violation of a Company policy; (ii) Reipant’s commission of any act of fraud, embezaeamdishonesty or any other willful misconduct
that has caused or is reasonably expected to iasubiterial injury to the Company; (iii) unauthwed use or disclosure by Participant of any
proprietary information or trade secrets of the @any or any other party to whom the Participant®e obligation of nondisclosure as a result o
or her relationship with the Company; or (iv) Pagant’s willful breach of any of his or her obligns under any written agreement or covenant with
the Company. The determination as to whether adiamt is being terminated for Cause shall be madgod faith by the Company and shall be 1
and binding on the Participant. The foregoing défin does not in any way limit the Company’s ayilio terminate a Participant’s employment or
consulting relationship at any time as provide&éttion 5(d) below, and the term “Company” willibterpreted to include any Subsidiary, Parent or
Affiliate, as appropriate.

g. “Change of Control” means (1) a sale of all or substantially all of @@mpany’s assets or (2) any merger, consolidation
other business combination transaction of the Cawypath or into another corporation, entity or p@rsother than a transaction in which the holders
of at least a majority of the shares of voting taltock of the Company outstanding immediatelgmo such transaction continue to hold (either by
such shares remaining outstanding or by their beimyerted into shares of voting capital stockhef $urviving entity) a majority of the total voting
power represented by the shares of voting capiitakf the Company (or the surviving entity) oatsling immediately after such transaction;
provided, however, that none of the following shall be consideredrenge of Control: (a) a merger effected exclugii@l the purpose of changing
the domicile of the Company, (b) an equity finagcin which the Company is the surviving corporation(c) a transaction in which the stockholders
of the Company immediately prior to the transactem 50% or more of the voting power of the sumigycorporation following the transaction.

h. “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended

i. “Committee ” means one or more committees or subcommitteeseddlard appointed by the Board to administer tlae i
accordance with Section 4 below.

j. “Common Stock” means the Class B Common Stock of the Company.

-2-




k. “Company” means Facebook, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

I.  “ Consultant ” means any person, including an advisor, who is gedjdy the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary afli#t# to
render services and is compensated for such sendad any director of the Company whether comgeddar such services or not.

m. “ Continuous Service Status’ means the absence of any interruption or terminaifeservice as an Employee or Consultant.
Continuous Service Status as an Employee or Camgidhall not be considered interrupted in the ofis@) sick leave; (ii) military leave; (iii) any
other leave of absence approved by the Administratovided that such leave is for a period ofmote than ninety (90) days, unless reemployment
upon the expiration of such leave is guaranteedooyract or statute, or unless provided otherwigsyant to Company policy adopted from time to
time; or (iv) in the case of transfers between tioces of the Company or between the Company, iterRg, Subsidiaries, Affiliates or their respective
successors. A change in status from an Employaedonsultant or from a Consultant to an Employdenet constitute an interruption of Continuous
Service Status.

n. “ Corporate Transaction " means a sale of all or substantially all of the @any’s assets, or a merger, consolidation or other
capital reorganization or business combinationsaation of the Company with or into another corgiorg entity or person, or the direct or indirect
acquisition (including by way of a tender or exchamffer) by any person, or persons acting as apgraf beneficial ownership or a right to acquire
beneficial ownership of shares representing a ritgjof the voting power of the then outstandingreiseof capital stock of the Company.

o. “Director " means a member of the Board.

p. “Employee” means any person employed by the Company or amnB&ubsidiary or Affiliate, with the status of gloyment
determined based upon such factors as are deemsspapte by the Administrator in its discretionpgect to any requirements of the Code or the
Applicable Laws. The payment by the Company ofraalor’s fee to a Director shall not be sufficiemtonstitute “employment” of such Director by
the Company.

g. “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amdend

r. “Fair Market Value " means, as of any date, the fair market value o€bmmon Stock, as determined by the Administrator i
good faith on such basis as it deems appropriatepplied consistently with respect to Participatbenever possible, the determination of Fair
Market Value shall be based upon the closing gocéhe Company'’s shares of Class A Common Stoaifasally quoted in the composite tape of
transactions on the principal national securitieshange on which the Company’s Class A Common Swlikted or admitted to trading or such other
source as the Administrator deems reliable forggygicable date.

s. “Incentive Stock Option ” means an Option intended to qualify as an incersivek option within the meaning of Section 422
of the Code, as designated in the applicable Optigneement.

t. “Listed Security” means any security of the Company that is ligtedpproved for listing on a national securitiesteange or
designated or approved for designation as a ndtinagket system security on an interdealer quatagistem by the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority.

u. “Named Executive” means any individual who, on the last day of thenBany'’s fiscal year, is the chief executive offioér
the Company (or is acting in such capacity) or agritve four most highly compensated officers of@menpany (other than the chief executive offic
Such officer status shall be determined pursuatiteé@xecutive compensation disclosure rules uthdeExchange Act.

v. “Nonstatutory Stock Option " means an Option not intended to qualify as an lineistock Option, as designated in the
applicable Option Agreement.




w. “Option " means a stock option granted pursuant to the Plan.

X. “Option Agreement” means a written document, the form(s) of whichldb@bpproved from time to time by the
Administrator, reflecting the terms of an Optiomgted under the Plan and includes any documeiatshett to or incorporated into such Option
Agreement, including, but not limited to, a notafestock option grant and a form of exercise notice

y. " Option Exchange Program” means a program approved by the Administrator wiyeoeitstanding Options are exchanged
for Options with a lower exercise price or are adezhto decrease the exercise price as a resuli@dlme in the Fair Market Value of the Common
Stock.

z. " QOptioned Stock” means the Common Stock subject to an Option.
aa. “QOptionee” means an Employee or Consultant who receives ain©Opt

bb. *“Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or héee&lxisting, as defined in Section 424(e) of tloel€ or any
successor provision.

cc. “Participant " means any holder of one or more Awards, or theedhiasuable or issued upon exercise of such Awardker
the Plan.

dd. “Plan " means this 2005 Stock Plan, as amended from tirtimé&

ee. “Reporting Person” means an officer, Director, or greater than terg@rstockholder of the Company within the meamihg
Rule 16a-2 under the Exchange Act, who is requivefde reports pursuant to Rule 16a-3 under thehange Act.

ff. “Restricted Stock” means Shares of Common Stock acquired pursuargrandof a Stock Purchase Right under Section 11
below.

gg. “ Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement means a written document, the form(s) of whichIdbabpproved from time to
time by the Administrator, reflecting the termsaotock Purchase Right granted under the Planreshaties any documents attached to such
agreement.

hh. “ Restricted Stock Unit” means the grant of a right to have Shares of ConBtock issued pursuant to an Award made u
Section 12 below.

ii. “Restricted Stock Unit Agreement” means a written document, the form(s) of whichldtmlapproved from time to time by
the Administrator, reflecting the terms of a Rest&d Stock Unit and includes any documents attatdhedch agreement.

jo “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the ExchangeaA@mended from time to time, or any successor
provision.

kk. “Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjustextémdance with Section 15 of the Plan.

Il. “Stock Exchange” means any stock exchange or consolidated stock& mmorting system on which prices for the Common
Stock are quoted at any given time.

mm. “ Stock Purchase Right” means the right to purchase Common Stock pursagedtion 11 below.
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nn. “ Subsidiary ” means a “subsidiary corporatiomyhether now or hereafter existing, as defined ictiSa 424(f) of the Code,
any successor provision.

0o. “Ten Percent Holder” means a person who owns stock representing mangehgpercent (10%) of the voting power of all
classes of stock of the Company or any Parent bsiSiary.

3. Stock Subject to the Plan Subject to the provisions of Section 15 of the Ptha maximum aggregate number of Shares that may b
sold under the Plan is 971,314,985 Shares of ConBtack. The Shares may be authorized, but unissuedacquired Common Stock. If an award
should expire or become unexercisable for any reasthout having been exercised in full, or is emdered pursuant to an Option Exchange Program
the unpurchased Shares that were subject theralip whless the Plan shall have been terminatezhrbe available for future grant under the Plan. In
addition, any Shares of Common Stock which arérreteby the Company upon exercise of an awardderao satisfy the exercise or purchase price
for such award or any withholding taxes due witkpezt to such exercise or purchase shall be treatadt issued and shall continue to be available
under the Plan. Shares issued under the Plan sndépurchased by the Company pursuant to anycekase right which the Company may have ¢
be available for future grant under the Plan; ptedi however, that no more than 971,314,985 smaagde granted under the Plan pursuant to
Incentive Stock Options.

4. Administration of the Plan .

a. General. The Plan shall be administered by the Board ormi@ittee, or a combination thereof, as determinethbyBoard.
The Plan may be administered by different admiaiste bodies with respect to different classesasfiBipants and, if permitted by the Applicable
Laws, the Board may authorize one or more offitenmake awards under the Plan.

b. Committee Composition. If a Committee has been appointed pursuant td3&dion 4, such Committee shall continue to serve
in its designated capacity until otherwise diredtgdhe Board. From time to time the Board mayeéase the size of any Committee and appoint
additional members thereof, remove members (withithrout cause) and appoint new members in sulistitwherefor, fill vacancies (however caus
and remove all members of a Committee and theredifiectly administer the Plan, all to the exteetrpitted by the Applicable Laws and, in the case
of a Committee administering the Plan in accordanmitie the requirements of Rule 16b-3 or Section(f§2of the Code, to the extent permitted or
required by such provisions. The Committee shadllirvents conform to any requirements of the Aggtile Laws.

c. Powers of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of the Plan and in treea# a Committee, the specific duties delegated
by the Board to such Committee, the Administratalishave the authority, in its discretion:

(i) to determine the Fair Market Value of then@non Stock (which determination shall be finahding and conclusive
for all purposes), in accordance with Sectiond.the Plan and to interpret 2.r of the Plan inrastion with circumstances that impact the Fairkde
Value, provided that such determination and inggiion shall be applied consistently with respedarticipants under the Plan;

(i)  to select the Employees and Consultantstiom Plan awards may from time to time be granted,;

(i) to determine whether and to what extergrPawards are granted,;

(iv) to determine the number of Shares of Comi@twck to be covered by each award granted;

(v) to approve the form(s) of agreement(s) usader the Plan;
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(vi) to determine the terms and conditions,inobnsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any @ganted hereunder,
which terms and conditions include but are nottiahito the exercise or purchase price, the tinteras when awards may be exercised (which me
based on performance criteria), any vesting acatber or waiver of forfeiture restrictions, any peda adjustment to vesting as a result of a
Participant’s transitioning from full- to part-tinsrvice (or vice versa), and any restriction witition regarding any Optioned Stock or Award duhs
in each case on such factors as the Administriatats sole discretion, shall determine;

(vii) to determine whether and under what cirstamces an Award may be settled in cash underdBetii(c) instead of
Common Stock;

(viii) to implement an Option Exchange Programsoich terms and conditions as the Administratitsidiscretion deems
appropriate, provided that no amendment or adjusthoean Option that would materially and adversdfgct the rights of any Optionee shall be m
without the prior written consent of the Optionee;

(ix) to adjust the vesting of an Award held yEmployee or Consultant as a result of a changigeirerms or conditions
under which such person is providing services éoGbmpany;

(x) to construe and interpret the terms of tlRnd Awards, which constructions, interpretatiand decisions shall be
final and binding on all Participants; and

(xi) in order to fulfill the purposes of the Rland without amending the Plan, to modify Awaa®articipants who are
foreign nationals or employed outside of the Unigtates in order to recognize differences in I¢enal tax policies or customs.

5. Eligibility .

(@) Recipients of Grants. Employees and Consultants may be granted any dfjpfes of Awards provided under the Plan,
provided however that Incentive Stock Options meygtanted only to Employees (excepting Employeesfiifates).

(b) Type of Option . Each Option shall be designated in the Option Ageerg as either an Incentive Stock Option or a
Nonstatutory Stock Optiol

(c) 1SO $100,000 Limitation. Notwithstanding any designation under Section S¢b)he extent that the aggregate Fair Market
Value of Shares with respect to which Options destigd as Incentive Stock Options are exercisablthéfirst time by any Optionee during any
calendar year (under all plans of the Company grRarent or Subsidiary) exceeds $100,000, suctssx@ptions shall be treated as Nonstatutory
Stock Options. For purposes of this Section 5(@ehtive Stock Options shall be taken into accauttie order in which they were granted, and the
Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to an ItigcerStock Option shall be determined as of the @éthe grant of such Option.

(d) No Employment Rights. The Plan shall not confer upon any Participantrégtyt with respect to continuation of an
employment or consulting relationship with the Camp, nor shall it interfere in any way with suchtiR#pant’s right or the Company’s right to
terminate the employment or consulting relationsttipny time for any reason.

6. Term of Plan. The Plan shall become effective upon its adoptipthle Board of Directors. It shall continue in efféor a term of ten
(10) years unless sooner terminated under Secti@f the Plan.

7. Term of Option . The term of each Option shall be the term stateaberOption Agreement; provided that the term shalho more than
ten years from the date of grant thereof or suchtshterm as may be provided in the Option Agregraed provided further that, in the case of an
Incentive Stock Option granted to a




person who at the time of such grant is a Ten eidelder, the term of the Option shall be five y8ars from the date of grant thereof or such short
term as may be provided in the Option Agreement.

8. [Reserved]

9. Option Exercise Price and Consideration

(a) Exercise Price. The per Share exercise price for the Shares tedued pursuant to exercise of an Option shall ble grice as
is determined by the Administrator and set forttthia Option Agreement, but shall be subject toftfiewing:

(i) Inthe case of an Incentive Stock Option

(A) granted to an Employee who at the time @ingiis a Ten Percent Holder, the per Share exepcise shall be
no less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per Sloarthe date of grant; or

(B) granted to any other Employee, the per Shaesecise price shall be no less than 100% of #ieMarket
Value per Share on the date of grant.

(i) Inthe case of a Nonstatutory Stock Optibe per share Exercise Price shall be such pride@smined by the
Administrator, but shall not be less than 100%hef Fair Market Value on the date of grant unlegsessly determined by the Administrator.

(i)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Options mhg granted with a per Share exercise price olfzgr &s required above
pursuant to a merger or other corporate transaction

(b) Permissible Consideration. The consideration to be paid for the Shares t@ssgeid upon exercise of an Option, including the
method of payment, shall be determined by the Adtrator (and, in the case of an Incentive Stockiddp shall be determined at the time of grant)
and may consist entirely of (1) cash; (2) checks(ject to any requirements of the Applicable Edimcluding without limitation Section 153 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law), delivery of Op&e’s promissory note having such recourse, isttesecurity and redemption provisions as the
Administrator determines to be appropriate aftkinginto account the potential accounting consagas of permitting an Optionee to deliver a
promissory note; (4) cancellation of indebtedn€sgpther Shares that have a Fair Market Valueherdate of surrender equal to the aggregate eg
price of the Shares as to which the Option is éged; (6) if, as of the date of exercise of an @pthe Company then is permitting employees to
engage in a cashless exercise program involvingpongore brokers, through such a program that ciemplith the Applicable Laws (including
without limitation the requirements of Regulatiorafid other applicable regulations promulgated leyRéderal Reserve Board) and that ensures
prompt delivery to the Company of the amount rezgiio pay the exercise price and any applicablehelding taxes; or (7) any combination of the
foregoing methods of payment. In making its deteation as to the type of consideration to accéptAdministrator shall consider if acceptance of
such consideration may be reasonably expectednefibéhe Company and the Administrator may, irsite discretion, refuse to accept a particular
form of consideration at the time of any Option reige.

10. Exercise of Option.

(&) General.

(i) Exercisability . Any Option granted hereunder shall be exercisabdeieh times and under such conditions as
determined by the Administrator, consistent with term of the Plan and reflected in the Option &grent, including vesting requirements and/or
performance criteria with respect to the Comparg/@nthe Optionee.




(i) Leave of Absence The Administrator shall have the discretion to daiae whether and to what extent the vesting of
Options shall be tolled during any unpaid leavalusence; provided, however, that in the absensaabf determination, vesting of Options shall be
tolled during any such unpaid leave (unless otrsawequired by the Applicable Laws). In the evdmhilitary leave, if required by Applicable Laws,
vesting shall continue for the longest period tresiting continues under any other statutory or Gorng@approved leave of absence and, upon a
Participant’s returning from military leave (undmmnditions that would entitle him or her to protectupon such return under the Uniform Services
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act), he ors$tadl be given vesting credit with respect to Opdito the same extent as would have applied
had the Participant continued to provide serviogbé Company throughout the leave on the samestasnne or she was providing services
immediately prior to such leave.

(i) Minimum Exercise Requirements. An Option may not be exercised for a fraction &hare. The Administrator
may require that an Option be exercised as to amim number of Shares, provided that such requingisigall not prevent an Optionee from
exercising the full number of Shares as to whig@ption is then exercisable.

(iv)  Procedures for and Results of ExerciseAn Option shall be deemed exercised when writtdicamf such exercise
has been given to the Company in accordance wéthettms of the Option by the person entitled ta@se the Option and the Company has received
full payment for the Shares with respect to whivd ©ption is exercised. Full payment may, as ai#edrby the Administrator, consist of any
consideration and method of payment allowable uaetion 9(b) of the Plan, provided that the Adsti@itor may, in its sole discretion, refuse to
accept any form of consideration at the time of @pyion exercise.

Exercise of an Option in any manner shall resu#t @recrease in the number of Shares that thereafigibe available, both for purposes of
Plan and for sale under the Option, by the numb&hares as to which the Option is exercised.

(v) Rights as Stockholder. Until the issuance of the Shares (as evidencetidwgppropriate entry on the books of the
Company or of a duly authorized transfer agenhef@ompany), no right to vote or receive divideadany other rights as a stockholder shall exist
with respect to the Optioned Stock, notwithstandhreexercise of the Option. No adjustment wilhbede for a dividend or other right for which the
record date is prior to the date the stock cedtifids issued, except as provided in Section 1beoPlan.

(b) Termination of Employment or Consulting Relationshp . Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 1,Gii®
Administrator shall establish and set forth in #&mplicable Option Agreement the terms and conditigpon which an Option shall remain exercisable,
if at all, following termination of an Optionee’o6tinuous Service Status, which provisions may beved or modified by the Administrator at any
time. Unless the Administrator otherwise provideshie Option Agreement, to the extent that the @jete is not vested in Optioned Stock at the de
termination of his or her Continuous Service Statusf the Optionee (or other person entitledxereise the Option) does not exercise the Option to
the extent so entitled within the time specifiedhia Option Agreement or below (as applicable),@p¢ion shall terminate and the Optioned Stock
underlying the unexercised portion of the Optioalktevert to the Plan. In no event may any Opberexercised after the expiration of the Optiom
as set forth in the Option Agreement (and subje&ection 7).

The following provisions (1) shall apply to the emt an Option Agreement does not specify the temasconditions upon which an
Option shall terminate upon termination of an Op¢ie’'s Continuous Service Status, and (2) estathlssiminimum post-termination exercise periods
that may be set forth in an Option Agreement:

(i) Termination other than Upon Disability or Death or for Cause. In the event of termination of Optionee’s
Continuous Service Status other than under thermistances set forth in subsections (ii) throughk@low, such Optionee may exercise an Option for
30 days following such termination to the extert @ptionee was vested in the Optioned Stock dseoflate of such termination. No termination shall
be deemed




to occur and this Section 10(b)(i) shall not agply) the Optionee is a Consultant who becomeg&mployee, or (ii) the Optionee is an Employee who
becomes a Consultant.

(i)  Disability of Optionee. In the event of termination of an Optiong€ontinuous Service Status as a result of higc
disability (including a disability within the meang of Section 22(e)(3) of the Code), such Optiomeg exercise an Option at any time within six
months following such termination to the extent @@ionee was vested in the Optioned Stock aseofitte of such termination.

(iii)  Death of Optionee. In the event of the death of an Optionee duringomgod of Continuous Service Status since the
date of grant of the Option, or within thirty dagdlowing termination of Optionee’s Continuous SegsStatus, the Option may be exercised by
Optionee’s estate or by a person who acquiredigfm to exercise the Option by bequest or inhecéaat any time within twelve months following the
date of death, but only to the extent the Optiomas vested in the Optioned Stock as of the datkeath or, if earlier, the date the Optionee’s
Continuous Service Status terminated.

(iv) Termination for Cause. In the event of termination of an Optionee’s Comtins Service Status for Cause, any
Option (including any exercisable portion therdw)d by such Optionee shall immediately terminatiés entirety upon first notification to the
Optionee of termination of the Optionee’s Continei@ervice Status. If an Optionee’s employment asatiing relationship with the Company is
suspended pending an investigation of whether thtéo@ee shall be terminated for Cause, all the dhate’s rights under any Option likewise shall be
suspended during the investigation period and thiio®ee shall have no right to exercise any Opfidrs Section 10(b)(iv) shall apply with equal
effect to vested Shares acquired upon exercisa Gfdion granted on any date on which the CommonkSs not a Listed Security to a person other
than an officer, Director or Consultant, in thag thompany shall have the right to repurchase sheheS from the Participant upon the following
terms: (A) the repurchase is made within 90 daytemwhination of the Participant’s Continuous SeevBtatus for Cause at the Fair Market Value of the
Shares as of the date of termination, (B) constaerdor the repurchase consists of cash or caatiatl of purchase money indebtedness, and (C) the
repurchase right terminates upon the effective datee Company’s initial public offering of its @onon Stock. With respect to vested Shares issued
upon exercise of an Option granted to any offibarector or Consultant, the Company’s right to negase such Shares upon termination of the
Participant’s Continuous Service Status for Catisdl be made at the Participant’s original costther Shares and shall be effected pursuant to such
terms and conditions, and at such time, as the Adtnator shall determine. Nothing in this Sectidi{b)(iv) shall in any way limit the Company’s
right to purchase unvested Shares issued uponiseefcan Option as set forth in the applicablei@pAgreement.

(c) Buyout Provisions. The Administrator may at any time offer to buy émta payment in cash or Shares an Option prewousl
granted under the Plan based on such terms andioosdas the Administrator shall establish and camicate to the Optionee at the time that such
offer is made.

11. Stock Purchase Rights

(a) Rights to Purchase. When the Administrator determines that it will offstock Purchase Rights under the Plan, it shaiksad
the offeree in writing of the terms, conditions aedtrictions related to the offer, including themwber of Shares that such person shall be entdled
purchase, the price to be paid, and the time witHiith such person must accept such offer. In #se of a Stock Purchase Right granted prior to the
date, if any, on which the Common Stock becomestd Security and if required by the Applicablensaat that time, the purchase price of Shares
subject to such Stock Purchase Rights shall ntedsethan 85% of the Fair Market Value of the Shaeof the date of the offer, or, in the case of a
Ten Percent Holder, the price shall not be less 1©9% of the Fair Market Value of the Shares ab@fdate of the offer. If the Applicable Laws do
not impose the requirements set forth in the priegesentence and with respect to any Stock PurdRagds granted after the date, if any, on whic
Common Stock becomes a Listed Security, the puechase of Shares subject to Stock Purchase Rajjta be as determined by the Administrator.
The offer to purchase Shares subject to Stock ReecRights shall be accepted by execution of aiRest Stock Purchase Agreement in the form
determined by the Administrator.




(b) Repurchase Option.

(i) General. Unless the Administrator determines otherwise Rbstricted Stock Purchase Agreement shall grant the
Company a repurchase option exercisable upon thtewsy or involuntary termination of the purchdsemmployment with the Company for any
reason (including death or disability). Subjecaty requirements of the Applicable Laws, the teofithe Company’s repurchase option (including
without limitation the price at which, and the cilesation for which, it may be exercised, and thents upon which it shall lapse) shall be as
determined by the Administrator in its sole disinetand reflected in the Restricted Stock Purchageement.

(i) Leave of Absence The Administrator shall have the discretion to daiae whether and to what extent the lapsing of
Company repurchase rights shall be tolled duringuarpaid leave of absence; provided, however,ithtite absence of such determination, such
lapsing shall be tolled during any such unpaid ée@nless otherwise required by the Applicable Dawsthe event of military leave, if required by
Applicable Laws, the lapsing of Company repurchrigiets shall continue for the longest period thedting or lapse or repurchase rights continues
under any other statutory or Company approved ledabsence and, upon a Participant’s returning fnailitary leave (under conditions that would
entitle him or her to protection upon such retunder the Uniform Services Employment and ReemplayrRéghts Act), he or she shall be given
“vesting” credit with respect to Shares purchased pursuahetRestricted Stock Purchase Agreement to the satent as would have applied had
Participant continued to provide services to thenfany throughout the leave on the same terms as $tee was providing services immediately prior
to such leave.

(i)  Termination for Cause. In the event of termination of a Participant’s Goabus Service Status for Cause, the
Company shall have the right to repurchase fronPgmicipant vested Shares issued upon exerciaestdck Purchase Right granted to any person
other than an officer, Director or Consultant ptiothe date, if any, upon which the Common Stoesomes a Listed Security upon the following
terms: (A) the repurchase must be made within 98 datermination of the Participant’s Continuowen\8ce Status for Cause at the Fair Market Value
of the Shares as of the date of termination, (Bisiteration for the repurchase consists of cagiacellation of purchase money indebtedness, ay
the repurchase right terminates upon the effedate of the Company'’s initial public offering of €ommon Stock. With respect to vested Shares
issued upon exercise of a Stock Purchase Rightegtda any officer, Director or Consultant, the Quamy’s right to repurchase such Shares upon
termination of such Participant’'s Continuous Sex&tatus for Cause shall be made at the Parti¢spamnginal cost for the Shares and shall be efféct
pursuant to such terms and conditions, and at Soneh as the Administrator shall determine. Nothimghis Section 11(b)(ii) shall in any way limhe
Company'’s right to purchase unvested Shares dertlein the applicable Restricted Stock PurchageesAment.

(c) Other Provisions. The Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement shall costeeh other terms, provisions and conditions not
inconsistent with the Plan as may be determineth&yAdministrator in its sole discretion. In additj the provisions of Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreements need not be the same with respect topachaser.

(d) Rights as a Stockholder Once the Stock Purchase Right is exercised, thehpser shall have the rights equivalent to those of
a stockholder, and shall be a stockholder whewhieer purchase is entered upon the records afulyeauthorized transfer agent of the Company. No
adjustment will be made for a dividend or othehtifpr which the record date is prior to the ddwe $tock Purchase Right is exercised, except as
provided in Section 15 of the Plan.

12. Restricted Stock Units.

(@) Awards of Restricted Stock Units. A Restricted Stock Unit (RSU”) is an Award to a Participant covering a numbfer o
Shares that at a later date may be settled in cadly, issuance of those Shares.

(b) Terms of RSUs. The Administrator will determine the terms of anURBcluding, without limitation: (a) the number $hares
subject to the RSU; (b) the time or times duringaitthe RSU wiill
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vest and may be settled; and (c) the consideradide distributed on settlement, and the effe¢ceohination of a Participant’'s Continuous Service
Status on each RSU. Participants may simultanedty/ different RSUs that are subject to differenieria as set forth in respective Restricted toc
Unit Agreements. The Administrator shall have tigeiktion to determine whether and to what extesting shall be tolled during any unpaid leav:
absence; provided, however, that in the absensadf determination, such vesting shall be tolledhduany such unpaid leave (unless otherwise
required by the Applicable Laws). In the event dlitary leave, if required by Applicable Laws, vieg shall continue for the longest period that
vesting continues under any other statutory or Comg@approved leave of absence and, upon a Partitgpaturning from military leave (under
conditions that would entitle him or her to protentupon such return under the Uniform Services Byipent and Reemployment Rights Act), he or
she shall be given “vesting” credit with respecStmares purchased pursuant to the Restricted Shoitldgreement to the same extent as would have
applied had the Participant continued to provideises to the Company throughout the leave on éineesterms as he or she was providing services
immediately prior to such leave.

(c) FEorm and Timing of Settlement. Payment of earned RSUs shall be made as soon@&abde after the date(s) determinec
the Administrator and set forth in the Restrictédc® Unit Agreement. The Administrator, in its sdiscretion, may settle earned RSUs in cash,
Shares, or a combination of both.

(d) Termination of Participant’s Continuous Service StatusExcept as may be set forth in the Participant’stireed Stock
Unit Agreement, vesting ceases on termination ohRarticipant’s Continuous Service Status (untietsrmined otherwise by the Administrator).

(e) Other Provisions. The Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall contaichsother terms, provisions and conditions not
inconsistent with the Plan as may be determineth&yAdministrator in its sole discretion. In addiitj the provisions of Restricted Stock Unit
Agreements need not be the same with respect toprachaser.

(f) Rights as a Stockholder Once Shares are issued pursuant to the terms e$tid®ed Stock Unit Agreement, the Participant
shall have the rights equivalent to those of aldtoltler, and shall be a stockholder when his oplaechase is entered upon the records of the duly
authorized transfer agent of the Company. No adfjest will be made for a dividend or other right ¥ahich the record date is prior to the date the
Shares are issued, except as provided in Sectiof the Plan.

13. Taxes.

(@) As a condition of the grant, vesting or ei& of an Award, the Participant (or in the cafsthe Participant’s death, the person
to whom the Award passes) shall make such arrangtsras the Administrator may require for the satisbn of any applicable federal, state, local or
foreign withholding tax obligations that may arieeconnection with such grant, vesting or exercisthe Award or the issuance of Shares. The
Company shall not be required to issue any Sharésrithe Plan until such obligations are satisfiethe Administrator allows the withholding or
surrender of Shares to satisfy a Participant’satéiixholding obligations under this Section 13 (wWiegtpursuant to Section 13(c) or ( e ), or othes)yis
the Administrator shall not allow Shares to be Witld in an amount that exceeds the minimum statwtithholding rates for federal and state tax
purposes, including payroll taxes.

(b) Inthe case of an Employee and in the alesehany other arrangement, the Employee shaleleenéd to have directed the
Company to withhold or collect from his or her ca@npation an amount sufficient to satisfy such taligations from the next payroll payment
otherwise payable after the date of an exercisettiement of an Award.

(c) Inthe case of an Employee where the neytgtigpayment is not sufficient to satisfy such tadigations, with respect to any

remaining tax obligations, in the absence of amgioarrangement and to the extent permitted utgeApplicable Laws, the Participant shall be
deemed to have elected to have the Company witHrarid the Shares to be issued upon exercise desetht (as applicable) of the Award that
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number of Shares having a Fair Market Value deteethias of the applicable Tax Date (as defined bedmual to the minimum amount required to be
withheld.

(d) For purposes of this Section 13, the Faarkét Value of the Shares to be withheld shalldéteminined on the date that the
amount of tax to be withheld is to be determinedasrithe Applicable Laws (the “Tax Date”) and sutfai®s will be valued based on the value of the
actual trade or, if there is none, the Fair Makkaiue of the Shares as of the previous trading day.

(e) If permitted by the Administrator, in itssdretion, a Participant may satisfy his or her mimin tax withholding obligations
upon exercise or settlement (as applicable) of ward by surrendering to the Company Shares tha bavair Market Value determined as of the
applicable Tax Date equal to the amount requirdabtaithheld.

(f) Any election or deemed election by a Paptieit to have Shares withheld to satisfy tax witdhmg obligations under Section 13
(c) or (e) above shall be irrevocable as to théqdar Shares as to which the election is madestwadl be subject to the consent or disapprovéief
Administrator. Any election by a Participant un&erction 13(e) above must be made on or prior tapipdicable Tax Date.

() Inthe event an election to have Sharesheithis made by a Participant and the Tax Dateferded under Section 83 of the
Code because no election is filed under Sectioh)8#(the Code, the Participant shall receive thenfumber of Shares with respect to which the
Option or Stock Purchase Right is exercised but farticipant shall be unconditionally obligatedegnder back to the Company the proper number of
Shares on the Tax Date.

14. Non-Transferability of Awards .

(@) General.Except as set forth in this Section 14, Awards metybe sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated féraed or
disposed of in any manner other than by will otthiy laws of descent or distributipand the Awards and the Shares underlying Awardsatave the
subject of a short position, a “put equivalent posl’, or a “call equivalent positionly the Award holder, prior to exercise, as suchgeare defined i
Rule 16a-1 of the Exchange Act. The designatioa bbéneficiary by a Participant will not constitatéransfer. An Award may be exercised, during the
lifetime of the Participant, only by such Partigipar a transferee permitted by this Section 14.

(b) Limited Transferability Rights . Notwithstanding anything else in this Section & Administrator may in its discretion gr
Nonstatutory Stock Options or RSUs that may besfeared by instrument to an inter vivos or testatasntrust in which the Options or RSUs are t
passed to beneficiaries upon the death of theoir(settlor), to a guardian on the disability or to an executodeath of the Nonstatutory Stock Option
or RSU holder, or by gift or pursuant to domesgiations orders to the Participant’s “Immediate Hghfas defined below) provided that any such
permitted transferees may not (i) further tran&8ts to any parties and (ii) may not transfer Natusbry Stock Options to parties other than the
Participant or the Participant’'s Immediate Familprisfers between a Participant’'s Immediate Faanily between a Participant’'s Immediate Family
and Participant are permitted). For the sake offidation, multiple transfers of Nonstatutory Sko©ptions may be made, by gift or pursuant to
domestic relations orders, back and forth betweenddiate Family and a Participant pursuant to$kistion 14(b). “ Immediate Famifymeans any
child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparergndparent, spouse, former spouse, domestic pattaeing the same household, sibling, niece,
nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-laaudhter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-lamg¢luding adoptive relationships), a trust in which
these persons have more than fifty percent of é@meficial interest, a foundation in which thesespes (or the Participant) control the management of
assets, and any other entity in which these per@rike Participant) own more than fifty percefhtt@ voting interests.

15. Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization, Mergeior Certain Other Transactions.
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(a) Changes in Capitalization. Subject to any action required under Applicable &y the stockholders of the Company, the
number of Shares of Common Stock covered by eatstamaling Award, the numbers of Shares set for®eiction 3, and the number of Shares of
Common Stock that have been authorized for issuander the Plan but as to which no Awards havéogenh granted or that have been returned to the
Plan upon cancellation or expiration of an Awargsiwell as the price per Share of Common Stock @al/by each such outstanding Award, shall be
proportionately adjusted for any increase or deseréia the number of issued Shares of Common Sastkting from a stock split, reverse stock split,
stock dividend, combination, recapitalization aslassification of the Common Stock, or any otheréase or decrease in the number of issued Share:
of Common Stock effected without receipt of consatien by the Company; provided, however, that esion of any convertible securities of the
Company shall not be deemed to have been “effetitéut receipt of consideration.” Such adjustms&mll be made by the Administrator, whose
determination in that respect shall be final, birgdand conclusive. Except as expressly providedimeno issuance by the Company of shares of stock
of any class, or securities convertible into shafestock of any class, shall affect, and no adjigstt by reason thereof shall be made with respect t
the number or price of Shares of Common Stock stibjean Award.

(b) Dissolution or Liguidation . In the event of the dissolution or liquidation bétCompany, each Award will terminate
immediately prior to the consummation of such agtimless otherwise determined by the Administrator

(c) Corporate Transaction. In the event of a Corporate Transaction (includiritpout limitation a Change of Control), each
outstanding Award shall be assumed or an equivaleatd shall be substituted by such successor @tipo or a parent or subsidiary of such
successor corporation (the “ Successor Corporafjamless the Successor Corporation does not dgrassume the Award or to substitute an
equivalent award, in which case such Award shathiteate upon the consummation of the transaction.

For purposes of this Section 15(c), an Award ghaltonsidered assumed, without limitation, if het time of issuance of the stock
other consideration upon a Corporate Transactian®@hange of Control, as the case may be, eackehaoldn Award would be entitled to receive u
exercise of the Award the same number and kindhafes of stock or the same amount of property, oaskcurities as such holder would have been
entitled to receive upon the occurrence of thesaation if the holder had been, immediately priosuich transaction, the holder of the number of
Shares of Common Stock covered by the Award at 8oeh (after giving effect to any adjustments ie ttumber of Shares covered by the Award as
provided for in this Section 15); provided thasifch consideration received in the transactiomisalely common stock of the Successor Corpora
the Administrator may, with the consent of the Sssor Corporation, provide for the consideratiobdaeceived upon exercise of the Award to be
solely common stock of the Successor Corporatiarakty the Fair Market Value of the per Share adersition received by holders of Common Stock
in the transaction.

(d) Certain Distributions . In the event of any distribution to the Companytxkholders of securities of any other entity drest
assets (other than dividends payable in cash ok stithe Company) without receipt of consideratigrnthe Company, the Administrator may, in its
discretion, appropriately adjust the price per 8ledrCommon Stock covered by each outstanding @pticStock Purchase Right to reflect the effect
of such distribution.

16. Time of Granting Awards . The date of grant of an Award shall, for all purpgshe the date on which the Administrator makes th
determination granting such Award, or such othée da is determined by the Administrator, provitiet in the case of any Incentive Stock Option,
the grant date shall be the later of the date ociwthe Administrator makes the determination grapsuch Incentive Stock Option or the date of
commencement of the Optionee’s employment reldtipneith the Company. Notice of the determinatibalsbe given to each Employee or
Consultant to whom an Award is so granted withieasonable time after the date of such grant.

17. Amendment and Termination of the Plan.
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(a) Authority to Amend or Terminate . The Board or the Compensation Committee of the @ozay at any time amend, alter,
suspend or discontinue the Plan, but no amendrakatation, suspension or discontinuation (othantan adjustment pursuant to Section 15 above)
shall be made that would materially and advers#gcathe rights of any holder of an Award, withdus$ or her consent. In addition, to the extent
necessary and desirable to comply with the Appleabws, the Company shall obtain stockholder aygrof any Plan amendment in such a manner
and to such a degree as required.

(b) Effect of Amendment or Termination . Except as to amendments which the Administratotttsuthority under the Plan to
make unilaterally, no amendment or terminatiorhef Plan shall materially and adversely affect Awableady granted, unless mutually agreed
otherwise between the holder of such Award andAtdhainistrator, which agreement must be in writimglaigned by such holder and the Company.

18. Conditions Upon Issuance of SharesNotwithstanding any other provision of the Plarany agreement entered into by the Company
pursuant to the Plan, the Company shall not beyatdd, and shall have no liability for failureigsue or deliver any Shares under the Plan uniess s
issuance or delivery would comply with the Applitahaws, with such compliance determined by the Gamy in consultation with its legal counsel.
As a condition to the exercise or settlement oAarard, the Company may require the holder of theafdito represent and warrant at the time of any
such exercise that the Shares are being acquitgdarrinvestment and without any present intentiorsell or distribute such Shares if, in the opmi
of counsel for the Company, such a representagioaquired by law. Shares issued upon exercisenafréds granted prior to the date on which the
Common Stock becomes a Listed Security shall beesuto a right of first refusal in favor of the @pany pursuant to which the Participant will be
required to offer Shares to the Company beforéngetlr transferring them to any third party on stetms and subject to such conditions as is reft
in the applicable agreement for such Award.

19. Reservation of Shares The Company, during the term of this Plan, wilblttimes reserve and keep available such numb8hafes
as shall be sufficient to satisfy the requiremefthe Plan.

20. Stockholder Approval . If required by the Applicable Laws, continuancela® Plan shall be subject to approval by the stolddrs of
the Company within twelve (12) months before oeafhe date the Plan is adopted. Such stockhopifgpsaal shall be obtained in the manner and to
the degree required under the Applicable Laws.
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EXHIBIT 10.4(A)

FACEBOOK, INC.
2012 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

(as amended in December 2012)

1. PURPOSE. The purpose of this Plan is to provide incentitesttract, retain and motivate eligible persor®sge present a
potential contributions are important to the susagf¢he Company, and any Parents and Subsidila¢xist now or in the future, by offering then
opportunity to participate in the Compasyuture performance through the grant of Awardspi@lized terms not defined elsewhere in the ées
defined in Section 27.

2. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN .

2.1 _Number of Shares Available&Subject to Sections 2.6 and 21 and any othelicglppé provisions hereof, the total numbe
Shares reserved and available for grant and issyaunsuant to this Plan as of the date of adomtiche Plan by the Board, is 25,000,08@ares plt
(i) any reserved shares not issued or subject tstanding grants under the Company’s 2005 Stock @he “Prior Plan ") on the Effective Date (
defined below), (ii) shares that are subject t@lstptions or other awards granted under the Pii@an that cease to be subject to such stock optit
other awards by forfeiture or otherwise after tlfle&ive Date, (iii) shares issued under the PHt@n before or after the Effective Date pursuariht
exercise of stock options that are, after the HffedDate, forfeited, (iv) shares issued underRnier Plan that are repurchased by the Compariye
original issue price and (v) shares that are stilbjestock options or other awards under the FRlan that are used or withheld to pay the exemi®e
of an option or to satisfy the tax withholding @altions related to any award.

2.2 _Lapsed, Returned AwardsShares subject to Awards, and Shares issued uhdePlan under any Award, will again
available for grant and issuance in connection withsequent Awards under this Plan to the extertt Slhares: (a) are subject to issuance
exercise of an Option or SAR granted under thisBlat which cease to be subject to the Option oR $é« any reason other than exercise o
Option or SAR; (b) are subject to Awards grantedairthis Plan that are forfeited or are repurchédmethe Company at the original issue price; (e
subject to Awards granted under this Plan thatratise terminate without such Shares being issuedc)are surrendered pursuant to an Exch
Program. To the extent an Award under the Plaraid put in cash rather than Shares, such cash prywik not result in reducing the number
Shares available for issuance under the Plan. Shaexl or withheld to pay the exercise price oAaard or to satisfy the tax withholding obligatic
related to an Award will become available for fetgrant or sale under the Plan. For the avoidahdeubt, Shares that otherwise become availab
grant and issuance because of the provisions ®&#ction 2.2 shall not include Shares subjectwards that initially became available because e
substitution clause in Section 21.2 hereof.

2.3 _Minimum Share Reservét all times the Company shall reserve and kesglable a sufficient number of Shares as she
required to satisfy the requirements of all outdiag Awards granted under this Plan.

2.4 _Automatic Share Reserve Increasbe number of Shares available for grant andaissel under the Plan shall be increase
January 1, of each of the ten (10) calendar yeatiggithe term of the Plan, by the lesser of (i) @nd one half percent (2.5%) of the number of &
issued and outstanding on each December 31 imnegdjaior to the date of increase or (ii) such nembf Shares determined by the Board.




2.5 _Limitations No more than 120,000,000 Shares shall be issulesthiant to the exercise of 1SOs.

2.6 _Adjustment of Sharedf the number of outstanding Shares is changed bipck dividend, recapitalization, stock spliyers:
stock split, subdivision, combination, reclassifica or similar change in the capital structuretlodé Company, without consideration, then (a)
number of Shares reserved for issuance and furareg gnder the Plan set forth in Section 2.1, lfjle) Exercise Prices of and number of Shares st
to outstanding Options and SARS, (c) the numbetares subject to other outstanding Awards, (djrtagimum number of shares that may be is
as ISOs set forth in Section 2.5, (e) the maximwmlmer of Shares that may be issued to an individutd a new Employee in any one calendar
set forth in Section 3 and (f) the number of Shates are granted as Awards to NE&mployee Directors as set forth in Section 12, Ishe
proportionately adjusted, subject to any requiretiba by the Board or the stockholders of the Comypand in compliance with applicable secur
laws; provided that fractions of a Share will netissued.

3. ELIGIBILITY .ISOs may be granted only to Employees. All othetards may be granted to Employees, ConsultantgcRirs an
Nor-Employee Directors of the Company or any ParenSwobsidiary of the Company; providedich Consultants, Directors and N&mployet
Directors render bona fide services not in conoectiith the offer and sale of securities in a apiising transaction. No Participant will be elig
to receive more than 2,500,000 Shares in any cateyehr under this Plan pursuant to the grant o except that new Employees of the Com
or of a Parent or Subsidiary of the Company (inicigchew Employees who are also officers and dirsobd the Company or any Parent or Subsic
of the Company) are eligible to receive up to aimaxn of 5,000,000 Shares in the calendar year iclwvtihey commence their employment.

4.  ADMINISTRATION

4.1 _Committee Composition; Authorityrhis Plan will be administered by the Committedoy the Board acting as the Commit
Subject to the general purposes, terms and condit this Plan, and to the direction of the Bodng, Committee will have full power to implem
and carry out this Plan, except, however, the Behall establish the terms for the grant of an AlntarNonEmployee Directors. The Committee \
have the authority to:

(@) construe and interpret this Plan, any Awagdeement and any other agreement or document cpursuant to th
Plan;

(b) prescribe, amend and rescind rules and atiguk relating to this Plan or any Award;

(c) select persons to receive Awards;

(d) determine the form and terms and conditions, inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of sward grante
hereunder. Such terms and conditions include, trithat limited to, the exercise price, the timetiores when Awards may vest and be exerc
(which may be based on performance criteria), asting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture regtans, and any restriction or limitation regarc
any Award or the Shares relating thereto, baseddah case on such factors as the Committee wékohte;

(e) determine the number of Shares or otherideration subject to Awards;

(f) determine the Fair Market Value in good liaétnd interpret the applicable provisions of thisnPand the definition
Fair Market Value in connection with circumstantfest impact the Fair Market Value, if necessary;

(g) determine whether Awards will be grantedghinin combination with, in tandem with, in reptoent of, or ¢
alternatives to, other Awards under this Plan gr@her incentive or compensation plan of the Camypar any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company;




(h) grant waivers of Plan or Award conditions;
(i) determine the vesting, exercisability angrpant of Awards;

(i) correct any defect, supply any omission ecancile any inconsistency in this Plan, any Awardany Awart
Agreement;

(k) determine whether an Award has been earned;
() determine the terms and conditions of amyl & institute any Exchange Program;
(m) reduce or waive any criteria with respedP@formance Factors;

(n) adjust Performance Factors to take into aetchanges in law and accounting or tax ruleshasGommittee deer
necessary or appropriate to reflect the impactxafaerdinary or unusual items, events or circumsgarno avoid windfalls or hardships provided
such adjustments are consistent with the regulstppomulgated under Section 162(m) of the Code vetipect to persons whose compensati
subject to Section 162(m) of the Code;

(o) adopt rules and/or procedures (including adeption of any subplan under this Plan) relatmghe operation ai
administration of the Plan to accommodate requirgmef local law and procedures outside of the éthBtates;

(p) make all other determinations necessanduisable for the administration of this Plan; and

(q) delegate any of the foregoing to a subcotemitonsisting of one or more executive officenspant to a specific
delegation.

4.2 _Committee Interpretation and Discretiohny determination made by the Committee with esgo any Award shall be me
in its sole discretion at the time of grant of heard or, unless in contravention of any expressitef the Plan or Award, at any later time, andh
determination shall be final and binding on the @any and all persons having an interest in any Awarder the Plan. Any dispute regarding
interpretation of the Plan or any Award Agreemdrdlisbe submitted by the Participant or Companyh® Committee for review. The resolutior
such a dispute by the Committee shall be finalzinding on the Company and the Participant. The Q@itee may delegate to one or more exec!
officers the authority to review and resolve digsutvith respect to Awards held by Participants &tenot Insiders, and such resolution shall bd
and binding on the Company and the Participant.

4.3 _Section 162(m) of the Code and Section flh@ Exchange Act When necessary or desirable for an Award to tyuak
“performance-based compensation” under Sectionripdf the Code the Committee shall include at léastpersons who are “outside directorat (
defined under Section 162(m) of the Code) andastlavo (or a majority if more than two then seovethe Committee) such “outside directossial
approve the grant of such Award and timely deteenis applicable) the Performance Period and anfprifeance Factors upon which vesting
settlement of any portion of such Award is to bbjsct. When required by Section 162(m) of the Cqutmr to settlement of any such Award at |
two (or a majority if more than two then serve ha Committee) such “outside directothen serving on the Committee shall determine amtifg in
writing the extent to which such Performance Factamve been timely achieved and the extent to whietShares subject to such Award have the
been earned. Awards granted to Participants whas@bgect to Section 16 of the Exchange Act mustaperoved by two or more “noamploye:
directors” @s defined in the regulations promulgated undeti@ed6 of the Exchange Act). With respect to Rfutints whose compensation is sut
to Section 162(m) of the Code, and provided thahsadjustments are consistent with the regulatmosulgated under Section 162(m) of the C
the Committee may adjust the performance goalgt¢ount for changes in law and accounting and toenzaich adjustments as the Committee d
necessary or appropriate to reflect the impacktBerdinary or unusual items, events or circuntario avoid




windfalls or hardships, including without limitatidi) restructurings, discontinued operations, @xtdinary items, and other unusual or meadrring
charges, (ii) an event either not directly rela@the operations of the Company or not withinregssonable control of the Compasiyhanagement,
(iii) a change in accounting standards requireddayerally accepted accounting principles.

4.4 _DocumentationThe Award Agreement for a given Award, the Plad any other documents may be delivered to, anejpet
by, a Participant or any other person in any mafinetuding electronic distribution or posting) thraeets applicable legal requirements.

5. OPTIONS . The Committee may grant Options to Participants will determine whether such Options will be Inttee Stock Optior
within the meaning of the Code kSOs”) or Nonqualified Stock Options (NQSOs"), the number of Shares subject to the Option, thedise Pric
of the Option, the period during which the Optioaynvest and be exercised, and all other terms anditions of the Option, subject to the following:

5.1 _Option GrantEach Option granted under this Plan will identtig Option as an ISO or an NQSO. An Option maybbéenee
not be, awarded upon satisfaction of such Perfoom&actors during any Performance Period as areuseéh advance in the Participasindividua
Award Agreement. If the Option is being earned upiensatisfaction of Performance Factors, therObimmittee will: (x) determine the nature, ler
and starting date of any Performance Period foh €mtion; and (y) select from among the Performdfaetors to be used to measure the perform
if any. Performance Periods may overlap and Ppdits may participate simultaneously with respectOptions that are subject to differ
performance goals and other criteria.

5.2 _Date of GrantThe date of grant of an Option will be the datewhich the Committee makes the determination émigsucl
Option, or a specified future date. The Award Agneat and a copy of this Plan will be deliveredhe Participant within a reasonable time afte
granting of the Option.

5.3 _Exercise PeriodOptions may be vested and exercisable withintithes or upon the conditions as set forth in theafo
Agreement governing such Option; providdtbwever, that no Option will be exercisable after the eafon of ten (10) years from the date the Og
is granted; and provided furthérat no ISO granted to a person who, at the tired3$l0 is granted, directly or by attribution ownermthan ten perce
(10%) of the total combined voting power of all sdas of stock of the Company or of any Parent dsi@iary of the Company (Ten Percen
Stockholder”) will be exercisable after the expiration of five {&ars from the date the I1SO is granted. The Cdteenalso may provide for Options
become exercisable at one time or from time to tipegiodically or otherwise, in such number of ®saor percentage of Shares as the Comr
determines.

5.4 _Exercise Price The Exercise Price of an Option will be deterrdify the Committee when the Option is granted; joleo
that: (i) the Exercise Price of an Option will bat tess than one hundred percent (100%) of theNFaiket Value of the Shares on the date of grad
(i) the Exercise Price of any ISO granted to a Pencent Stockholder will not be less than one heshten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Valu
the Shares on the date of grant. Payment for tleeeShpurchased may be made in accordance witho8etti and the Award Agreement anc
accordance with any procedures established by tinep@ny.

5.5 _Method of ExerciseAny Option granted hereunder will be vested axer@sable according to the terms of the Plan a
such times and under such conditions as deternbigetie Committee and set forth in the Award Agreetnén Option may not be exercised fc
fraction of a Share. An Option will be deemed eisad when the Company receives: (i) notice of @ger(in such form as the Committee may spt
from time to time) from the person entitled to exse the Option, and (i) full payment for the Sksmmwith respect to which the Option is exerc
(together with applicable withholding taxes). Fodlyment may consist of any consideration and metfigthyment authorized by the Committee
permitted by the Award Agreement and the Plan. &hesued upon exercise of an Option will be issnelde name of the Participant. Until the Sh
are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entthebooks of the Company or of a duly authorizadsfer agent of the Company), no right to
or receive dividends or any other rights as a stolder will exist with respect to the Shares, ntitaianding the exercise of the Option. The Com
will issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares pttprafter the Option is exercised. No adjustmeititlve made for a dividend or other right for wh
the record date is prior to the date the Sharessued,




except as provided in Section 2.6 of the Plan. &sgigrg an Option in any manner will decrease thmlper of Shares thereafter available, bott
purposes of the Plan and for sale under the Opbipithe number of Shares as to which the Opti@axéscised.

5.6 _Termination The exercise of an Option will be subject to tbkbowing (except as may be otherwise provided fnfavarc
Agreement):

(&) If the Participant is Terminated for any sea except for Cause or the Participandieath or Disability, then t
Participant may exercise such Participan®ptions only to the extent that such Options wduhve been exercisable by the Participant ol
Termination Date no later than ninety (90) daygrafhe Termination Date (or such shorter time pkdolonger time period not exceeding five
years as may be determined by the Committee, wiyheaercise beyond three (3) months after the Treatiin Date deemed to be the exercise
NQSO), but in any event no later than the expiratiate of the Option:

(b) If the Participant is Terminated becauséhefParticipans death (or the Participant dies within ninety (88ys after
Termination other than for Cause or because oPtréicipant’s Disability), then the ParticipaOptions may be exercised only to the extentshel
Options would have been exercisable by the Paatitipn the Termination Date and must be exercisethé Participans legal representative,
authorized assignee, no later than twelve (12) hwoatfter the Termination Date (or such shorter fireod not less than six (6) months or longer
period not exceeding five (5) years as may be deterd by the Committee), but in any event no Ig#tan the expiration date of the Options.

(c) If the Participant is Terminated becauséhef Participant’s Disability, then the ParticipanDptions may be exercis
only to the extent that such Options would haveneercisable by the Participant on the Terminablate and must be exercised by the Participal
the Participant legal representative or authorized assigneedteo than six (6) months after the Termination Oatéh any exercise beyond (a) th
(3) months after the Termination Date when the Teation is for a Disability that is nat “permanent and total disability” as defined irctBm 22(e)
(3) of the Code, or (b) twelve (12) months aftex frermination Date when the Termination is for adbility that isa “permanent and total disability”
as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, dectmé@d exercise of an NQSO), but in any event rer ldgan the expiration date of the Options.

(d) If the Participant is terminated for Causieen Participant's Options shall expire on suchtiBigant’s Terminatiol
Date, or at such later time and on such conditamare determined by the Committee, but in anyvweatdater than the expiration date of the Opti
Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreemeiai e will have the meaning set forth in the Plan.

5.7 _Limitations on ExerciseThe Committee may specify a minimum number ofr&hahat may be purchased on any exerci
an Option, provided that such minimum number wilt prevent any Participant from exercising the @pfior the full number of Shares for which i
then exercisable.

5.8 _Limitations on ISOsWith respect to Awards granted as ISOs, to thergxthat the aggregate Fair Market Value of thar&
with respect to which such ISOs are exercisableHferfirst time by the Participant during any calanyear (under all plans of the Company anc
Parent or Subsidiary) exceeds one hundred thoudalfats ($100,000), such Options will be treatedN&SOs. For purposes of this Section 5.8, |
will be taken into account in the order in whickeyhwere granted. The Fair Market Value of the Sharifl be determined as of the time the Op
with respect to such Shares is granted. In thetethart the Code or the regulations promulgatedetineder are amended after the Effective Da
provide for a different limit on the Fair Market Ma of Shares permitted to be subject to ISOs, slifférent limit will be automatically incorporat
herein and will apply to any Options granted after effective date of such amendment.

5.9 _Modification, Extension or Renewalhe Committee may modify, extend or renew outditegn Options and authorize the gt
of new Options in substitution therefor, providdwtt any such action may not, without the writtemsent of a Participant, impair any of s
Participants rights under any Option previously granted. Aogstanding ISO that is modified, extended, reneareatherwise altered will be treatec
accordance




with Section 424(h) of the Code. Subject to Secfi8rof this Plan, by written notice to affected tRgpants, the Committee may reduce the Exe
Price of outstanding Options without the consenswith Participants; providechowever, that the Exercise Price may not be reduced bé#henFai
Market Value on the date the action is taken taicedhe Exercise Price.

5.10 _No Disqualification Notwithstanding any other provision in this Plan,term of this Plan relating to ISOs will be eeted
amended or altered, nor will any discretion or atitll granted under this Plan be exercised, so aéstjualify this Plan under Section 422 of the €
or, without the consent of the Participant affecteddisqualify any ISO under Section 422 of thel€o

6. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS .

6.1 _Awards of Restricted StockA Restricted Stock Award is an offer by the Comp#o sell to a Participant Shares that
subject to restrictions (Restricted StocK). The Committee will determine to whom an offer vii# made, the number of Shares the Participan
purchase, the Purchase Price, the restrictionsrwakieh the Shares will be subject and all othemgeand conditions of the Restricted Stock Aw
subject to the Plan.

6.2 _Restricted Stock Purchase Agreemewil purchases under a Restricted Stock Award Ww# evidenced by an Awe
Agreement. Except as may otherwise be providechiAvaard Agreement, a Participant accepts a RestriStock Award by signing and delivering
the Company an Award Agreement with full paymenth& Purchase Price, within thirty (30) days frdma tate the Award Agreement was delivi
to the Participant. If the Participant does noteptsuch Award within thirty (30) days, then théeofof such Restricted Stock Award will termini
unless the Committee determines otherwise.

6.3 _Purchase PriceThe Purchase Price for a Restricted Stock Awaldbe determined by the Committee and may be tbat
Fair Market Value on the date the Restricted S#efard is granted. Payment of the Purchase Price beumade in accordance with Section 11 o
Plan, and the Award Agreement and in accordande aviy procedures established by the Company.

6.4 _Terms of Restricted Stock AwardRestricted Stock Awards will be subject to suestrictions as the Committee may img
or are required by lawlhese restrictions may be based on completionspleaified number of years of service with the Conypar upon completic
of Performance Factors, if any, during any PerforogaPeriod as set out in advance in the Participaiward Agreement. Prior to the grant «
Restricted Stock Award, the Committee shall: (aedeine the nature, length and starting date of Resformance Period for the Restricted S
Award; (b) select from among the Performance Fadoibe used to measure performance goals, ifamy;(c) determine the number of Shares
may be awarded to the Participant. Performanceo@&rnay overlap and a Participant may participateltaneously with respect to Restricted Si
Awards that are subject to different Performancgdde and having different performance goals ameotriteria.

6.5 _Termination of Participant Except as may be set forth in the ParticimamAward Agreement, vesting ceases on
Participant’s Termination Date (unless determinéeiwise by the Committee).

7. STOCK BONUS AWARDS.

7.1 _Awards of Stock Bonuse# Stock Bonus Award is an award to an eligiblespa of Shares for services to be rendered «
past services already rendered to the CompanyyoParent or Subsidiary. All Stock Bonus Awards kbal made pursuant to an Award Agreerr
No payment from the Participant will be required $hares awarded pursuant to a Stock Bonus Av

7.2 _Terms of Stock Bonus Award$he Committee will determine the number of Shacese awarded to the Participant und
Stock Bonus Award and any restrictions thereon.s€hestrictions may be based upon completion gieaiied number of years of service with
Company or upon satisfaction of performance goalseth on Performance Factors during any Perform®ec®d as set out in advance in
Participant’s Stock Bonus Agreement. Prior to trengof any Stock Bonus Award the Committee slfa)l:determine the nature, length and




starting date of any Performance Period for thelSBonus Award; (b) select from among the PerforoeaRactors to be used to measure perforn
goals; and (c) determine the number of Shares et be awarded to the Participant. Performanceo@&nmay overlap and a Participant 1
participate simultaneously with respect to StockB®Awards that are subject to different PerforneaReriods and different performance goals
other criteria.

7.3 _Form of Payment to ParticiparRayment may be made in the form of cash, whobee3h or a combination thereof, base
the Fair Market Value of the Shares earned un&toek Bonus Award on the date of payment, as détexrin the sole discretion of the Committee.

7.4 _Termination of Participation Except as may be set forth in the Participamtivard Agreement, vesting ceases on
Participant’s Termination Date (unless determinggtwise by the Committee).

8. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS .

8.1 _Awards of SARs A Stock Appreciation Right (SAR”) is an award to a Participant that may be settledash, or Shar
(which may consist of Restricted Stock), havingadug equal to (a) the difference between the Farkigt Value on the date of exercise ovel
Exercise Price multiplied by (b) the number of ®sawith respect to which the SAR is being settlject to any maximum number of Shares
may be issuable as specified in an Award AgreemAtitsARs shall be made pursuant to an Award Agreet.

8.2 _Terms of SARsThe Committee will determine the terms of eactRSAcluding, without limitation: (a) the number 8hare
subject to the SAR; (b) the Exercise Price andtime or times during which the SAR may be settlgd;the consideration to be distributed
settlement of the SAR; and (d) the effect of thetiBigant's Termination on each SAR. The Exercise Price ef SAR will be determined by t
Committee when the SAR is granted, and may noese than Fair Market Value. A SAR may be awardezhigatisfaction of Performance Factor
any, during any Performance Period as are setnoativance in the Participastindividual Award Agreement. If the SAR is beingreed upon tt
satisfaction of Performance Factors, then the Cdteewill: (x) determine the nature, length andtstg date of any Performance Period for ¢
SAR; and (y) select from among the Performance dfadib be used to measure the performance, if Bayformance Periods may overlap
Participants may participate simultaneously wittpet to SARs that are subject to different Peréoroe Factors and other criteria.

8.3 _Exercise Period and Expiration Dafe SAR will be exercisable within the times or mpihe occurrence of events determi
by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreeng®verning such SAR. The SAR Agreement shalfah the expiration date; provided that
SAR will be exercisable after the expiration of {&0) years from the date the SAR is granted. Thm@ittee may also provide for SARs to bec
exercisable at one time or from time to time, peidally or otherwise (including, without limitatipmpon the attainment during a Performance P
of performance goals based on Performance Faciarslich number of Shares or percentage of theeSheubject to the SAR as the Comm
determines. Except as may be set forth in theddgaitit's Award Agreement, vesting ceases on sucticRant’s Termination Date (unless determi
otherwise by the Committee). Notwithstanding theefming, the rules of Section 5.6 also will apg\SARS.

8.4 _Form of SettlementUpon exercise of a SAR, a Participant will beitted to receive payment from the Company in an am
determined by multiplying (i) the difference betwethe Fair Market Value of a Share on the datexef@se over the Exercise Price; times (ii)
number of Shares with respect to which the SAR&@sed. At the discretion of the Committee, thgment from the Company for the SAR exer
may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent valuen some combination thereof. The portion of a SARdseettled may be paid currently or on a defe
basis with such interest or dividend equivalengrif, as the Committee determines, provided tratehms of the SAR and any deferral satisfy
requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

8.5 _Termination of Participation Except as may be set forth in the Particimamtward Agreement, vesting ceases on
Participant’s Termination Date (unless determinéeiwise by the Committee).




9. RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS .

9.1 _Awards of Restricted Stock Unité Restricted Stock Unit (RSU”) is an award to a Participant covering a numberhafr&
that may be settled in cash, or by issuance ofett8isares (which may consist of Restricted Stock)R&Us shall be made pursuant to an Av
Agreement.

9.2 _Terms of RSUsThe Committee will determine the terms of an R8tluding, without limitation: (a) the number of &fe:
subject to the RSU; (b) the time or times duringohitthe RSU may be settled; (c) the consideratiopet distributed on settlement; and (d) the eftd
the Participans Termination on each RSU. An RSU may be awardea sptisfaction of such performance goals basd@esformance Factors duri
any Performance Period as are set out in advanteiRarticipans Award Agreement. If the RSU is being earned ugatisfaction of Performan
Factors, then the Committee will: (x) determine tia¢ure, length and starting date of any Performadteriod for the RSU; (y) select from among
Performance Factors to be used to measure therpenice, if any; and (z) determine the number ofr&hdeemed subject to the RSU. Perform
Periods may overlap and participants may partieigamultaneously with respect to RSUs that areestibjo different Performance Periods
different performance goals and other criteria.

9.3 _Form and Timing of SettlemenPayment of earned RSUs shall be made as soomaeiicpble after the date(s) determine:
the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreem&he Committee, in its sole discretion, may setdened RSUs in cash, Shares, or a combinat
both. The Committee may also permit a Participarddfer payment under a RSU to a date or datesth#eRSU is earned provided that the tern
the RSU and any deferral satisfy the requiremeih&eotion 409A of the Code.

9.4 _Termination of Participant Except as may be set forth in the Particimmmtward Agreement, vesting ceases on
Participant’s Termination Date (unless determinéeiwise by the Committee).

10. PERFORMANCE AWARDS .

10.1 _Performance AwardsA Performance Award is an award to a Participzind cash bonus or a Performance Share b
Grants of Performance Awards shall be made purdoar Award Agreement.

10.2 _Terms of Performance Awardshe Committee will determine, and each Award Agnent shall set forth, the terms of €
award of Performance Award including, without liatibn: (a) the amount of any cash bonus; (b) thebar of Shares deemed subject
Performance Share bonus; (c) the Performance Baatal Performance Period that shall determineithe &nd extent to which each Performe
Award shall be settled; (d) the consideration todistributed on settlement; and (e) the effecthef Participant Termination on each Performa
Award. In establishing Performance Factors andPédormance Period the Committee will: (x) detemnihe nature, length and starting date of
Performance Period; and (y) select from among #oRnance Factors to be used. Prior to settleftftenCommittee shall determine the exter
which Performance Awards have been earned. Perfaen®eriods may overlap and Participants may f@ate simultaneously with respect
Performance Awards that are subject to differemtdP@mance Periods and different performance goadsather criteria. No Participant will be eligi
to receive more than $10,000,000 in Performancerdsvim any calendar year under this Plan.

10.3 _Value, Earning and Timing of Performanbar®s. Any Performance Share bonus will have an initale equal to the F
Market Value of a Share on the date of grant. After applicable Performance Period has ended, dldehof a Performance Share bonus wil
entitled to receive a payout of the number of Sha@ned by the Participant over the Performandeddo be determined as a function of the e
to which the corresponding Performance Factorstloerovesting provisions have been achieved. Theritee, in its sole discretion, may pay
earned Performance Share bonus in the form of dasBhares (which have an aggregate Fair Markeu&/@qual to the value of the ear
Performance Shares at the close of the applicadf@ihance Period) or in a combination thereoffd®arance Share bonuses may also be sett
Restricted Stock.

10.4 _Termination of ParticipantExcept as may be set forth in the Participartward Agreement, vesting ceases on
Participant’s Termination Date (unless determinéeiwise by the Committee).




11. PAYMENT FOR SHARE PURCHASES.

Payment from a Participant for Shares purchasesljpat to this Plan may be made in cash or by cbheakhere expressly approy
for the Participant by the Committee and where [igethby law (and to the extent not otherwise setfin the applicable Award Agreement):

(a) by cancellation of indebtedness of the Camgga the Participant;

(b) by surrender of shares of the Company hglthb Participant that have a Fair Market Valuetloan date of surrend
equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Staaréswhich said Award will be exercised or sdftle

(c) by waiver of compensation due or accruetthéoParticipant for services rendered or to beesito the Company o
Parent or Subsidiary of the Company;

(d) by consideration received by the Companyspamt to a brokeassisted or other form of cashless exercise prc
implemented by the Company in connection with ttea P

(e) by any combination of the foregoing; or
(f) by any other method of payment as is pegditty applicable law.

12. GRANTS TO NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS .

12.1 _Types of AwardsNon-Employee Directors are eligible to receive any tgbeéAward offered under this Plan except IS
Awards pursuant to this Section 12 may be autoraliticmade pursuant to policy adopted by the Boardnade from time to time as determined ir
discretion of the Board.

12.2 _Eligibility . Awards pursuant to this Section 12 shall be g@mnly to Non-Employee Directors. A N&@mployee Directc
who is elected or re-elected as a member of thedBwal be eligible to receive an Award under t&isction 12.

12.3 _Vesting, Exercisability and SettlemeBixcept as set forth in Section 21, Awards sheditybecome exercisable and be se
as determined by the Board. With respect to Optams SARS, the exercise price granted to [Ramployee Directors shall not be less than the
Market Value of the Shares at the time that suctic@pr SAR is granted.

12.4 _Election to receive Awards in Lieu of CaghNon-Employee Director may elect to receivedriier annual retainer
payments and/or meeting fees from the Companyeiridim of cash or Awards or a combination therasfdetermined by the Committee. Such
Awards shall be issued under the Plan. An eleatiwter this Section 12.4 shall be filed with the @amy on the form prescribed by the Company.

13. WITHHOLDING TAXES

13.1 _Withholding GenerallyWhenever Shares are to be issued in satisfagfiBwards granted under this Plan, the Company
require the Participant to remit to the Companytoathe Parent or Subsidiary employing the Participan amount sufficient to satisfy applicable.
federal, state, local and international withholdbag requirements or any other tax liability legatlue from the Participant prior to the deliven
Shares pursuant to exercise or settlement of angrdwwWhenever payments in satisfaction of Awards\gd under this Plan are to be made in
such payment will be net of an amount sufficiens&tisfy applicable U.S. federal, state, local andrnational withholding tax requirements or
other tax liability legally due from the Particigaifhe Fair Market Value of the Shares will be detieed as of the date that the taxes are required
withheld and such Shares will be valued based ewvédfue of the actual trade or, if there is nohe,Rair Market Value of the Shares as of the pre
trading day.




13.2 _Stock Withholding The Committee, in its sole discretion and purstaisuch procedures as it may specify from timéne
and to limitations of local law, may require or éra Participant to satisfy such tax withholdingligation or any other tax liability legally dueon
the Participant, in whole or in part by (withounltation) (i) paying cash, (ii) electing to haveet@ompany withhold otherwise deliverable cas
Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the mmimn statutory amount required to be withheld, @y dielivering to the Company alreadywvnec
Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to themmimh amount required to be withheld.

14. TRANSFERABILITY .

14.1 _Transfer GenerallyUnless determined otherwise by the Committeeunsymant to Section 14.2, an Award may not be
pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred spogéd of in any manner other than by will or bey llws of descent or distribution. If the Commi
makes an Award transferable, including, withoutitétion, by instrument to an inter vivos or testautaey trust in which the Awards are to be pass
beneficiaries upon the death of the trustor (s@tto by gift to a Permitted Transferee, such Awailll contain such additional terms and conditi@s
the Committee deems appropriate. All Awards shallexercisable: (i) during the Participantifetime only by (A) the Participant, or (B) 1
Participant’s guardian or legal representative;diter the Participant’'s death, by the legal reprgative of the Participastheirs or legatees; and (
in the case of all awards except ISOs, by a Pexthifransferee.

14.2 _Award Transfer ProgranNotwithstanding any contrary provision of the iRlthe Committee shall have all discretion
authority to determine and implement the terms @mtlitions of any Award Transfer Program institupeasuant to this Section 14.2 and shall |
the authority to amend the terms of any Award paguditing, or otherwise eligible to participate the Award Transfer Program, including (but
limited to) the authority to (i) amend (including éxtend) the expiration date, péstmination exercise period and/or forfeiture cdinds of any suc
Award, (i) amend or remove any provisions of theakd relating to the Award holdertontinued service to the Company, (iii) amendpenissibl
payment methods with respect to the exercise ahase of any such Award, (iv) amend the adjustmente implemented in the event of changt
the capitalization and other similar events witbpect to such Award, and (v) make such other clatméhe terms of such Award as the Comm
deems necessary or appropriate in its sole discreti

15. PRIVILEGES OF STOCK OWNERSHIP; RESTRICTIONS ON SHAR ES.

15.1 _Voting and DividendsNo Participant will have any of the rights oftackholder with respect to any Shares until ther&t
are issued to the Participant, except for any eévétequivalent rights permitted by an applicableafdvAgreement. After Shares are issued t
Participant, the Participant will be a stockholdexd have all the rights of a stockholder with resge such Shares, including the right to vote
receive all dividends or other distributions madeaid with respect to such Shares; providéuht if such Shares are Restricted Stock, thgmaw
additional or different securities the Participardy become entitled to receive with respect to ssitéres by virtue of a stock dividend, stock sp
any other change in the corporate or capital atreadf the Company will be subject to the sameimsins as the Restricted Stock; providddrther,
that the Participant will have no right to retaircs stock dividends or stock distributions withpest to Shares that are repurchased at the Parittsp
Purchase Price or Exercise Price, as the case ejgubsuant to Section 15.2.

15.2 _Restrictions on ShareAt the discretion of the Committee, the Compargymeserve to itself and/or its assignee(s) a i
repurchase (a Right of Repurchase) a portion of any or all Unvested Shares heldablyarticipant following such ParticipasitTermination at ar
time within ninety (90) days after the later of fRarticipants Termination Date and the date the Participanthmges Shares under this Plan, for
and/or cancellation of purchase money indebted@dbe Participant’s Purchase Price or ExercigzPas the case may be.

16. CERTIFICATES . All Shares or other securities whether or notifiesited, delivered under this Plan will be sulbjez such stoc
transfer orders, legends and other restrictionthasCommittee may deem necessary or advisableydimg restrictions under any applicable |
federal, state or foreign securities law, or arlgsuregulations and other requirements of the 8E&hy stock exchange or automated quotation s
upon which the
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Shares may be listed or quoted and any non-U.®.aexge controls or securities law restrictions tacllthe Shares are subject.

17. ESCROW:; PLEDGE OF SHARES. To enforce any restrictions on a Participar@hares, the Committee may require the Partic
to deposit all certificates representing Sharegetteer with stock powers or other instruments ahdfer approved by the Committee, approprii
endorsed in blank, with the Company or an agerigdated by the Company to hold in escrow until stedirictions have lapsed or terminated, an
Committee may cause a legend or legends referesciclg restrictions to be placed on the certificates/ Participant who is permitted to execu
promissory note as partial or full considerationtfte purchase of Shares under this Plan will beired to pledge and deposit with the Company
part of the Shares so purchased as collateraktorese¢he payment of the Participant’s obligationh® Company under the promissory note; provided
however, that the Committee may require or accept otheadalitional forms of collateral to secure the paghaf such obligation and, in any eve
the Company will have full recourse against thetiBipant under the promissory note notwithstanding pledge of the ParticipaatShares or oth
collateral. In connection with any pledge of theaf&s, the Participant will be required to execuig deliver a written pledge agreement in such fas
the Committee will from time to time approve. Theaes purchased with the promissory note may leaset from the pledge on a pro rata bas
the promissory note is paid.

18. REPRICING; EXCHANGE AND BUYOUT OF AWARDS . Without prior stockholder approval the Committeay (i) repric
Options or SARS (and where such repricing is actdn in the Exercise Price of outstanding OptionSARS, the consent of the affected Particif
is not required provided written notice is providedhem, notwithstanding any adverse tax consempseto them arising from the repricing), and
with the consent of the respective Participantde@snot required pursuant to Section 5.9 of tla@Plpay cash or issue new Awards in exchang
the surrender and cancellation of any, or all, tamiding Awards.

19. SECURITIES LAW AND OTHER REGULATORY COMPLIANCE . An Award will not be effective unless such Awasdin
compliance with all applicable U.S. and foreignded and state securities laws, rules and regulsitid any governmental body, and the requiren
of any stock exchange or automated quotation sysfgmn which the Shares may then be listed or quetedhey are in effect on the date of gral
the Award and also on the date of exercise or afserlance. Notwithstanding any other provisiorhis Plan, the Company will have no obligatio
issue or deliver certificates for Shares under®ésh prior to: (a) obtaining any approvals fronvgmmental agencies that the Company determin
necessary or advisable; and/or (b) completion gfragistration or other qualification of such Stsawader any state or federal or foreign law omg
of any governmental body that the Company detersnfaebe necessary or advisable. The Company willizer no obligation to register the Sh,
with the SEC or to effect compliance with the régition, qualification or listing requirements ofyaforeign or state securities laws, stock excham
automated quotation system, and the Company wik: ime liability for any inability or failure to dso.

20. NO OBLIGATION TO EMPLOY . Nothing in this Plan or any Award granted undgs Plan will confer or be deemed to confe
any Participant any right to continue in the emptdy or to continue any other relationship withe ttompany or any Parent or Subsidiary of
Company or limit in any way the right of the Compaor any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company tmieate Participant employment or oth
relationship at any time.

21. CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS .

21.1 _Assumption or Replacement of Awards byc8ssor. In the event of a Corporate Transaction any loowtistanding Awarc
may be assumed or replaced by the successor ctgmnahich assumption or replacement shall be ibgan all Participants. In the alternative,
successor corporation may substitute equivalentrésvar provide substantially similar considerattorParticipants as was provided to stockhol
(after taking into account the existing provisiafsthe Awards). The successor corporation may asoe, in place of outstanding Shares of
Company held by the Participant, substantially lsimshares or other property subject to repurchesictions no less favorable to the Participan
the event such successor or acquiring corporatfany) refuses to assume, convert, replace ortsgutes Awards, as provided above, pursuant
Corporate Transaction, then notwithstanding angmopiovision in this Plan to the contrary, such Adgshall have their vesting accelerate as to
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all shares subject to such Award (and any applkcabht of repurchase fully lapse) immediately ptio the Corporate Transaction unless other
determined by the Board and then such Awards wilininate. In addition, in the event such successacquiring corporation (if any) refuses
assume, convert, replace or substitute Awards,radded above, pursuant to a Corporate Transactien Committee will notify the Participant
writing or electronically that such Award will bexexcisable for a period of time determined by them@hittee in its sole discretion, and such Av
will terminate upon the expiration of such peridavards need not be treated similarly in a Corpofasnsaction.

21.2 _Assumption of Awards by the Comparihe Company, from time to time, also may subiitur assume outstanding awe
granted by another company, whether in connectitim an acquisition of such other company or othsewby either; (a) granting an Award under
Plan in substitution of such other compangward; or (b) assuming such award as if it hah lgranted under this Plan if the terms of suchrasg
award could be applied to an Award granted undisr Ran. Such substitution or assumption will benpssible if the holder of the substitutec
assumed award would have been eligible to be gtaarieAward under this Plan if the other company daglied the rules of this Plan to such grar
the event the Company assumes an award grantebliyes company, the terms and conditions of sucaréwrill remain unchanged_(_excepat the
Purchase Price or the Exercise Price, as the cagebs) and the number and nature of Shares issupbleexercise or settlement of any such A
will be adjusted appropriately pursuant to Secti@d(a) of the Code). In the event the Company glecgrant a new Option in substitution rather
assuming an existing option, such new Option magrbated with a similarly adjusted Exercise Price.

21.3 _NorEmployee Directors Awards . Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary diey in the event of a Corpor.
Transaction, the vesting of all Awards granted tmEmployee Directors shall accelerate and such Awsindll become exercisable (as applicabl
full prior to the consummation of such event atrstimes and on such conditions as the Committesriahénes.

22. ADOPTION AND STOCKHOLDER APPROVAL . This Plan shall be submitted for the approvathef Companys stockholder
consistent with applicable laws, within twelve (X2pnths before or after the date this Plan is agtbpy the Board.

23. TERM OF PLAN/GOVERNING LAW . Unless earlier terminated as provided hereiss, Bt@n will become effective on the Effec
Date and will terminate ten (10) years from theedhts Plan is adopted by the Board. This Planainlwards granted hereunder shall be governe
and construed in accordance with the laws of thgeSQif Delaware.

24. AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF PLAN . The Board may at any time terminate or amendRlés in any respect, includit
without limitation, amendment of any form of Awa#direement or instrument to be executed pursuatitisdPlan;_provided however, that the Boar
will not, without the approval of the stockholdexsthe Company, amend this Plan in any mannerrdwires such stockholder approvatovidec
further, that a Participant’'s Award shall be governedh®yversion of this Plan then in effect at the tsuneh Award was granted.

25. NONEXCLUSIVITY OF THE PLAN . Neither the adoption of this Plan by the Boaha, submission of this Plan to the stockhol
of the Company for approval, nor any provision ik tPlan will be construed as creating any limitasi on the power of the Board to adopt
additional compensation arrangements as it may disinable, including, without limitation, the gteng of stock awards and bonuses otherwise
under this Plan, and such arrangements may be gignerally applicable or applicable only in spiecifases.

26. INSIDER TRADING POLICY . Each Participant who receives an Award shall dgmyith any policy adopted by the Company fi
time to time covering transactions in the Compasgsurities by Employees, officers and/or directirhe Company.

27. DEFINITIONS . As used in this Plan, and except as elsewhereetkfierein, the following terms will have the follioy meanings:
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“ Award” means any award under the Plan, including any @pRestricted Stock, Stock Bonus, Stock Appreaiaiight, Restricted Sto
Unit or award of Performance Shares.

“ Award Agreement means, with respect to each Award, the writtenl@cteonic agreement between the Company and theipant settin
forth the terms and conditions of the Award, whittall be in substantially a form (which need notheesame for each Participant) that the Comn
has from time to time approved, and will complywéind be subject to the terms and conditions efRtan.

“ Award Transfer Progran” means any program instituted by the Committee wiichld permit Participants the opportunity to tri@nsny
outstanding Awards to a financial institution oh@t person or entity approved by the Committee.

“ Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“ Cause” means (i) Participans’ willful failure substantially to perform his oehduties and responsibilities to the Company dibeeate
violation of a Company policy; (ii) Participastcommission of any act of fraud, embezzlemenhatissty or any other willful misconduct that
caused or is reasonably expected to result in iahtejury to the Company; (iii) unauthorized use disclosure by Participant of any propriet
information or trade secrets of the Company or eifner party to whom the Participant owes an olligadf nondisclosure as a result of his or
relationship with the Company; or (iv) Participanwillful breach of any of his or her obligationsder any written agreement or covenant witt
Company. The determination as to whether a Paatifs being terminated for Cause shall be madgaod faith by the Company and shall be 1
and binding on the Participant. The foregoing dgin does not in any way limit the Company’s apilto terminate a Participast'employment ¢
consulting relationship at any time as provide&éttion 20 above, and the term “Compaml be interpreted to include any Subsidiary ordt, a
appropriate.

“ Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Cod®&6, as amended, and the regulations promulghaégdunder.

“ Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Boardazetipersons to whom administration of the Plamaot of the Plan, h.
been delegated as permitted by law.

“ Common Stock means the Class A Common Stock of the Company.
“ Company’ means Facebook, Inc., or any successor corporatio

“ Consultant” means any person, including an advisor or indepartntractor, engaged by the Company or a PareBtibsidiary to rend
services to such entity.

“ Corporate Transactiori means the occurrence of any of the following @se(i) any “person” (as such term is used in $&&i13(d) and 14

(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the “beneficiahew (as defined in Rule 138l-of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, sécurities of th
Company representing fifty percent (50%) or moréhef total voting power represented by the Compattyeneutstanding voting securities; (ii) 1
consummation of the sale or disposition by the Camypof all or substantially all of the Compasyassets; (iii) the consummation of a mergs
consolidation of the Company with any other cortiora other than a merger or consolidation whichuldoresult in the voting securities of
Company outstanding immediately prior thereto aaritig to represent (either by remaining outstandiny being converted into voting securitie
the surviving entity or its parent) at least fiftercent (50%) of the total voting power represerifgdhe voting securities of the Company or ¢
surviving entity or its parent outstanding immesiptafter such merger or consolidation or (iv) aker transaction which qualifies as @fporat:
transaction’under Section 424(a) of the Code wherein the swidiens of the Company give up all of their equitterest in the Company (except
the acquisition, sale or transfer of all or subs#dly all of the outstanding shares of the Company

“ Director " means a member of the Board.
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“ Disability ” means in the case of incentive stock options, totdl permanent disability as defined in Sectiore®3] of the Code and in t
case of other Awards, that the Participant is umablengage in any substantial gainful activityrégson of any medically determinable physici
mental impairment that can be expected to resuleath or can be expected to last for a continpeudsd of not less than 12 months.

“ Effective Date” means the day immediately prior to the date @&f timderwritten initial public offering of the Compas Common Stoc
pursuant to a registration statement that is dedlaffective by the SEC.

“ Employee” means any person, including Officers and Directersployed by the Company or any Parent or Subgidiathe Compan'
Neither service as a Director nor payment of aatiin’s fee by the Company will be sufficient to constit “employment” by the Company.

“ Exchange Act’ means the United States Securities Exchange At®®84, as amended.

“ Exchange ProgranT” means a program pursuant to which outstanding Asvard surrendered, cancelled or exchanged for tasisam
type of Award or a different Award (or combinatitirereof).

“ Exercise Pric€’” means, with respect to an Option, the price at vhitholder may purchase the Shares issuable upanigx of an Optic
and with respect to a SAR, the price at which tAR $ granted to the holder thereof.

“ Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of a shareeo€ttmpany’s Common Stock determined as follows:

(@) if such Common Stock is publicly traded @ndhen listed on a national securities excharnye,ctosing price on tl
date of determination on the principal nationalsiies exchange on which the Common Stock isdisteadmitted to trading as officially quoted ire
composite tape of transactions on such exchangeabr other source as the Committee deems reliabtbd applicable date;

(b) if such Common Stock is publicly traded muteither listed nor admitted to trading on a @i securities exchan
the average of the closing bid and asked priceshendate of determination as reportedTime Wall Street Journabr such other source as
Committee deems reliable;

(c) inthe case of an Option or SAR grant mad¢he Effective Date, the price per share at wkitlres of the Comparsy’
Common Stock are initially offered for sale to fheblic by the Company’s underwriters in the inifaiblic offering of the Compang’Common Stoc
pursuant to a registration statement filed with$#C under the Securities Act; or

(d) if none of the foregoing is applicable, bg Board or the Committee in good faith.

“ Insider ” means an officer or director of the Company oy ather person whose transactions in the Comga@pmmon Stock are subjec
Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

“ Non-Employee Directof means a Director who is not an Employee of then@any or any Parent or Subsidiary.

“ Option” means an award of an option to purchase Shamssia@ot to Section 5.

“ Parent” means any corporation (other than the Companyhinrdoroken chain of corporations ending with thenPany if each of su
corporations other than the Company owns stockgsssgg fifty percent (50%) or more of the total tdmed voting power of all classes of stoc

one of the other corporations in such chain.

“ Participant” means a person who holds an Award under this.Plan
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“ Performance Award means cash or stock granted pursuant to Section $6ction 12 of the Plan.

“Performance Factors”"means any of the factors selected by the Comnmattelespecified in an Award Agreement, from amongfttiewing
objective measures, either individually, alterneltyvor in any combination, applied to the Compasyavhole or any business unit or Subsidiary, &
individually, alternatively, or in any combinatioon a GAAP or norGAAP basis, and measured, to the extent applicablan absolute basis
relative to a preestablished target, to determine whether the padace goals established by the Committee with cégpeapplicable Awards ha
been satisfied:

e (a) Profit Before Ta:

* (b) Billings;

* (c) Revenut

e (d) Netrevenu

. (e) Earnings (which may include earnings befoterest and taxes, earnings before taxes, andanghgs)
« () Operating incom

e (g) Operating margi

e« (h) Operating profi

e« (i) Controllable operating profit, or net operatiprofit;

e () NetProfit

e (k) Gross margil

« () Operating expenses or operating expensegpascantage of reveni
e (m) Netincome

 (n) Earnings per sha

 (0) Total stockholder retui

e (p) Marketshar

e (g) Returnon assets or net as:

e (n The Company stock price

e« (s) Growth in stockholder value relative tpra-determined inde:

e () Return on equit

e (u) Returnoninvested capi

e (v) Cash Flow (including free cash flow or opargtcash flows
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e (w) Cash conversion cyc

e (X) Economic value adde

* (y) Individual confidential business objecti\

* (2) Contract awards or backl

« (aa) Overhead or other expense reduc

e (bb) Credit ratinc

e (cc) Strategic plan development and implemen;

e (dd) Succession plan development and implement

e« (ee) Improvementin workforce divers

e« (ff) Customer indicator

e (9g) New product invention or innovatir

e« (hh) Attainment of research and development rufess

e (i) Improvements in productivit

() Bookings

* (kk) Attainment of objective operating goals amdployee metrics; al

e () Any other metric that is capable of measueetras determined by the Commit

The Committee may, in recognition of unusual or-necurring items such as acquisition-related at#isior changes in applicable accounting

rules, provide for one or more equitable adjustméiohsed on objective standards) to the Performact®rs to preserve the Committee’s original
intent regarding the Performance Factors at the tfrthe initial award grant. It is within the salescretion of the Committee to make or not make an
such equitable adjustments.

“ Performance Period’” means the period of service determined by the Cdtmeniduring which years of service or performaiscéo be
measured for the Award.

“ Performance Sharé means a performance share bonus granted as@marfce Award.

“ Permitted Transfered’ means any child, stepchild, grandchild, parentpeent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, gibfirece
nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-lavaudhter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sisterdizw (including adoptive relationships) of the Emyde
any person sharing the Employgdiousehold (other than a tenant or employeelsa itm which these persons (or the Employee) hawes rthan 50¢
of the beneficial interest, a foundation in whitlese persons (or the Employee) control the manageoh@ssets, and any other entity in which t
persons (or the Employee) own more than 50% oftiieg interests.

“ Plan” means this Facebook, Inc. 2012 Equity IncentilenP

“ Purchase Pric€’ means the price to be paid for Shares acquiredruhdePlan, other than Shares acquired upon exeofian Option ¢

SAR.
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“ Restricted Stock Awar8l means an award of Shares pursuant to Section 8atio8 12 of the Plan, or issued pursuant to thly exercist
of an Option.

“ Restricted Stock Unit means an Award granted pursuant to Section Seoti@ 12 of the Plan.

“ SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchaongen@ssion.

“ Securities Act’ means the United States Securities Act of 19833 raended.

“ Shares” means shares of the Company’s Common Stock andammon stock of any successor security.
“ Stock Appreciation Right means an Award granted pursuant to Section &oti& 12 of the Plan.

“ Stock Bonus’ means an Award granted pursuant to Section 7eoti&@ 12 of the Plan.

“ Subsidiary” means any corporation (other than the Compangninnbroken chain of corporations beginning withh Company if each of
the corporations other than the last corporatiothéhnunbroken chain owns stock possessing fiftggrr(50%) or more of the total combined vo
power of all classes of stock in one of the otlwporations in such chain.

“ Termination” or * Terminated” means, for purposes of this Plan with respectRaricipant, that the Participant has for any reasease
to provide services as an employee, officer, dingatonsultant, independent contractor or advieothe Company or a Parent or Subsidiary o
Company. An employee will not be deemed to haveexdo provide services in the case of (i) sickédedii) military leave, or (iii) any other leavé
absence approved by the Committee; providdtht such leave is for a period of not more tB@rdays, unless reemployment upon the expirati
such leave is guaranteed by contract or statutenless provided otherwise pursuant to formal po#idgppted from time to time by the Company
issued and promulgated to employees in writingthie case of any employee on an approved leave s#nak, the Committee may make ¢
provisions respecting suspension of vesting ofAtvard while on leave from the employ of the Company Parent or Subsidiary of the Compar
it may deem appropriate, except that in no eveny ara Award be exercised after the expiration of téven set forth in the applicable Awi
Agreement. In the event of military leave, if remai by applicable laws, vesting shall continuetfe longest period that vesting continues unde
other statutory or Company approved leave of atesand, upon a Participastteturning from military leave (under conditiohat would entitle hir
or her to protection upon such return under thefdgm Services Employment and Reemployment Right§, A or she shall be given vesting cr
with respect to Awards to the same extent as wbaid applied had the Participant continued to pieeervices to the Company throughout the |
on the same terms as he or she was providing seriritnediately prior to such leave. An employed| $t@ve terminated employment as of the da
or she ceases to be employed (regardless of whigthéermination is in breach of local laws oratet found to be invalid) and employment shall
be extended by any notice period or garden leavedatad by local law. The Committee will have solcrktion to determine whether a Particij
has ceased to provide services for purposes oPldre and the effective date on which the Partidigaased to provide services (th&érmination
Date”).

“ Unvested Share% means Shares that have not yet vested or are stbjaaight of repurchase in favor of the Compéoryany success
thereto).
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EXHIBIT 10.5

FACEBOOK, INC.
2012 BONUS /RETENTION PLAN

1. Effective Date and Term. This Bonus and Reterfiitan (“Plan”) shall be effective as of Januarg@12, and is effective for calendar year 2012 (the
“Eligibility Period”), unless otherwise amendedterminated by Facebook, Inc. (“Facebook” or therf@any”) in accordance with Section 6 of the
Plan. The Plan supersedes all prior bonus planspéxicose set forth in an individual arrangemenihan individual employee in which case this Plan
shall not apply. Any other such bonus plan is hgtebminated.

2. Administration. The Plan shall be administergdh® Compensation Committee of the Board of Doesc{the “Plan Administrator”), which shall
have the discretionary authority to interpret adthiister the Plan and to adopt rules and regulatio implement the Plan, as it deems necessary. In
addition, the Plan Administrator hereby delegatethé¢ Company's CFO and the VP of Human Resousce$ (ndividuals, the “Executive
Administrators” and together with the Plan Admirasor, the “Administrators”) the day-to-day implemt&tion and interpretation of the Plan, including
the approval of individual payouts under the Ptaemployees other than Facebook's executive mareagdeam, or “mteam.” Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the approval of the Plan Administratottee Company's Board of Directors shall be reqLioe the approval of the Plan itself and any
material amendments to the Plan; determinatioh@Qompany Performance Percentage (as defined befwler the Plan; approval of the aggregate
payout under the Plan; and approval of individualquts under the Plan to Facebook's “executiveef§i’ (as determined by the Board of Directors
for purposes of Section 16 under the Securitieh&mnge Act of 1934). Any action that requires thprapal of the Executive Administrators must be
jointly approved by both the Company's CFO andReof Human Resources, and any action that reqtheeapproval of the Executi

Administrators may instead also be approved byPlae Administrator or the Board of Directors. Thezidions of the Administrators are final and
binding.

3. Eligibility. Participation in the Plan is limitieto Full-Time regular and Part-Time regular Facdbemployees$For purposes of this plan, an
Employee includes only individuals that the Compamewats as an employee for employment tax purp&@asractors, interns, cop and other worke
(including any such individuals who are for anys@a later re-characterized as employees), areligdile. who are employed by Facebook on or
before December 31, 2012. Participation in the Rlaffective on the later of January 1, 2012 erdhy the participant commences as a Full-
Time/Part-Time regular employee of Facebook. Aipant may be considered ineligible for the Plaaray time and for any reason at the
Administrators' discretion regardless of whethephshe remains an employee of the Company. Agpaatit is not eligible for Plan benefits if the
participant resigns or is terminated for “Causehigh for purposes of the Plan means: any lawfud@aiany time before the bonus is paid pursuant to
Section 5 below. This Plan is intended to compenisatividuals for performance as well as encouegeloyee retention through and until the date
bonus is paid; retention is therefore a key compbo€&Plan eligibility.

4. Determination of Amounts. The Administrators miaytheir discretion, determine that any participaill be eligible for a semi-annual cash bonus
that is paid based on the following formula andrdééns.

The Executive Administrators have the sole and labesdliscretion to determine the level of achievetrad the amounts as described herein (pro
that any determinations in respect of Facebookscetive officers” shall be made by the Plan Adsitirgtor):

YFor purposes of this plan, an Employee includeg mlividuals that the Company treats as an emgdygeemployment tax purposes. Contractors,
interns, co-op and other workers (including anyhsinclividuals who are for any reason later re-cti@tized as employees), are not eligible.

NON-SALES INCENTIVE PLAN EMPLOYEES:

Base Eligible Earnings x Corporate Bonus Percemtdgdividual Performance Percentage x CompanydPaidnce Percentage.




SALES INCENTIVE PLAN EMPLOYEES:
Base Eligible Earnings x Corporate Bonus Percemtg@ompany Performance Percentage - 100%).
DEFINITIONS:

a) Base Eligible Earnings means the sum of all basges as determined by the Company (includingtiover retro pay, money paid during a leave of
absence by the Company, personal time off (PTQJ dseing the period and holiday pay as applicatiia) Facebook paid the participant during the
semi-annual Eligibility Period excluding bonusesck gains, commissions, relocation amounts, accbug unused PTO, expense reimbursements, or
benefits.

b) Corporate Bonus Percentage means the percesftagearticipant's Base Annual Wage as establiblyatie Executive Administrators for a
participant's position (provided that the CorpoB&gus Percentage for mteam members shall be isstathlby the Plan Administrator).

¢) Individual Performance Percentage is tied toptidormance assessments, as determined by thea@gmmpeasuring the amount of success a
participant has achieved against his or her Ind@idPerformance Objectives for the semi-annualgperénce period.

d) Company Performance Percentage means the amwiosuntcess the Company has achieved based on thpadg's priorities and other factors
deemed appropriate for the semi-annual performpaded in the sole discretion and judgment of trAdministrator.

5. Payment of Bonuses. Payment of each semi-awgashlbonus (if any) shall be made by no later 8gptember 15, 2012 for the first semi-annual
performance period of the year and March 15, 20t 3Hfe second semi-annual performance period of¢he. A participant must be employed by the
Company at the time the bonus payment is madedierdo receive such payment unless local law orithem agreement between the participant and
the Company provides otherwise or the Company teatas the participant without Cause (as definedealorior to the payment of the bonus. If the
Company terminates the participant without Cauge po the end of a semi-annual performance pesadh participant shall receive a bonus based or
the participant's Base Eligible Earnings for thequk

6. Modification or Termination of the Plan. The Quemny reserves the right to modify, suspend or teatei all or any portion of this Plan at any time,
provided that any material modification to the P&uall be approved by the Plan Administrator.

7. Benefits Unfunded. No amounts awarded or accomeleér this Plan will be funded, set aside or otfie segregated prior to payment. The oblig:
to pay the bonuses awarded hereunder will atra#dibe an unfunded and unsecured obligation dEtmepany. Plan participants will have the status
of general creditors and must look solely to theegal assets of the Company for the payment of baius awards.

8. Benefits Nontransferable. No Plan participarit mave the right to alienate, pledge or encumbieoh her interest in this Plan, and such intengtt
not (to the extent permitted by law) be subjecry way to the claims of the participant's creditor to attachment, execution or other procesawf |

9. No Employment Rights. No action of the Compangstablishing the Plan, no action taken undePtha by the Company or the Administrators
no provision of the Plan itself will be construedgrant any person the right to remain in the emplathe Company or its subsidiaries for any period
of specific duration. Rather, each employee is eged “at will,” which means that either the empleys the Company or its subsidiaries may
terminate the employment relationship at any time far any reason, with or without cause.

10. Governing Law. The Plan shall be governed by, iaterpreted, construed, and enforced in accaelaiith, the laws of the State of California
without regard to its or any other jurisdictiontmélicts of laws provisions. For purposes of angpdite that may arise directly or indirectly fronsth
Plan, the parties hereby submit and consent textbleisive jurisdiction of the State of Californiadaagree that any such litigation shall be condlicte
only in the courts of California or the federal dsuor the United States for the Northern Distdg€California and no other courts.

11. Severability. If any part or section of thisuRls declared invalid by any competent body, é@maining parts not affected by the decision shall
continue in effect.

12. Transfers/Job Changes. Subject to the disorefithe Administrators, a participant's bonuséasdd upon the participant's Base Eligible Earnings
when: (a) the participant transfers from employmeitih Facebook to a related company (i.e. a Fadekabsidiary); (b) the participant permanently
transfers from a Facebook U.S. location to a Faakelbon-U.S. location




(or vice versa); (c) the participant transfers framexempt to a non-exempt position; or (d) a pigdit is subject to an Individual Bonus Goal cteang
Employees who leave the Company and are re-hirddnathe same bonus eligibility period may be dligito receive a bonus award based solely on
the employee's Base Eligible Earnings received bfteng re-hired.

13. Code section 409A. Notwithstanding any provigif this Agreement to the contrary, all paymentadcordance with this Plan are intended to 1
the requirements for the “short-term deferral” eptaen to Section 409A of the Code, the partiesnidt® administer this Agreement in a manner that is
consistent with those requirements, and this Agesgrahall be construed and interpreted in accoeaiith such intent.



LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
FACEBOOK, INC.

Andale Acquisition Corporation (Delaware)
Edge Network Services Limited (Ireland)
Facebook Ireland Limited (Ireland)
Facebook Operations, LLC (Delaware)
Pinnacle Sweden AB (Sweden)

Vitesse, LLC (Delaware)
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERE D PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1815@élgming to the 2005 Officers’ Stock Plan,
2005 Stock Plan, and 2012 Equity Incentive PlaRaafebook, Inc. of our report dated February 1, 204tB respect to the consolidated financial
statements of Facebook, Inc., included in this AfiReport (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decemiie2812.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
San Francisco, California
February 1, 2013



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Zuckerberg, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkacebook, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorgny untrue statement of a material fact or dmstate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuntieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemearid, other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and cisls of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anérke responsible for establishing and maintainirggldsure controls and procedures (as defin
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreléstrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresaused such disclosure controls and procedares designed under our supervision, to et
that material information relating to the registraimcluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is maa®wn to us by others within those entit
particularly during the period in which this rep@teing prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttsimeport our conclusions about the effective
of the disclosure controls and procedures, aseoétid of the period covered by this report basesuch evaluation; and

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirigat occurred during the registrant's most receca
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartetha case of an annual report) that has materiéfiict@d, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer antave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiorternal control over financial reporting, tioe
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant's board of directors (or persons peiiftg the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are reasonably i
to adversely affect the registrant's ability toorel; process, summarize and report financial inédrom; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal control ¢
financial reporting.

Date: February 1, 2013

/sl MARK ZUCKERBERG

Mark Zuckerberg

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David A. Ebersman, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkacebook, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorgny untrue statement of a material fact or dmstate a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuntieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemearid, other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and cisls of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anérke responsible for establishing and maintainirggldsure controls and procedures (as defin
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreléstrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresaused such disclosure controls and procedares designed under our supervision, to et
that material information relating to the registraimcluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is maa®wn to us by others within those entit
particularly during the period in which this rep@teing prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttsimeport our conclusions about the effective
of the disclosure controls and procedures, aseoétid of the period covered by this report basesuch evaluation; and

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirigat occurred during the registrant's most receca
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartetha case of an annual report) that has materiéfiict@d, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial rejrogt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer antave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiorternal control over financial reporting, tioe
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant's board of directors (or persons peiiftg the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are reasonably i
to adversely affect the registrant's ability toorel; process, summarize and report financial inédrom; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant's internal control ¢
financial reporting.

Date: February 1, 2013

/s/ DAVID A. EBERSMAN
David A. Ebersman

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Zuckerberg, Chairman and Chief Executivdie@f of Facebook, Inc. (Company), do hereby cegrifursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135C
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@ydt of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company tfte year ended December 31, 2qR&port) fully complies with the requirements
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; and

the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodiand results of operations of the Comg
for the periods presented therein.

Date: February 1, 2013

/sl MARK ZUCKERBERG

Mark Zuckerberg

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David A. Ebersman, Chief Financial Officer ofdedook, Inc. (Company), do hereby certify, pursuarit8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pur:
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002t to the best of my knowledge:

the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company tfte year ended December 31, 2qR&port) fully complies with the requirements
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; and

the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodiand results of operations of the Comg
for the periods presented therein.

Date: February 1, 2013

/sl DAVID A. EBERSMAN
David A. Ebersman

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




